GENERALIZED BRAUER DIMENSION OF SEMI-GLOBAL FIELDS

by SAURABH GOSAVI

A dissertation submitted to the
School of Graduate Studies
Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey
In partial fulfillment of the requirements
For the degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Graduate Program in Department of Mathematics
Written under the direction of
Daniel Krashen
and approved by

New Brunswick, New Jersey October, 2020

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Generalized Brauer Dimension Of Semi-global Fields

By Saurabh Gosavi Dissertation Director: Daniel Krashen

Let F be a one variable function field over a complete discretely valued field with residue field k. Let n be a positive integer, coprime to the characteristic of k. Given a finite subgroup B in the n-torsion part of the Brauer group ${}_{n}\operatorname{Br}(F)$, we define the index of B to be the minimum of the degrees of field extensions which split all elements in B. In this thesis, we improve an upper bound for the index of B, given by Parimala-Suresh, in terms of arithmetic invariants of k and k(t). As a simple application of our result, given a quadratic form q/F, where F is a function field in one variable over an m-local field, we provide an upper-bound to the minimum of degrees of field extensions L/F so that the Witt index of $q \otimes L$ becomes the largest possible.

Acknowledgements

I consider myself fortunate to have met a number of people without whom this thesis would not have been possible. I am filled with a profound sense of gratitude towards my thesis advisor Prof. Daniel Krashen. His influence on me goes way beyond mathematics. I thank my committee members: Prof. Weibel, Prof. Carbone and Prof. Harbater. Prof. Weibel and Prof. Carbone pointed out numerous errors and suggestions which greatly improved the quality of the exposition. I would also like to thank Prof. Harbater for giving me the opportunity to give a talk in the Galois seminar at UPenn.

I am thankful to my high school teacher Ms. Sarla Narendran for instilling in me an interest in mathematics in the formative years of my education. I have learnt a lot from my teachers at IISER Bhopal, especially Prof. P. K. Sharma, Prof. Krishna Kaipa and Prof. Anandteertha Mangasuli. I am particularly indebted to Prof. Sharma for teaching us commutative algebra, and for developing our taste in the kind of mathematics which I ended up doing.

My teachers at the University of Georgia: Prof. Dino Lorenzini, Prof. Pete Clark, Prof. Valery Alexeev and Prof. Angela Gibney made courses like Arithmetic Geometry, Elliptic Curves and Algebraic Geometry accessible to an ignorant first year student. It would have taken me a lot longer to learn whatever Algebraic Geometry I know if it were not for their wonderful courses.

I have also learnt a lot from stimulating conversations with fellow graduate students both at UGA and Rutgers, especially Kübra Benli, Yael Davidov, Alex Karlovitz, Tamar Lichter, Daniel Mckenzie, Forrest Thurman, Weihong Xu, Jun Zhang and Luochen Zhao.

My family has been a source of strength during difficult times. I consider myself incredibly lucky to have Aai, Papa, Dada, Snigdha and Devavrat in my life. I want to

thank them just for being there! My grandparents passed away while I was in graduate school. They would have been proud. This thesis is dedicated to their memory.

Dedication

To the loving memory of my grandparents: Ajji, Ajoba, Mai, Baba.

Table of Contents

Abstract ii				
1.	Intr	oduction	1	
	1.1.	Two Motivating Problems	1	
	1.2.	Generalized Brauer Dimension	2	
	1.3.	Semi-global Fields	4	
	1.4.	Main Result	4	
	1.5.	Open Problems And Future Directions	6	
2.	Pre	liminaries	7	
	2.1.	Central Simple Algebras	7	
		2.1.1. Brauer Group)	
	2.2.	Galois Descent	2	
	2.3.	Galois Cohomology	1	
		2.3.1. A quick introduction to group cohomology	ó	
		2.3.2. Brauer group and H^2	1	
		2.3.3. Nonabelian Galois cohomology	ó	
	2.4.	Brauer Dimension)	
		2.4.1. Period-Index problem)	
		2.4.2. C_i property and cohomological dimension	3	
		2.4.3. Witt exact sequence	7	
		2.4.4. Brauer dimension of global fields	1	
	2.5.	Some Quadratic Form Theory)	

3.	Fiel	d Patching	57		
	3.1.	Patches	58		
	3.2.	Simultaneous Factorization	66		
	3.3.	Local Global Principles With Respect To Patches	72		
4.	Two	• Applications of Patching	79		
	4.1.	General Strategy	79		
	4.2.	Brauer Dimension Of Semi-global Fields	81		
	4.3.	Local Global Principle For Quadratic Forms	88		
5.	Gen	neralized Brauer Dimension	93		
	5.1.	Introduction	93		
	5.2.	Splitting Ramification	98		
	5.3.	Generalized Brauer Dimension Of Semi-global Fields	105		
	5.4.	Splitting Index Of Quadratic Forms	111		
Deferences					

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Two Motivating Problems

The question how arithmetic properties of a field transmit to its finitely generated field extensions has been explored throughout the years. Let F be a field. The u-invariant of F is the smallest natural number u(F) such that all degree two homogenous polynomials with coefficients in F, and number of variables greater than u(F), have a non-trivial solution. The u-invariant is an example of an arithmetic invariant. A natural question arises: how does the u-invariant behave under finitely generated field extensions of F? If u(F) is finite, then can we say that u(F(t)) is finite? These questions are yet to be answered. Even for nicer fields, say when F is a totally imaginary number field, it is not known if u(F(t)) is finite.

The finiteness of the u-invariant is related to the finiteness of other arithmetic invariants of F, coming from the Brauer group. The Brauer group of F can be thought of as the group of Brauer equivalence classes of finite dimensional central simple algebras over F (see Definition 2.1.13) under the operation of tensor product. The identity element of this group is the class of the field F. Given a division algebra D/F, we can associate two numbers to it, namely the period of D, which is simply its order in the Brauer group, and the index of D which is the minimum degree of the field extension that makes D trivial in the Brauer group of that extension. Alternatively the index can also be defined as the square root of the dimension of the division algebra. For example, consider the Hamilton quaternion algebra (-1,-1) over \mathbb{R} . One can show that the tensor product $(-1,-1) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} (-1,-1)$ is Brauer equivalent to the class of the identity element in the Brauer group, i.e., \mathbb{R} . This shows that the period of (-1,-1) is two. Since there are

no nontrivial division algebras over an algebraically closed field, $(-1,-1) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ is trivial in the Brauer group of \mathbb{C} . Thus its index is also two.

It turns out that the period divides the index and they share the same prime factors. As a measure of how complicated can the division algebras be, one asks the following question: given any division algebra D over F of a fixed period ℓ , can we uniformly bound its index in terms of ℓ ? It is not difficult to construct fields where there can be no such uniform bound. However, for nice fields such as finitely generated fields over number fields, finite fields, local fields or algebraically closed fields, there is a folklore conjecture that there is such a uniform bound. This problem is known as the period-index problem. The uniform bound has been referred to as the Brauer ℓ -dimension in recent times. The question of finiteness of the Brauer ℓ -dimension for function fields in one variable over number fields remains open. Finiteness of the Brauer 2-dimension in the case of function fields in one variable over totally imaginary number fields, will imply that their u-invariant is also finite, in view of a recent result of Suresh (see [Su]).

1.2 Generalized Brauer Dimension

In addition to the u-invariant and the Brauer dimension, we have another measure of complexity of the arithmetic of the field. Given any finite collection of division algebras $\{D_1, \dots, D_n\}$ over F of a fixed period ℓ , can we uniformly bound the degree of field extensions L/F such that $D_i \otimes_F L$ is trivial in the Brauer group of L, for every $i = 1, \dots, n$? Again, it is reasonable to ask a similar question only over the nice fields mentioned in the previous paragraph. The existence of such a uniform bound means that division algebras cannot be too "independent". We will briefly expand on this heuristic: it is not too hard to show that there is a uniform bound on the degree of the field extension that kills a finite collection of square classes if and only if the group of square classes is finite. While a uniform bound for division algebras of period two does not mean that the number of division algebras is finite, it does impose some constraints on division algebras of a given period. For example, one can show that there exist central simple algebras, Brauer equivalent to those division algebras, and containing a Galois field extension, with a

uniform bound on the cardinality of the Galois group. The smallest uniform bound on the degree of field extensions that split any finite collection of Brauer classes of period dividing ℓ is called the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension (see 5.1.1 for a formal definition). The Generalized Brauer \ell-dimension was first introduced before by Parimala and Suresh in [Pa-Su3], where they refer to it as "uniform $(2,\ell)$ bound". We prefer the terminology "Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension" due to its similarity with the Brauer ℓ -dimension. We will denote the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension of a field F by $\mathrm{GBrd}_{\ell}(F)$. One knows the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension only for "lower dimensional" fields such as global fields and local fields, and for function fields of curves over local fields. Even the finiteness of the Generalized Brauer \ell-dimension is not known for function fields of higher dimensional varieties over local fields, finite fields and algebraically closed fields. The finiteness of Generalized Brauer \ell-dimension provides some handle on the complexity of Galois cohomology classes in degree three and higher, which is otherwise difficult to understand. Combined with the norm residue theorem (see [Hmr-Wei, Pg1, Theorem A) and a theorem of Krashen [Kra] (and independently, Saltman), there is a uniform bound on the number of symbols required to express a Galois cohomology class with μ_{ℓ} coefficients, provided the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension is finite. This uniform bound will be called the mod- ℓ symbol length. The case when $\ell=2$ is particularly interesting, since the finiteness of mod-2 symbol length, implies that the u-invariant is also finite (see Theorem 5.4.16). In general, the higher Galois cohomology classes with μ_{ℓ} coefficients (with appropriate twisting) are often invariants of principal homogenous spaces under linear algebraic groups, which themselves are in natural bijection with finite dimensional algebraic structures. In particular, the degree three classes are invariants of principal homogenous spaces under simply connected linear algebraic groups. Therefore, we speculate that the finiteness of the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension will give some information about the arithmetic complexity of principal homogenous spaces, just as it does for quadratic forms by informing us that the u-invariant is finite.

1.3 Semi-global Fields

As mentioned before, just as the u-invariant and Brauer ℓ -dimension, the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension is not known for many fields of arithmetic and geometric interest. The field patching technique introduced by Harbater and Hartmann in [HH], and later developed further by Harbater, Hartmann and Krashen in a series of papers ([HHK09], [HHK15(1)], [HHK15]), offers a systematic way to deal with such arithmetic problems over certain kinds of fields. These fields are function fields in one variable over complete discretely valued fields. They are being called semi-global fields in recent times. Good examples to keep in mind are k((t))(x) in the equicharacteristic case and $\mathbb{Q}_p(t)$ in the mixed characteristic case. Harbater, Hartmann and Krashen in [HHK09] compute the u-invariant and the Brauer ℓ -dimension for semi-global fields in terms of fields of lower arithmetic complexity.

In the increasing direction of arithmetic complexity, semi-global fields serve as intermediate cases: we cannot address the arithmetic questions above, say for fields of the form k(t,x) yet, where k is a nice field, but we can for fields of the form k(t,x), and the hope is that this will be helpful in dealing with these problems over k(t,x).

1.4 Main Result

In this thesis, we provide an upper-bound for the Generalized Brauer ℓ-dimension of semi-global fields in terms of that of fields of lower arithmetic complexity. The first upper-bound in this case was provided by Parimala and Suresh in [Pa-Su3] (see also Theorem 5.1.5):

Theorem (Parimala-Suresh). Let F be a semi-global field with residue field k such that $char(k) \neq \ell$. We have the following upper bound for the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension.

$$\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(F) \leq \ell^3 \cdot [\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k(t))]! \cdot [\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k)]!.$$

The authors in [Pa-Su3] are interested in providing an upper bound in the bad, mixed characteristic case, i.e., when char(F) = 0 and $char(k) = \ell$. Their upper bound in

this situation is much better than the above bound. This suggests that in the good characteristic case, the above bound is not optimal.

We manage to cut the above bound and obtain the following:

Theorem. Let F be a semi-global field with residue field k. Let ℓ be a prime not equal to char(k).

1. We have the following upper bound for the Generalized Brauer 2-dimension:

$$\operatorname{GBrd}_2(F) \le 2^3 \cdot \operatorname{GBrd}_2(k(t)) \cdot \operatorname{GBrd}_2(k).$$

2. If $\ell \neq 2$, we obtain

$$\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(F) \leq \ell^2 \cdot \operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k(t)) \cdot \operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k).$$

This allows us to give an upper bound for the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension for function fields in one variables over m-local fields. We use this to give a non-trivial answer to a question concerning the so called "splitting index" of quadratic forms raised in the conference on "Deformation theory and Brauer groups" in 2011 ([AimPL]). Our techniques can also be used to obtain a statement similar to Theorem 5.3.3 for finiteness of mod- ℓ symbol length of semi-global fields.

Our strategy is to use the recipe of Saltman used in [Salt], to first "clear out" the bad locus of a given collection of Brauer classes on a two dimensional model of the semi-global field by making a field extension of an appropriate degree. After clearing out this bad locus, we can locally specialize these Brauer classes on the special fiber of a regular model. Note that the function fields of the curves in the special fiber are fields of lower arithmetic complexity. We can split these specialized Brauer classes by making another extension, generically on the special fiber. This means that there are only finitely many closed points on the special fiber where the Brauer classes are non-zero. The most technical part is then to split them on the remaining closed points in a controlled manner. Finally, field patching, which provides us with a local-global principle with respect to over-fields coming from closed points and open sets of the

special fiber, enables us to conclude that all the Brauer classes are killed by this field extension.

1.5 Open Problems And Future Directions

- 1. As we noted above, Parimala-Suresh in [Pa-Su3] obtain a much better bound for $\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(F)$ for a semi-global field F in the mixed characteristic case. This indicates that one can improve the upper bound in the Main Theorem further. One approach to improve the bound can be getting rid of the factor $\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k)$ or replacing it with a smaller factor, possibly at the cost of increasing the first factor ℓ^2 .
- 2. A uniform bound for the splitting dimension of a field F also provides a uniform bound for the index of maximal orthogonal Grassmannians of quadratic forms. Another related question arises: is there a small enough, uniform bound for the indices of other orthogonal Grassmannians of quadratic forms? It looks like such a uniform bound can be provided. One can also obtain upper bounds for the indices of Galois Cohomology classes which are a lot smaller than the one in the Main Theorem. This can be potentially used to obtain better bounds for splitting indices of quadratic forms which lie in a larger power of the fundamental ideal.
- 3. In another direction, we prove in Theorem 5.4.16 (see Chapter 5) that if a field F has finite 2-cohomological dimension and if $GBrd_2(F)$ is finite, then u(L) is finite for every finite degree field extension L/F. Parimala-Suresh raise the question if the converse of this Theorem is true, and also remark that it is plausible that it is not true. Another related question is that if the Brauer 2-dimension of F is finite, is it true that the Generalized Brauer 2-dimension is finite?

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

2.1 Central Simple Algebras

Definition 2.1.1. An F-algebra A is called a *central simple algebra* (c.s.a) over F if A is a finite dimensional F-vector space, the only two sided ideals of A are (0) and A, and the center of A is F.

Example 2.1.2. 1. $A = M_n(F)$ is a central simple algebra over F. We will call such central simple algebras split.

- 2. If D is a division algebra over F with center F, then D is a central simple algebra over F. So is $M_n(D)$ for $n \ge 1$. As we will see in Theorem 2.1.5, these are all the examples of central simple algebras.
- 3. When $F = \mathbb{R}$ and Q is the \mathbb{R} -algebra with basis $\{1, i, j, ij\}$ given by the relations:

$$i^2 = -1, j^2 = -1, ij = -ji,$$

one can check that Q is a central simple algebra over \mathbb{R} .

4. Let a, b be elements in F^{\times} . The F-algebra with basis $\{i, i, j, ij\}$ and given by the relations:

$$i^2 = a, j^2 = b, ij = -ji,$$

is a central simple algebra over F. This algebra goes by the name generalized quaternion algebra and will be denoted by $(a,b)_2$.

5. Let L/F be a cyclic Galois extension of degree n. Let σ be a generator of its Galois group. Let b be an element of F^{\times} . Consider the F-algebra which, as an L-vector

space is given by the following equality and subject to the following relations:

$$A = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{n-1} Lu^{i}; \qquad u^{n} = b, \qquad uxu^{-1} = \sigma(x) \ \forall \ x \in L.$$

For the isomorphism $\chi: \operatorname{Gal}(L|F) \longrightarrow \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$ where $\sigma \mapsto 1$, A is also denoted by (χ, b) . Such algebras are called cyclic algebras.

If $L = F(\sqrt[n]{a})$ for some a in F (This happens always when F contains n^{th} roots of unity), then A is also denoted by $(a,b)_n$

Cyclic algebras form an important class of central simple algebras. A deep theorem of Merkurjev and Suslin says that up to a certain equivalence, every central simple algebra over F can be expressed as tensor products of cyclic algebras, provided F contains enough roots of unity. The definition of cyclic algebras seems somewhat ad hoc but it turns out that whenever a central simple algebra A contains a cyclic Galois extension as a maximal subfield, it is isomorphic to a cyclic algebra. One naturally obtains such a description of A in the course of proving this fact, using the Skolem-Noether theorem (see Theorem 2.1.8)

Proposition 2.1.3. If A is a central simple algebras over F and B is a simple algebra over F, then

1. $A \otimes_F B$ is also a simple algebra.

2.
$$Z(A \otimes_F B) = Z(A) \otimes_F Z(B)$$

Proof. See [Pierce, 12.4, Lemma b, c].

Therefore, as a corollary:

Corollary 2.1.4. If A and B are central simple algebras over F and K/F is a field extension, then

- 1. $A \otimes_F B$ is central simple algebras over F.
- 2. $K \otimes_F A$ is a central simple algebra over K.

Theorem 2.1.5. The following statements are equivalent:

- 1. A is a c.s.a over F.
- 2. There exists a uniquely determined division algebra D with center F and some $k \ge 1$ such that $A \cong M_k(D)$.
- 3. There exists a finite separable field extension L/F such that $A \otimes_F L \cong M_n(L)$.
- 4. The F-algebra map $\rho: A \otimes A^{op} \longrightarrow End_F(A)$ given by $\rho(a \otimes b)(x) = axb$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. (1) \iff (2) is the Artin-Wedderburn theorem. See [Pierce, Theorem 3.5] for a proof. For (1) \iff (3), see [Pierce, Lemma 13.5]. (1) \iff (4) follows from Corollary 2.1.4.

Remark 2.1.6. By Theorem 2.1.5, dimension of a c.s.a as an F vector space is a square. We define the degree of A, denoted by $\deg(A)$, to be $\sqrt{\dim_F(A)}$.

The characterization (3) of central simple algebras given in Theorem 2.1.5 is central to this thesis.

Definition 2.1.7. Let A/F be a central simple algebra. We say that L/F splits A if $A \otimes_F L \cong M_n(L)$ for some n.

There is another important theorem named after Skolem and Noether, that we will need later. We will state it here and use it in the next two sections.

Theorem 2.1.8 (Skolem-Noether). Let A/F be a central simple algebra and $B \subseteq A$ be a simple subalgebra of A. If $\sigma: B \hookrightarrow A$ is any F algebra embedding, then there exists a unit u in A^{\times} such that $\sigma(b) = ubu^{-1}$ for every b in B.

Proof. See [Pierce, Section 12.6] \Box

Remark 2.1.9. The Skolem-Noether theorem says that every automorphism of a central simple algebra is inner. In particular, $\operatorname{Aut}_F(M_n(F)) \cong PGL_n(F)$.

We will state a few facts about maximal subfields in central simple algebras. The driving force behind the proofs of these facts is the important Double Centralizer theorem.

Theorem 2.1.12 will be useful in relating the Brauer group with the second Galois cohomology group.

Definition 2.1.10. Let A/F be a central simple algebra. A subalgebra $E \subset F$ which is also a field is called *strictly maximal* if $[E:F] = \deg(A)$

Proposition 2.1.11. Let D/F be a division algebra. The following statements are equivalent:

- 1. $E \subset D$ is a maximal subfield.
- 2. The centralizer of E in D, $C_D(E)$, equals E.
- 3. $[E:F] = \deg(D)$

Theorem 2.1.12. Let A/F be a central simple algebra. Let K/F be a Galois extension such that K splits A. Then there exists a central simple algebra B Brauer equivalent to A (see Definition 2.1.13), and an embedding of F subalgebras $K \hookrightarrow B$ such that K is a strictly maximal subfield in B.

Proof. See [Pierce, Theorem
$$13.3$$
]

2.1.1 Brauer Group

The Brauer group is an extremely important algebraic object which makes its presence felt in a wide variety of places, from class field theory in number theory to obstruction problems for the existence of fine moduli spaces for moduli problems concerning vector bundles. Recall that the Artin-Wedderburn Theorem tells us that it is sufficient to study division algebras in order to study central simple algebras. We will denote the underlying division algebra of a central simple algebra A by D_A . We put the following, seemingly naïve, equivalence relation on the set of isomorphism classes of central simple algebras over F:

$$A \sim B \iff D_A \cong D_B$$
.

This equivalence relation is called *Brauer equivalence*. Traditionally, it is defined as the following:

Definition 2.1.13. Let A and B be central simple algebras over F. We say that A and B are Brauer equivalent if:

$$A \sim B \iff M_m(A) \cong M_k(B)$$

for some integers $m, k \ge 1$.

Remark 2.1.14. 1. Note that F is Brauer equivalent to $M_n(F)$.

2. By the Artin-Wedderburn Theorem, one can see that the two equivalence relations defined above coincide.

Notice that by the Artin-Wedderburn Theorem, this equivalence relation is compatible with tensor products, i.e., if $A_1 \sim B_1$ and $A_2 \sim B_2$, then $A_1 \otimes_F B_1 \sim A_2 \otimes_F B_2$. Further, by Theorem 2.1.5, $A \otimes_F A^{op} \sim F$.

Together with the associative property of tensor products, this shows that the operation of tensor product equips a well-defined Abelian group structure on the set of isomorphism classes of central simple algebras over F. This group is called the *Brauer group* of F and is denoted by Br(F).

Since central simple algebras are split by a finite separable field extension (see 2.1.5), there are no nontrivial central simple algebras over a separably closed field, i.e., Br(F) = 0 when F is separably closed. Of course, we hope to compute Brauer groups of some nontrivial fields. In the decreasing direction of triviality, as a first step, let us compute $Br(\mathbb{R})$.

Example 2.1.15. Br(\mathbb{R}) = $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$

Let D/\mathbb{R} be a central division algebra. Let L be a maximal subfield in D. Note that either $L = \mathbb{R}$ or $L = \mathbb{C}$. By proposition 2.1.11, $[L : \mathbb{R}] = \sqrt{[D : \mathbb{R}]}$. Therefore, either

 $D = \mathbb{R}$ or $[D : \mathbb{R}] = 4$. We will show below that up to isomorphism, there is a unique division algebra with $[D : \mathbb{R}] = 4$, namely the quaternions.

Let us fix a maximal subfield L and make the identification: $L = \mathbb{C}$ since $[L : \mathbb{R}] = 2$. Let σ be the element in $Gal(\mathbb{C}|\mathbb{R})$ acting by conjugation. By Theorem 2.1.8, there exists j in D^{\times} such that $j(a+bi)j^{-1} = a-bi$ and therefore $jij^{-1} = -i$. Since conjugation is an element of order two, j^2 commutes with all the elements in \mathbb{C} , i.e., j^2 lies in the centralizer $C_D(\mathbb{C})$. Since \mathbb{C} is a maximal subfield, $C_D(\mathbb{C}) = \mathbb{C}$. Thus, j^2 lies in \mathbb{C} . Now observe that $Gal(\mathbb{C}|\mathbb{R})$ fixes j^2 since it is fixed by conjugation by j. So in fact, j^2 lies in \mathbb{R} . Because D is a division algebra j^2 cannot be positive, otherwise D would have zero divisors. Therefore, j^2 is negative. Normalizing j, we may assume that $j^2 = -1$.

Thus, we have found two elements i and j inside D satisfying $i^2 = -1$, $j^2 = -1$ and ij = -ji. Now we only need to show that $\{1, i, j, ij\}$ forms a basis for D. We just need to check that this set is linearly independent. If we have the following linear relation a + bi + cj + dij = 0, multiplying it by a - bi - cj - dij, we get that $a^2 + b^2 + c^2 + d^2 = 0$ for a, b, c, d in \mathbb{R} , and therefore a = b = c = d = 0. Thus, D is isomorphic to the quaternions \mathbb{H} .

Let α be the class of \mathbb{H} in $Br(\mathbb{R})$. Since, every non-trivial division algebra is isomorphic to \mathbb{H} , $2\alpha = 0$. Therefore, $Br(\mathbb{R}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$.

Note that the proof above can be easily generalized to show that any degree two central simple algebra over a field of characteristic not equal to two is isomorphic to a generalized quaternion algebra. We therefore obtain the following proposition:

Proposition 2.1.16. Let F be a field with $char(F) \neq 2$. Let A/F be a central simple algebra of degree two. Then there exist elements a, b in A^{\times} such that $A \cong (a, b)$

2.2 Galois Descent

Note that if K/F is a Galois extension of fields, we have that, $K^{Gal(K|F)} = F$. Thus, the "algebraic structure" K/F descends to the algebraic structure F viewed as an algebraic structure over itself. This naturally leads us to ask the question:

If V is an algebraic structure over K, when does it "descend" to an algebraic structure over F? We need to make a couple of things precise here. First, what do we mean by an algebraic structure? And what does it mean for it to descend? While we would like to think that all "arithmetic information" in an algebraic structure should descend to the ground field under the action of a Galois group, it does not happen. And we are thankful for that, since such phenomena gives rise to interesting structures such as central simple algebras.

Let (V, Φ) be a finite dimensional vector space over F equipped with a tensor Φ of type (m, n), i.e., Φ is some element in $V^{\otimes m} \otimes (V^*)^{\otimes n}$, possibly satisfying some more properties. For our purpose, we will take this to mean an algebraic structure, as it covers many of the examples of algebraic structures we have in mind. For example, if (V, q) is a quadratic form, we may think of q as a tensor of type (0, 2). If A is a central simple algebra with multiplication map m, (A, m) can be thought of as a tensor of type (1, 2) satisfying some more properties.

Theorem 2.1.5 says that every degree n central simple algebra becomes isomorphic to $M_n(F)$ when one extends scalars to F^{sep} . Or, in other words, $M_n(F^{\text{sep}})$ descends to A. Regular quadratic forms of dimension n become isometric to the n dimensional form $\langle 1, \dots, 1 \rangle$ when one extends scalars to F^{sep} . Many such algebraic structures become isomorphic to a distinguished algebraic structure when one passes to F^{sep} .

Definition 2.2.1. Let (V, Φ) be a finite dimensional vector space equipped with a tensor Φ over F. We say that a tensor (W, Ψ) over F is a twisted form of (V, Φ) if there exists an isomorphism $f: (V, \Phi) \otimes F^{\text{sep}} \longrightarrow (W, \Psi) \otimes F^{\text{sep}}$.

Thus, degree n central simple algebras are twisted forms of $M_n(F)$.

The main theorem of Galois descent helps us in classifying twisted forms of a distinguished algebraic structure. We state it below and classify twisted forms of a tensor in terms of non-Abelian Galois cohomology in the next section. We refer the reader to [JJ] for the proof.

Theorem 2.2.2. 1. Let (V, Φ) be a vector space with a tensor defined over F^{sep} .

Suppose that for every σ in $Gal(F^{sep}|F)$, we have maps $T_{\sigma}: (V, \Phi) \longrightarrow (V, \Phi)$ which are σ -linear map (i.e., $T_{\sigma}(\lambda v) = \sigma(\lambda)v$ for every λ in F^{sep}). Then there exists a tensor of the same type (W, Ψ) over F such that there exists an isomorphism:

$$\phi: (W, \Psi) \otimes F^{\text{sep}} \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} (V, \Phi).$$

2. Suppose that (V_1, Φ_1) and (V_2, Φ_2) are tensors over F^{sep} and $\overline{\theta}$, a homomorphism $\overline{\theta}: (V_1, \Phi_1) \longrightarrow (V_2, \Phi_2)$ such that the following diagram commutes

$$(V_1, \Phi_1) \xrightarrow{\overline{\theta}} (V_2, \Phi_2)$$

$$\downarrow^{T_{\sigma}} \qquad \downarrow^{T_{\sigma}}$$

$$(V_1, \Phi_1) \xrightarrow{\overline{\theta}} (V_2, \Phi_2).$$

Then there exist tensors (W_1, Ψ_1) and (W_2, Ψ_2) which are forms of (V_1, Φ_1) and (V_2, Φ_2) respectively and a homomorphism $\theta : (W_1, \Phi_1) \longrightarrow (W_2, \Phi_2)$ such that $\theta \otimes F^{\text{sep}} = \overline{\theta}$.

Proof. See
$$[JJ, Theorem 2.2]$$

2.3 Galois Cohomology

One thinks of central simple algebras as those algebraic structures over F which "come from" matrix algebras over F^{sep} . Theorem 2.1.5 demolishes the naïve belief that only $M_n(F)$ gives rise to $M_n(F^{\text{sep}})$. If one takes the elements in $M_n(F^{\text{sep}})$ that are fixed under the action of $Gal(F^{\text{sep}}|F)$, depending upon how we act the Galois group, we would not only get $M_n(F)$. Thus the Brauer group can be thought of as the group of "things" which come from matrices over F^{sep} . Cohomology in algebra encodes the information lost when an algebraic structure goes through some process. In our context, if this process is taking Galois invariants, then (with some hindsight) we are led to conclude that there should be some relationship between Cohomology arising from taking Galois invariants, and the Brauer group. We will follow the treatment in [G-S, Chapter 3] in this section.

2.3.1 A quick introduction to group cohomology

Let G be a finite group and M be a G module. We define the G invariants of M as

$$M^G \coloneqq \{ m \in M \mid gm = m \ \forall g \in G \}.$$

Observe that the functor $(-)^G$ which takes G invariants of objects in the Abelian category of G modules is not right exact. A simple example comes from Galois theory. Consider the exact sequence of $Gal(\mathbb{C}|\mathbb{R})$ modules:

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times} \xrightarrow{\times 2} \mathbb{C}^{\times} \to 0.$$

If one takes $Gal(\mathbb{C}|\mathbb{R})$ invariants, one sees that the right-most map is not surjective since negative numbers cannot be squares.

Observe that $M^G \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}, M)$ for every G module M, and the trivial $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ module \mathbb{Z} . One can further show that the following functors are isomorphic: $(-)^G \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}, -)$. The defect of right exactness is captured by the right derived functors.

Thus we are led to the following definition:

We define the group cohomology of G with coefficients in M as:

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}(G,M) \coloneqq \mathrm{Ext}^{i}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z},M).$$

Thus, in order to compute this group, one would take a projective resolution of the trivial G module \mathbb{Z} , apply the functor (__) and take cohomology of this new cochain complex. There is a "computational friendly" free resolution of \mathbb{Z} as a $\mathbb{Z}[G]$ module. This resolution is called the bar resolution.

Let F_j be the free abelian group on the set G^j , for j > 0, let $F_0 = \mathbb{Z}[G]$, and $F_{-1} := \mathbb{Z}$, where \mathbb{Z} is given the trivial action of G. Thus to give a map from F_j to any G module M for j > 0, amounts to giving a set map $G^j \to M$. Consider the free resolution:

$$\cdots \to F^j \xrightarrow{d_j} F_{j-1} \xrightarrow{d_{j-1}} F_{j-2} \to \cdots \to \mathbb{Z}[G] \xrightarrow{\epsilon} \mathbb{Z} \to 0$$

Here d_j is the map defined on the basis of F_j as:

$$d_j(g_1, \dots, g_j) = g_1(g_2, \dots, g_j) + \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} (-1)^i (g_1, \dots, g_i g_{i+1}, \dots g_j) + (-1)^j (g_1, \dots, g_{j-1})$$

and ϵ is the augmentation map sending every g in G to 1 in \mathbb{Z} .

It will be useful to explicitly see what elements in $H^1(G, M)$ and $H^2(G, M)$ look like. Note that elements of the cohomology groups $H^j(G, M)$ can be thought of as the group of maps $G^j \to M$, up to an equivalence. Using the bar resolution, elements in $H^1(G, M)$ can be though of as the group of crossed homomorphisms up to an equivalence.

Let $Z^1(G, M)$ be the group of crossed homomorphisms, i.e., $Z^1(G, M)$ is the group of maps $a: G \to M$ satisfying $a_{\sigma\tau} = a_{\sigma}{}^{\sigma} a_{\tau}$.

Let $B^1(G, M)$ be the subgroup of the crossed homomorphisms which are of the form, $\sigma \mapsto {}^{\sigma}m - m$.

One then gets that

$$H^1(G, M) = Z^1(G, M)/B^1(G, M).$$

Let $Z^2(G, M)$ be the group of maps $G \times G \to M$ satisfying the identity

$${}^{\sigma}a_{\tau,\rho} - a_{\sigma\tau,\rho} + a_{\sigma,\tau\rho} - a_{\sigma,\tau} = 0.$$

Let $B^2(G, M)$ be the subgroup of $Z^2(G, M)$ consisting of maps $(\sigma, \tau) \mapsto {}^{\sigma}b_{\tau} - b_{\sigma\tau} + b_{\sigma}$ for maps $b: G \to M$.

Again, one can check that

$$H^2(G, M) = Z^2(G, M)/B^2(G, M).$$

Let H be a subgroup of G and N be an H-module. Note that $M_H^G(N) := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[H]}(\mathbb{Z}[G], N)$ is a G-module with the action of G defined as follows: for ϕ in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[H]}(\mathbb{Z}[G], N)$ and g' in G, the map $g'\phi$ sends g to $\phi(gg')$. Such modules are called *coinduced*.

Lemma 2.3.1 (Shapiro). For every $i \ge 0$, we have the following canonical isomorphism:

$$H^i(G, M_H^G(N)) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^i(H, N).$$

Proof. The isomorphism follows from the canonical isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(M, M_H^G(N)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[H]}(M, N)$$

for every G module M. Given θ in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(M, \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[H]}(\mathbb{Z}[G], N))$, we send it to the morphism which is defined as $m \mapsto (\theta(m))(1)$. This lies in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[H]}(M, N)$. For the inverse, given ϕ in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[H]}(M, N)$, we obtain the morphism $m \mapsto \phi_m$, where ϕ_m is defined as $\phi_m(g) = \phi(gm)$.

Shapiro's lemma helps us in constructing the restriction maps. For every G module M, we have the isomorphism: $M \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}[G], M)$. Viewing a G module homomorphism as an H module homomorphism, we get the map:

$$M \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[H]}(\mathbb{Z}[G], M)$$

Taking cohomology we obtain the restriction map:

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}(G,M) \stackrel{\mathrm{Res}}{\longrightarrow} \mathrm{H}^{i}(G,\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[H]}(\mathbb{Z}[G],M)) \cong \mathrm{H}^{i}(H,M)$$

Concretely, if we think of a cocycle as a function $G^i \to M$, the restriction map sends this function to the composition $H^i \to G^i \to M$.

We also have another canonical morphism $\operatorname{Cor}: \operatorname{H}^{i}(H,M) \longrightarrow \operatorname{H}^{i}(G,M)$ called *core-striction*.

Let H be a subgroup of G with [G:H] = n. To define the corestriction map, we first need to define the map $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[H]}(\mathbb{Z}[G], M) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}[G], M)$.

Let $\{g_1, \dots, g_n\}$ be a system of coset representatives of G/H. Suppose ϕ is an element in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[H]}(\mathbb{Z}[G], M)$, we define the map ϕ_H^G which sends x to $\sum_{i=1}^n g_i \phi(g_i^{-1}x)$. It is standard to check that this map does not depend upon the choice of the coset representatives, and that it is an H-module homomorphism. Again, passing to cohomology, one obtains the corestriction homomorphism

$$H^i(H,M) \xrightarrow{Cor} H^i(G,M).$$

The restriction map is similar to the pullback map in Algebraic Geometry and the corestriction map is similar to the pushforward. We also have the following form of the projection formula involving restriction and corestriction.

Theorem 2.3.2. If H is a subgroup of G of index n, for every $i \ge 0$ the composition

$$\operatorname{Cor} \circ \operatorname{Res} : \operatorname{H}^{i}(G, M) \longrightarrow \operatorname{H}^{i}(G, M)$$

coincides with multiplication by n.

Proof. It is enough to check this for i = 0. If ϕ is a morphism in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}[G], M)$, then $\operatorname{Res}(\phi)$ is the same map viewed as an H-module homomorphism. Let $\{g_1, \dots, g_n\}$ be a set of coset representatives of G/H. Now for x in $\mathbb{Z}[G]$, $\operatorname{Cor}(\operatorname{Res}(\phi))(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n g_i \phi(g_i^{-1}x) = nx$, since ϕ is a G-module homomorphism.

Finally, we define a map, called the *inflation* map, which relates the cohomology of a quotient of a group and the cohomology of the group. Let N be a normal subgroup of G. Then we have the map

$$Inf: H^{i}(G/N, M^{N}) \to H^{i}(G, M).$$

We will describe this map concretely. Thinking of a cocycle as a function f from $(G/N)^i$ to M^H satisfying an identity, we compose it with the standard projection $G \to G/N$ to get a function from G^i to M.

For our application, G will be the Galois group of a field. Although Galois groups are not finite, they are profinite, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}|F) = \varprojlim_{K/F} \operatorname{Gal}(K|F),$$

where K/F ranges over finite Galois extensions.

If M is a $Gal(F^{sep}|F)$ -module which is given the discrete topology, then we define the Galois cohomology of F with coefficients in M to be:

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}(F, M) \coloneqq \varinjlim_{K/F} \mathrm{H}^{i}(\mathrm{Gal}(K|F), M^{\mathrm{Gal}(F^{\mathrm{sep}}|K)}),$$

where K/F ranges over finite Galois extensions.

Following [Serre2], one can also define Galois cohomology as the cohomology of a certain cochain complex. We will denote the Galois group $Gal(F^{sep}|F)$ by Γ_F in what follows.

Let $C_c^{i-1}(\Gamma_F, M)$ be the group of continuous maps $G^{i-1} \stackrel{a}{\longrightarrow} M$. Consider the cochain complex:

$$\cdots \to C_c^{i-1}(\Gamma_F, M) \xrightarrow{d^{i-1}} C_c^i(\Gamma_F, M) \xrightarrow{d^i} C_c^{i+1}(\Gamma_F, M) \to \cdots$$

where the differential d^{i-1} is defined by sending the map $a: G^{i-1} \to M$ to the following map in $C_c^i(G, M)$:

$$(\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_i) \mapsto {}^{\sigma_1}a_{\sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_i} + \sum_{j=1}^i (-1)^j a_{\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_j \sigma_{j+1}, \dots \sigma_i} + (-1)^{j+1} a_{\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_{i-1}}.$$

We have the following important theorem due to Hilbert. Originally stated for cyclic Galois extensions, this version of the theorem will help us in computing various Galois cohomology groups. In the section on Nonabelian Galois cohomology, we will see a more general form of this theorem. We succumb to the temptation of giving a proof which involves a delightful trick!

Theorem 2.3.3.
$$H^1(F, (F^{\text{sep}})^{\times}) = 1.$$

Proof. We will show that $H^1(Gal(K|F), K^{\times}) = 1$ for a finite Galois extension K/F. Let G be the Galois group Gal(K|F). Let a be a cocycle in $Z^1(G, K^{\times})$. Thus a satisfies the identity

$$a_{\sigma\tau} = a_{\sigma}^{\ \sigma} a_{\tau}$$
.

Recall that Dedekind's lemma says that the elements of G are linearly independent. Thus there exists b in K^{\times} so that the element

$$c \coloneqq \sum_{\tau \in G} a_{\tau} \tau(b)$$

is non-zero. For σ in G, we have

$$\begin{split} \sigma(c) &= \sum_{\tau \in G} {}^{\sigma} a_{\tau} \sigma(\tau(b)) \\ &= \sum_{\tau \in G} \frac{a_{\sigma}{}^{\sigma} a_{\tau} \sigma(\tau(b))}{a_{\sigma}} \\ &= \frac{1}{a_{\sigma}} \sum_{\tau \in G} a_{\sigma\tau} \sigma \tau(b) \\ &= \frac{c}{a_{\sigma}}. \end{split}$$

Thus, $a_{\sigma} = \frac{c}{\sigma(c)}$ and hence a_{σ} is a coboundary in $B^1(G, K^{\times})$. Therefore, $H^1(G, K^{\times}) = 1$.

When K/F is a cyclic extension, Hilbert theorem 90 says that elements of norm 1 are of the form $c/\sigma(c)$, for σ a generator of Gal(K|F). One obtains this as a corollary of the above theorem. With this trickery out of the way, let us compute a Galois cohomology group.

Example 2.3.4. Let F be a field and let n > 1 be coprime to char(F). Then,

$$\mathrm{H}^1(F,\mu_n) \cong F^{\times}/(F^{\times})^n$$
.

Consider the short exact sequence:

$$1 \to \mu_n \to F^{sep \times} \xrightarrow{\times n} F^{sep \times} \to 1.$$

Passing to the long exact sequence, and using Theorem 2.3.3, we obtain the following exact sequence:

$$1 \to \mu_n \cap F \to F^{\times} \xrightarrow{\times n} F^{\times} \to \mathrm{H}^1(F, \mu_n) \to 1.$$

Therefore $F^{\times}/(F^{\times})^n \cong H^1(F,\mu_n)$, where the isomorphism maps λ in $F^{\times}/(F^{\times})^n$ to the crossed homomorphism $\sigma \mapsto \frac{\sigma(\sqrt[n]{\lambda})}{\sqrt[n]{\lambda}}$. We will end by computing the group cohomology of cyclic groups. This will be useful later to compute the relative Brauer groups of cyclic extensions.

Example 2.3.5. Let G be a finite cyclic group of order n. Let M be a G-module. We will compute all the cohomology groups $H^i(G, M)$.

To do this, consider the following projective resolution of \mathbb{Z} :

$$\cdots \to \mathbb{Z}[G] \xrightarrow{N} \mathbb{Z}[G] \xrightarrow{\sigma-1} \mathbb{Z}[G] \xrightarrow{N} \mathbb{Z}[G] \xrightarrow{\sigma-1} \mathbb{Z}[G] \xrightarrow{\epsilon} \mathbb{Z} \to 0,$$

where ϵ is the map sending a generator g of G to 1 in \mathbb{Z} . The map $\sigma - 1$ sends g to $\sigma g - g$, and N sends g to $\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \sigma^i g$.

Note that since $0 = \sigma^n - 1 = (\sigma - 1)N$, we see that $\operatorname{Im}(N) \subseteq \operatorname{Ker}(\sigma - 1)$. Further if $\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \lambda_i \sigma^i$ lies in $\operatorname{Ker}(N)$, one can check that $\lambda_0 = \lambda_1 = \dots = \lambda_{n-1}$. Therefore, $\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \lambda_i \sigma^i$ lies in $\operatorname{Im}(N)$, and hence $\operatorname{Ker}(\sigma - 1) \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(N)$. This shows that the resolution is exact.

Applying the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}[G]}(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z})$ to this, we obtain the following cochain complex:

$$0 \to M \xrightarrow{\sigma-1} M \xrightarrow{N} M \xrightarrow{\sigma-1} \cdots$$

Notice that the kernel of σ – 1 is the invariant module M^G . We therefore obtain:

$$H^{2i+1}(G, M) = Ker(N)/(\sigma - 1)M, \quad H^{2i+2}(G, M) = M^G/Im(N), \text{ for } i \ge 0.$$

2.3.2 Brauer group and H^2

Since every central simple algebra can be split by a finite separable extension, we can as well assume that this splitting field is Galois by going to the Galois closure. If A/F is split by a Galois extension K/F with Galois group G, by Theorem 2.1.12, A is Brauer equivalent to a central simple algebra B, with K sitting inside B as a strictly maximal subfield. Skolem-Noether (see Theorem 2.1.8) tells us that automorphisms of K as an F algebra are inner. Therefore, for every $\sigma \in G$ and $x \in K$, there exist elements $u_{\sigma} \in A^{\times}$ such that

$$\sigma(x) = u_{\sigma} x u_{\sigma}^{-1}. \tag{2.1}$$

Since K is strictly maximal, $[K : F] = \deg(B)$. As a result, B has dimension [K : F] = |G| as a K-vector space. We have |G| elements in B^{\times} available to us, namely $\{u_{\sigma}\}_{{\sigma} \in G}$. If they form a K linearly independent set, then we obtain a generating set for B as a K algebra and at least one relation.

It does turn out that the set $\{u_{\sigma}\}_{{\sigma}\in G}$ is linearly independent. We will not prove this fact here. See [Pierce, Lemma 14.1] for the argument. It is a standard argument as

arguments for showing linear independence go. One assumes that there is a minimal relation, and using the relation 2.1, one obtains a contradiction to the minimality.

Therefore as a K-vector space, we have that

$$B = \bigoplus_{\sigma \in G} K u_{\sigma}.$$

We still do not know how to multiply $u_{\sigma}u_{\tau}$. We expect this product to be some linear combination involving the elements u_{σ} with coefficients in K. We make a guess: perhaps $u_{\sigma}u_{\tau} = a_{\sigma,\tau}u_{\sigma\tau}$ for some $a_{\sigma,\tau}$ in K^{\times} . Using (2.1), it is not hard to show that the element $u_{\sigma}u_{\tau}u_{\sigma\tau}^{-1}$ commutes with every element in K. Since K, being strictly maximal is self centralizing (see Proposition 2.1.11), we obtain that the elements $a_{\sigma,\tau}$ lie in K^{\times} for every σ , τ in G. Therefore, we have

$$u_{\sigma}u_{\tau} = a_{\sigma,\tau}u_{\sigma\tau}. \tag{2.2}$$

Note that, since we have taken $u_1 = 1$, we get that $a_{1,\sigma} = a_{\sigma,1} = 1$.

We have not yet exploited the fact that B is an associative algebra. This fundamental property provides us with relations among the $a_{\sigma,\tau}$ and that relation turns out to be a 2-cocycle! Computing the product $u_{\sigma}u_{\tau}u_{\rho}$ in two different ways, one obtains:

$${}^{\sigma}a_{\tau,\rho}a_{\sigma,\tau\rho} = a_{\sigma,\rho}a_{\sigma\tau,\rho}. \tag{2.3}$$

To summarize: we started with a central simple algebra A which was split by a Galois extension K/F and therefore was Brauer equivalent to the algebra B which contained K as a strictly maximal subfield. Using the Skolem Noether Theorem and Proposition 2.1.11, we saw that the algebra B has a very peculiar structure. From relations among its generators, we obtained a 2-cocycle condition. Therefore we can associate an element in $H^2(G, K^{\times})$ to every element in the subgroup of Br(F) consisting of elements split by K. Central simple algebras with structure similar to that of B/F, are called C product algebras.

We define the relative Brauer group Br(K/F) to be the subgroup of elements in Br(F) which are split by K. We have thus obtained a map:

$$\operatorname{Br}(K/F) \xrightarrow{\theta_K} \operatorname{H}^2(G, K^{\times}).$$
 (2.4)

If L/K is a field extension, the restriction of a Brauer class α in Br(K) to L will also be denoted by $\alpha \otimes L$.

The map θ_K is in fact surjective. Given a cocycle $a_{\sigma,\tau}$ in $H^2(G,K^*)$, one can define a crossed product algebra which is split by K, by just reverse engineering the way we described the structure of B.

We define the K-vector space B of dimension |G|. We choose a basis $\{u_{\sigma}\}$, indexed by elements σ in G, and subject it to the following relations:

$$B = \bigoplus_{\sigma \in G} K u_{\sigma} \qquad u_{\sigma} x u_{\sigma}^{-1} = \sigma(x) \ \forall \ x \in K \qquad u_{\sigma} u_{\tau} = a_{\sigma,\tau} u_{\sigma\tau}.$$

It turns out that θ_K is a group isomorphism. Above, we have roughly sketched that the map θ_K is a bijection. The isomorphisms are compatible with the inflation and restriction maps in Group cohomology. We collect these facts in the following theorem:

Theorem 2.3.6. 1. The map θ_K in (2.4) is a group isomorphism.

2. Further, if L/F is a Galois extension with Galois group H containing K as a subfield, then the following diagram commutes:

$$\operatorname{Br}(K/F) \xrightarrow{\theta_K} \operatorname{H}^2(G, K^{\times})$$

$$\downarrow^{\iota_{L/K}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{inf}$$

$$\operatorname{Br}(L/F) \xrightarrow{\theta_L} \operatorname{H}^2(H, L^{\times}).$$

$$(2.5)$$

3. If L/F is a subextension of K/F, with Galois group H. Then the following diagram commutes:

$$\operatorname{Br}(K/F) \xrightarrow{\theta_K} \operatorname{H}^2(G, K^{\times})$$

$$\downarrow_{\otimes L} \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{res}$$

$$\operatorname{Br}(K/L) \xrightarrow{\theta_L} \operatorname{H}^2(H, L^{\times}).$$

$$(2.6)$$

Proof. For a proof, see [Pierce, Proposition 14.7(a)].

The compatibility of the isomorphisms as in (2.6) therefore establishes the following important isomorphism:

Corollary 2.3.7. The map θ is an isomorphism:

$$\operatorname{Br}(F) \xrightarrow{\theta} \operatorname{H}^{2}(F, F^{sep^{\times}}).$$
 (2.7)

Since every central simple algebra is split by a Galois extension, for any field F,

$$Br(F) = \bigcup_{K/F} Br(K/F),$$

where K/F ranges over Galois extensions.

The isomorphism (2.4), together with Example 2.3.5, helps in computing the relative Brauer groups of cyclic extensions.

Example 2.3.8. Let K/F be a cyclic Galois extension, with Galois group G. Let σ be a generator of G. Let $N_{K/F}: K^{\times} \to F^{\times}$ be the norm map. Recall that since K/F is Galois, $(K^{\times})^G = F^{\times}$ and $N_{K/F}(x) = \prod_{i=0}^{n-1} \sigma^i(x)$. Then, we have the following isomorphism:

$$F^{\times}/N_{K/F}(K^{\times}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Br}(K/F).$$

Since the map θ_K in (2.4) is an isomorphism by Theorem 2.3.6, we may identify Br(K/F) and $H^2(G, K^{\times})$. By Example 2.3.5, $H^2(G, K^{\times}) \cong F^{\times}/N_{K/F}(K^{\times})$.

There is an explicit description of the above isomorphism (see [G-S, Corollary 4.7.4]): for b in F^{\times} , the element $bN_{K/F}(K^{\times})$ in $F^{\times}/N_{K/F}(K^{\times})$ is sent to $[(\sigma,b)]$ in Br(K/F), where $[(\sigma,b)]$ is the class of the cyclic algebra as in Example 2.1.2(5.).

Notice that, this example also shows that $Br(\mathbb{R}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. Since, every central simple algebra over \mathbb{R} is split by \mathbb{C} , and $Gal(\mathbb{C}|\mathbb{R}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, we have

$$\operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{R}) = \operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}) \cong \mathbb{R}^{\times}/N_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{C}^{\times}).$$

Since $N_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{C}^{\times})$ is isomorphic to the multiplicative group of positive real numbers \mathbb{R}^+ , one sees that $\mathrm{Br}(\mathbb{R}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$.

Example 2.3.9. Using Example 2.3.8 and Theorem 2.3.3 (Hilbert's original version), one can also shows that for any finite field \mathbb{F}_q :

$$Br(\mathbb{F}_a) = 0.$$

Recall that every field extension of \mathbb{F}_q is cyclic with Galois group generated by the q^{th} power map: $\phi_q(x) = x^q$. To establish that $Br(\mathbb{F}_q) = 0$, it suffices to show that

 $\operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{F}_{q^n}/\mathbb{F}_q) = 0$. Now consider the sequence:

$$1 \to H \to \mathbb{F}_{q^n}^{\times} \xrightarrow{N_{\mathbb{F}_{q^n}/\mathbb{F}_q}} \mathbb{F}_q^{\times},$$

where H denotes the kernel of the norm map. We will show that the norm map is surjective.

By Theorem 2.3.3, the elements in H are of the form $\phi_q(y)/y$ for y in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} . But note that $\phi_q(y)/y = y^{q-1}$. Therefore, we have that $|H| = (q^n - 1)/(q - 1)$. This implies that the image of the norm map has cardinality equal to q - 1. Therefore, $N_{\mathbb{F}_q^n/\mathbb{F}_q}$ is surjective. By Example 2.3.8, we conclude that $\operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{F}_{q^n}/\mathbb{F}_q) = 0$.

Finally, observe that the isomorphism in 2.3.8 also provides us with the following useful identities. Let us assume that F contains the group of n^{th} roots of unity. We may therefore denote cyclic algebras as $(a,b)_n$. We have the following identities in Br(F):

$$[(a_1a_2,b)] = [(a_1,b)] + [(a_2,b)]$$
(2.8)

$$[(a, b_1 b_2)] = [(a, b_1)] + [(a, b_2)].$$
 (2.9)

2.3.3 Nonabelian Galois cohomology

The purpose of this section is to define the pointed Galois cohomology set $H^1(F,G)$, for an algebraic group G. For our applications, G will almost always be a linear algebraic group over F. Nonabelian Galois cohomology sets classify many important algebraic structures over F. For example, $H^1(F,PGL_n)$ classifies central simple algebras of degree n over F and $H^1(F,O_n)$ classifies non-degenerate n-dimensional quadratic forms over F (at least when $char(F) \neq 2$). Such a classification puts classical local-global principles such as the Albert-Brauer-Hasse-Noether theorem for central simple algebras and the Hasse-Minkowski theorem for quadratic forms on an equal philosophical footing.

Let G/F be an algebraic group. For any extension, L/F, G(L) will denote the L-rational points of G.

Definition 2.3.10. Equip the set $G(F^{\text{sep}})$ with the discrete topology and $Gal(F^{\text{sep}}|F)$ with the profinite topology. We define the set of cocyles $Z^1(F,G)$ to be the set of

continuous maps $a : \operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}|F) \to G(F^{\operatorname{sep}})$ satisfying $a_{\sigma\tau} = a_{\sigma}({}^{\sigma}a_{\tau})$. We define the following equivalence relation on $Z^1(F,G)$: $(a_{\sigma}) \sim (b_{\sigma})$ if and only if there exists an element c in $G(F^{\operatorname{sep}})$ such that $a_{\sigma} = c^{-1}b_{\sigma}({}^{\sigma}c)$ for every σ in $\operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}|F)$. The nonabelian Galois cohomology set $H^1(F,G)$ is the set of equivalence classes of $Z^1(F,G)$.

Note that $H^1(F,G)$ is a pointed set with base point given by the equivalence class of the cocycle $a: \operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}|F) \to G(F^{\operatorname{sep}})$ which maps every σ in $\operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}|F)$ to the identity element 1 in $G(F^{\operatorname{sep}})$.

We will prove the statement claimed above, that $H^1(F, PGL_n)$ classifies central simple algebras of degree n. Let A be a degree n central simple algebra over F. Fix an isomorphism

$$M_n(F^{\text{sep}}) \stackrel{f}{\to} A \otimes_F F^{\text{sep}}.$$

Note that $\operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}|F)$ acts on $A \otimes F^{\operatorname{sep}}$ as $\sigma(x \otimes \lambda) = x \otimes \sigma(\lambda)$ for x in A and λ in F^{sep} . Let T be a matrix in $M_n(F^{\operatorname{sep}})$, and v a vector in $(F^{\operatorname{sep}})^n$; $\operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}|F)$ acts on T as ${}^{\sigma}T(v) = \sigma \circ T \circ \sigma^{-1}(v)$. Consider the diagram:

$$M_n(F^{\text{sep}}) \xrightarrow{f} A \otimes_F F^{\text{sep}}$$

$$\downarrow^{\sigma} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\sigma}$$

$$M_n(F^{\text{sep}}) \xrightarrow{f} A \otimes_F F^{\text{sep}}.$$

$$(2.10)$$

This diagram need not be commutative. The following element of $G(F^{\text{sep}})$ is the obstruction for this diagram to be commutative:

$$a_{\sigma} \coloneqq f^{-1} \circ \sigma \circ f \circ \sigma^{-1}. \tag{2.11}$$

We will check that a_{σ} is in fact an element in $Z^{1}(F, PGL_{n})$.

$$a_{\sigma}{}^{\sigma}a_{\tau} = f^{-1} \circ \sigma \circ f \circ \sigma^{-1} \circ {}^{\sigma}(f^{-1} \circ \tau \circ f \circ \tau^{-1})$$

$$= f^{-1} \circ \sigma \circ f \circ \sigma^{-1} \circ \sigma \circ f^{-1} \circ \tau \circ f \circ \tau^{-1} \circ \sigma^{-1}$$

$$= f^{-1} \circ \sigma \tau \circ f \circ (\sigma \tau)^{-1}$$

$$= a_{\sigma \tau}.$$

Now, let us rewrite the equation $a_{\sigma} = f^{-1} \circ \sigma \circ f \circ \sigma^{-1}$ as: $f \circ a_{\sigma} \circ \sigma = \sigma \circ f$. If we redefine the action of $Gal(F^{sep}|F)$ on $M_n(F^{sep})$ as $\sigma * T = a_{\sigma} \circ \sigma(T)$, the diagram (2.10)

commutes. (Note that a_{σ} acts on $M_n(F^{\text{sep}})$ by conjugation). All we need to check now is that this defines an action:

$$(a_{\sigma} \circ \sigma)(a_{\tau} \circ \tau) = a_{\sigma} \circ (\sigma \circ a_{\tau}) \circ \sigma^{-1} \circ \sigma \circ \tau = a_{\sigma\tau} \circ \sigma\tau.$$

We will call this the twisted action of $Gal(F^{sep}|F)$ on $M_n(F^{sep})$.

We are now in a position to state our theorem.

Theorem 2.3.11. Let $CSA_n(F)$ denote the pointed set of isomorphism classes of central simple algebras of degree n over F, with distinguished element, the class of $M_n(F)$. Then there is a one to one correspondence between the following pointed sets, which is natural in F:

$$CSA_n(F) \longleftrightarrow H^1(F, PGL_n).$$

Proof. Let A be a degree n central simple algebra. Fix an isomorphism $M_n(F^{\text{sep}}) \xrightarrow{f} A \otimes_F F^{\text{sep}}$. We get a cocycle a_{σ} defined in Equation (2.11). Suppose g is another such isomorphism with corresponding cocycle b_{σ} . Consider the element $c := g^{-1}f$ in $PGL_n(F^{\text{sep}})$. It is standard to check that $a_{\sigma} = c^{-1}b_{\sigma}({}^{\sigma}c)$. Thus, the map is well-defined. For surjectivity, given a cocycle a_{σ} , we redefine the action of $Gal(F^{\text{sep}}|F)$ as $\sigma * T = a_{\sigma} \circ \sigma(T)$ for T in $M_n(F^{\text{sep}})$. Using Theorem 2.2.2, one sees that there exists a central simple algebra A of degree n which gives rise to the cocycle a_{σ} . This also shows injectivity. For if A and B are two central simple algebras of degree n giving rise to the same cocycle a_{σ} , consider the two diagrams as in (2.10) involving A and B. With the twisted action on $M_n(F^{\text{sep}})$ defined using the cocycle a_{σ} , these diagrams are commutative. Again using Theorem 2.2.2, we see that A and B are isomorphic. \Box

We saw in the course of proving Theorem 2.3.11 that giving a cocycle is the same as giving a "descent datum" for the corresponding twisted form. Taking the limit of the pointed sets $H^1(F, PGL_n)$ as n varies gives the set of isomorphism classes of central simple algebras over F. The same argument as in the proof of Theorem 2.3.11 shows:

Theorem 2.3.12. Let (V, Φ) be a finite dimensional vector space equipped with a tensor Φ , and let $G = \operatorname{Aut}(V, \Phi)$. Let $\operatorname{TW}(V, \Phi)$ be the pointed set of isomorphism classes

of twisted forms of (V, Φ) with distinguished element (V, Φ) . There is a one to one correspondence between the following pointed sets, which is natural in F:

$$\mathrm{TW}(V,\Phi) \longleftrightarrow \mathrm{H}^1(F,G).$$

If V is a finite dimensional vector space over F^{sep} , one would expect V to descend down to a vector space over F, with no additional structure. Since there is exactly one vector space of a given dimension up to isomorphism, it is reasonable to guess that $H^1(F,GL_n) = 1$, and that is indeed true. The following theorem is a generalization of Theorem 2.3.3 and also goes by the name Hilbert Theorem 90. The proof is a modification of the proof of Theorem 2.3.3.

Theorem 2.3.13. $H^1(F, GL_n) = 1$.

For any algebraic group G over F, $H^1(F,G)$ classifies the so called principal homogenous spaces under G.

Definition 2.3.14. Let P be a non-empty left $Gal(F^{sep}|F)$ set, equipped with a compatible right action of G. We will assume that this action is continuous. We say that P is a *principal homogenous space* under G if $G(F^{sep})$ acts simply transitively on P.

Theorem 2.3.15. Let \mathcal{P}_G denote the pointed set of isomorphism classes of principal homogenous space under G with distinguished element G. Then there is a one to one correspondence between the following pointed sets:

$$\mathcal{P}_G \longleftrightarrow \mathrm{H}^1(F,G).$$

Proof. Let P be a principal homogenous space under G. Let p be an element in P, and σ be in $Gal(F^{sep}|F)$. Since G acts simply transitively on P, there exists a unique element a_{σ} in $G(F^{sep})$ such that ${}^{\sigma}p = pa_{\sigma}$. One may check that a_{σ} is a cocycle. For surjectivity, if a_{σ} is a cocycle, define a new action of $Gal(F^{sep}|F)$ on $G(F^{sep})$: for σ in

 $\operatorname{Gal}(F^{\operatorname{sep}}|F)$ and g in $G(F^{\operatorname{sep}})$, $\sigma * g := a_{\sigma}({}^{\sigma}g)$. It is not hard to check that this is a principal homogenous space under G.

Note that principal homogenous spaces under a linear algebraic group G may be identified with the F^{sep} -rational points of a variety. To see this, first note that the category of continuous $\text{Gal}(F^{\text{sep}}|F)$ sets is equivalent to the category of sheaves of sets on the small étale site $\text{Spec}(k)_{\text{\'et}}$. Thus a principal homogenous space under G can be identified with a sheaf of sets on $\text{Spec}(k)_{\text{\'et}}$. Such sheaves are also called as G-torsors. It is shown in [Milne] on Pg 120 that G-torsors are representable by varieties.

Theorem 2.3.16. Suppose that Z is a closed subgroup of G. We have the following long exact sequence of pointed sets:

$$1 \to Z(F) \to G(F) \to (G/Z)(F) \to H^1(F,Z) \to H^1(F,G)$$
.

Further, if Z is contained in the center of G, and H denotes the quotient group G/Z, then one may extend it to the following longer exact sequence:

$$1 \to Z(F) \to G(F) \to H(F) \to H^1(F,Z) \to H^1(F,G) \to H^1(F,H) \to H^2(F,Z).$$

Proof. See [Serre2, Proposition 43]. \Box

Consider the exact sequence

$$1 \to \mathbb{G}_m(F^{\text{sep}}) \to GL_n(F^{\text{sep}}) \to PGL_n(F^{\text{sep}}) \to 1.$$

Taking Galois invariants, and using Theorem 2.3.3, one obtains the following exact sequence

$$1 \to F^{\times} \to GL_n(F) \to PGL_n(F) \to 1.$$

Extending this long exact sequence, one obtains the injective (in the category of pointed sets) map:

$$1 \to \mathrm{H}^1(F, PGL_n) \to \mathrm{H}^2(F, \mathbb{G}_m) = \mathrm{Br}(F).$$

This map turns out to be as we might expect, sending the isomorphism class of a central simple algebra A to its Brauer class [A].

2.4 Brauer Dimension

2.4.1 Period-Index problem

Definition 2.4.1. Let α be an element of Br(F). The period of α , denoted by $per(\alpha)$, is the smallest positive integer n such that $n\alpha = 0$.

Definition 2.4.2. Let α be an element of Br(F), with underlying division algebra D. The *index* of α , denoted by $ind(\alpha)$, is defined as the degree of D.

Theorem 2.4.3. For any α in Br(F), the index of α , denoted by $ind(\alpha)$ is the gcd (and the minimum) of degrees of field extensions L/F such that $Res_{L/F}(\alpha) = 0$ in Br(L).

Proof. Let D be the underlying division algebra of α . If L is a maximal subfield in D, by Theorem 2.1.12, $D \otimes_F L$ is isomorphic to a matrix algebra over L. Note that L is also strictly maximal (see Definition 2.1.10). Therefore $[L:F] = \deg(D)$.

Let K/F be any splitting field of D. Then D is Brauer equivalent to an algebra $B \cong M_n(D)$ containing K as a strictly maximal subfield in B. Therefore $[K : F] = \deg(B) = n \deg(D)$, and $\deg(D)$ divides the degree of every splitting field. As we saw, $\deg(D)$ also equals the degree of a splitting field. This establishes that $ind(\alpha)$ is the gcd and the minimum of degrees of splitting fields of α , and is equal to the degree of a maximal subfield in its underlying division algebra.

Theorem 2.4.4. 1. Br(F) is a torsion group.

- 2. For every element α in Br(F), the period of α divides the index of α .
- 3. Moreover, $per(\alpha)$ and $ind(\alpha)$ share the same prime factors.

Proof. Let L/F be a maximal subfield of the underlying division algebra. By Theorem 2.4.3, $\operatorname{Res}_{L/F}(\alpha) = 0$ and $\operatorname{ind}(\alpha) = [L:F]$. Note that, $[L:F]\alpha = \operatorname{Cor} \circ \operatorname{Res}(\alpha) = 0$. The period of α , being the order of α , therefore divides $\operatorname{ind}(\alpha)$. This also shows that $\operatorname{Br}(F)$ is torsion.

We now establish the last statement. Let α be a non-trivial element of Br(F), and p be

a prime factor of $ind(\alpha)$. Let L/F be a separable splitting field of α with degree equal to $ind(\alpha)$. Denote the Galois closure of L/F by \widetilde{L}/F . Let H_p be the Sylow p subgroup of the Galois group of \widetilde{L}/F . Set $K := \widetilde{L}^{H_p}$. Note that $per(\alpha \otimes_F K)$ divides $per(\alpha)$. Since \widetilde{L}/K splits $\alpha \otimes K$, by Theorem 2.4.3, $ind(\alpha \otimes K)$ divides $[\widetilde{L}:K]$. Thus, $ind(\alpha \otimes K)$ is a power of p. By the second statement of the theorem proved in the previous paragraph, $per(\alpha \otimes K)$ divides $ind(\alpha \otimes K)$. As a result, $per(\alpha \otimes K)$ is a power of p. Therefore, p divides $per(\alpha)$.

Remark 2.4.5. Theorem 2.4.4 shows that every cyclic algebra of prime degree ℓ has period ℓ . In particular, every non-trivial quaternion algebra has period 2.

By Theorem 2.4.4, for every α in Br(F), $ind(\alpha)$ divides some power of $per(\alpha)$, i.e.,

$$ind(\alpha)|[per(\alpha)]^{N(\alpha)},$$

where $N(\alpha)$ is the smallest positive integer satisfying the divisibility condition above for α . Note that $ind(\alpha)$ measures how large the underlying division algebra can be, or equivalently how hard it is to split the division algebra. It is natural to wonder whether there is a uniform bound for this measure. In other words, can we uniformly bound the integer $N(\alpha)$? Of course, the question whether or not there is a bound, should depend upon the field.

Definition 2.4.6. Let F be a field and ℓ be a prime. The *Brauer* ℓ -dimension of F, denoted as $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F)$ is the supremum of $N(\alpha)$ as α varies in the ℓ -primary torsion subgroup of $\operatorname{Br}(L)$, and L/F varies over finite degree field extensions.

The Brauer dimension of F, denoted by Brd(F), is the supremum of $Brd_{\ell}(F)$ as ℓ varies.

When $F = \mathbb{R}$, there is a uniform bound, since the only non-trivial division algebra over \mathbb{R} is the quaternion algebra (-1,-1). Therefore $\operatorname{Brd}(\mathbb{R}) = 1$. However, determining this uniform bound is not an easy problem in general, since finding the index of a given division algebra is not easy. Even to determine whether a given central simple algebra is division or not is hard enough.

We would like to compute Brd(F) for nice fields arising in arithmetic and geometry, starting with local fields and global fields. The question that, for number fields whether Brd(F) = 1, was asked by Brauer in a letter to Hasse (see [Roq]). For C_2 fields, Artin asks whether Brd(F) = 1? In view of some circumstantial evidence, we record the following folklore problem here. The problem is known as the period-index problem.

Question 1. Let F be the function field of a variety over either an algebraically closed field, finite field, non-archimedean local field or a global field (any reasonably "nice" field). Compute Brd(F).

We record some known answers below. The techniques used in obtaining these answers vary considerably. One of the major advances in systematically dealing with the problem is the approach of Lieblich, which uses the theory of moduli spaces of twisted sheaves. The field patching technique of Harbater-Hartmann-Krashen successfully deals with this problem over function fields of curves over complete discretely valued fields.

- **Example 2.4.7.** 1. If F is a local field or a global field, then Brd(F) = 1. This is a classical result going back to the work of Albert, Brauer, Hasse and Noether.
 - 2. If F is the function field of a curve over a local field, then Brd_ℓ(F) = 2. For ℓ not equal to the residue characteristic, this was proved by Saltman in [Salt]. Parimala-Suresh in [Pa-Su2] completed this computation in the bad, mixed characteristic case (i.e., when characteristic of the residue field equals ℓ).
 - 3. If F is the function field of a curve over an m-local field, then $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) = m+1$, when ℓ is not equal to the characteristic of the smallest residue field. This was proved by Lieblich in [Lie1], and independently by Harbater-Hartmann-Krashen in [HHK09].
 - 4. If F is the function field of a surface over a finite field, then Brd(F) = 2. This was proved by Lieblich in [Lie].
 - 5. If F is the function field of a surface over an algebraically closed field, then Brd(F) = 1. This is due to deJong (for characteristic 0), proved in [dJ].

6. Let F be the function field of a surface over \mathbb{Q}_p . Recently, Antieau-Auel-Ingalls-Krashen-Lieblich in [AAIKL] show that $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) = 3$ for ℓ coprime to 6p.

We will end this section with a Lemma which says that to compute $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F)$, it is enough to compute the indices of Brauer classes with period ℓ .

Lemma 2.4.8. Suppose that for every finite extension L/F and every Brauer class α in the ℓ -torsion part of Br(L), $ind(\alpha)$ divides ℓ^N . Further, N is the smallest such integer. Then $Brd_{\ell}(F) = N$.

Proof. Let L/F be a finite extension. Let β be a Brauer class in Br(L/F) of period ℓ^d . We will show by induction on d that $ind(\beta)$ divides ℓ^{dN} .

The base case d = 1 follows by the hypothesis in the Lemma.

Now let $\beta' = \ell \beta$. Thus, the period of β' is ℓ^{d-1} . By the induction hypothesis, there exists a field extension M/L of degree dividing $\ell^{(d-1)N}$. Thus, $\beta' \otimes M = 0$, which means that $\beta \otimes M$ has period ℓ . Therefore, there exists a field extension N/M of degree ℓ^N which splits $\beta \otimes M$. Thus, N/L splits β . Now the degree of [N:L] is $\ell^N \ell^{(d-1)N} = \ell^{dN}$. Or in other words, $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) = N$.

2.4.2 C_i property and cohomological dimension

We will see how arithmetic properties behave when passes to a higher transcendence degree field or to the completion, one of the theme that is explored in this thesis. At this point, we should also collect more examples of division algebras over specific fields, and Brauer ℓ -dimension of some fields. Let us start with fields sharing some arithmetic properties with finite fields. We will take a detour into the C_i property and cohomological dimension of fields, and apply the Theorems in computing the Brauer group of certain fields (see Example 2.4.13), and also the Brauer ℓ -dimension for C_2 fields for $\ell = 2, 3$ (see Proposition 2.4.20).

Definition 2.4.9. Let F be a field. We say that F satisfies the C_i property (or simply, F is C_i) if every homogenous polynomial of degree d in n variables satisfying $n > d^i$ has a nontrivial solution.

Note that any algebraically closed field is a C_0 field, and in fact C_i for every $i \ge 0$. We will see some examples of C_i fields for i > 0. The very first example of C_1 fields which are not C_0 are:

Theorem 2.4.10 (Chevalley). Finite fields have the C_1 property.

Proof. See [G-S, Theorem
$$6.2.6$$
]

Theorem 2.4.11 (Lang). Let F be a field satisfying the C_i property. If L/F is an extension of transcendence degree d, then L is a C_{i+d} field.

Proof. See [Lang, Theorem 6]
$$\Box$$

Example 2.4.12. Let F be a C_1 field. We claim that Br(F) = 0. Let D be a division algebra over F. We choose a basis for D as an F-vector space, and hence view it as an affine space $\mathbb{A}_F^{n^2}$ over F. Thus the reduced norm on D (denoted by Nrd) can be viewed as a homogenous polynomial of degree n in n^2 variables. Since F is a C_1 field, the equation Nrd = 0 has a non-trivial solution if n > 1. As a result, there exists d in D^{\times} such that Nrd(d) = 0. But that is impossible since d is invertible and Nrd is multiplicative.

Remark 2.4.13. 1. The above example and Theorem 2.4.10 shows that $Br(\mathbb{F}_q) = 0$.

2. If F is the function field of a curve over an algebraically closed field, then Br(F) = 0 by Theorem 2.4.11 and the above Example.

The C_i property is a measure of how far a field is from being algebraically closed. It however does not seem that natural. There is a more natural notion called cohomological dimension, which in some sense also measures how "easy" is it for varieties to have rational points.

Definition 2.4.14. Let F be with $char(F) \neq p$. Then, we say that the p-cohomological dimension of F, denoted by $cd_p(F)$ is at most n if for every algebraic extension K/F, $H^{n+1}(K,\mu_p) = 0$.

Remark 2.4.15. This is not the most correct way to define p-cohomological dimension since we had to make the assumption that $char(F) \neq p$. The definition in [Serre2] goes as: we say that p-cohomological dimension of F (possibly also of characteristic p) is at most n if the p-primary component of $H^{n+1}(F,A)$ is 0 for every torsion, discrete Galois module A.

One can show that if F has characteristic equal to p, then $\operatorname{cd}_p(F) \leq 1$ (see [Serre2, Chapter 2, Section 2.2]).

Example 2.4.16. Let F be a C_1 field. Then $\operatorname{cd}_p(F) \leq 1$. By the above Remark, we may assume that $\operatorname{char}(F)$ is not equal to p. Thus, we need to show that $\operatorname{H}^2(F, \mu_p) = 0$. By the long exact sequence in Galois cohomology of the short exact sequence

$$1 \to \mu_p \to \mathbb{G}_m \xrightarrow{\times p} \mathbb{G}_m \to 1,$$

and the Hilbert Theorem 90 (see 2.3.3), one sees that $_p \operatorname{Br}(F) \cong \operatorname{H}^2(F, \mu_p)$. Since F is C_1 , by Remark 2.4.13, $\operatorname{Br}(F) = 0$. Therefore, $_p \operatorname{Br}(F) = 0$. Thus, $\operatorname{H}^2(F, \mu_p) = 0$.

Serre in [Serre2] asks the question: If F is C_i , then does it imply that $\operatorname{cd}_p(F) \leq i$? He shows that this is indeed true when p = 2 using Milnor's conjecture. For other primes p, it is not known whether this is true.

There is a transition theorem analogous to Theorem 2.4.11 for cohomological dimension.

Theorem 2.4.17. Let K/F be a field of transcendence degree at most d, then

$$\operatorname{cd}_p(K) \le \operatorname{cd}_p(F) + d.$$

Proof. Clearly, when d=0, the inequality is satisfied, following from the definition of p-cohomological dimension. It is enough to show the statement holds when the transcendence degree of K/F is one. The general case follows inductively. If K has transcendence degree one, then K is a finite extension of F(t). Thus, we just need to prove the statement for K = F(t). Consider the extension $L := F^{\text{sep}}(t)$, and denote the separable closure of F(t) by M. Note that $\text{Gal}(F^{\text{sep}}(t)|F(t))$ can be identified with $\text{Gal}(F^{\text{sep}}|F)$. Since L is a C_1 field, $\text{cd}_p(L) \leq 1$. Finally using [Serre2, Chapter 1 Proposition 15], one sees that $\text{cd}_p(F(t)) \leq \text{cd}_p(F) + 1$.

Theorem 2.4.18. Let F be a complete discretely valued field with residue field k. Then

$$\operatorname{cd}_p(F) \leq \operatorname{cd}_p(k) + 1.$$

Proof. Let F^{ur} be the maximal unramified extension of F. We can identify $Gal(F^{ur}|F)$ with $Gal(k^{sep}|k)$. It is shown in [Lang], that K^{ur} satisfies the C_1 property. Thus $cd_p(K^{ur}) \leq 1$. Again, using [Serre2, Chapter 1 Proposition 15], the inequality follows. \square

Remark 2.4.19. Note that the above theorem has no analogue for the C_i property. It is known that \mathbb{Q}_2 does not satisfy the C_2 property (see references in [Serre2]).

We will end this section by computing the Brauer 2-dimension and Brauer 3-dimension of fields satisfying the C_2 property.

Proposition 2.4.20 (Artin). Let F be a field satisfying the C_2 property. We will assume that $char(F) \neq 2,3$. Then $Brd_2(F) \leq 1$ and $Brd_3(F) \leq 1$.

Proof. First, by Lemma 2.4.8, it is enough to show this for period 2 and period 3 algebras. In view of Theorem 2.4.11, it is also enough to assume that these algebras are over F.

We will only prove that $\operatorname{Brd}_3(F) \leq 1$. The statement that $\operatorname{Brd}_2(F) \leq 1$ follows from a similar reasoning. To show that $\operatorname{Brd}_3(F) \leq 1$, we will first prove that any two degree 3 division algebras, A and B, can be simultaneously split by a field extension of degree 3. The proof for the degree 2 case is similar. If $F(\alpha)/F$ is a degree 3 splitting field of A, $F(\alpha)$ sits inside A.

Let $\{e_i\}$ be a basis for the F-vector space A. Consider the element $\sum_{i=1}^{9} x_i e_i$ in $A \otimes_F F(x_1, \dots, x_9)$. The reduced characteristic polynomial of this generic element is called the generic reduced characteristic polynomial. If one extends scalars to F^{sep} , this polynomial agrees with the characteristic polynomial of the generic 3×3 matrix $[x_{ij}]$. Thus the generic reduced characteristic polynomial is a degree 3 polynomial: $t^3 + a_1t^2 + a_2t + a_3$, where each a_i is a homogenous polynomial of degree i with coefficients in F.

The reduced characteristic polynomial of a generic element in A is the same as the

minimal polynomial of a generic degree 3 subfield in A. Therefore a field extension $F(\alpha)$ sits inside A and B if and only if there is a solution in F to the equations given by setting the coefficients of the generic reduced characteristic polynomials of A and B equal.

Let a_1 , a_2 and a_3 be the coefficients of the generic reduced characteristic polynomial of A, and let b_1 , b_2 and b_3 be the coefficients of the generic reduced characteristic polynomial of B. Consider the system of homogenous polynomials: $a_1 = b_1$, $a_2 = b_2$ and $a_3 = b_3$.

This is a system of polynomials on $\mathbb{A}(A) \times \mathbb{A}(B)$ involving 18 variables. Note that $18 > 1^2 + 2^2 + 3^2$. Since F satisfies the C_2 property, this system has a non-trivial solution. Therefore there exists a common degree 3 field extension in both A and B. Since, this is a strictly maximal subfield of both A and B, it splits both the division algebras A and B.

Without loss of generality, we can assume that F contains the cube roots of unity. By the Merkurjev-Suslin theorem (see [Me-Sus]), any period 3 algebra A is Brauer equivalent to a tensor product of cyclic algebras. Let $A = D_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes D_n$, where each D_i is a cyclic algebra. We will show that ind(A) = 3, by induction on n. If n = 1, there is nothing to prove. Consider the algebra $A' = D_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes D_{n-1}$. By the induction hypothesis, ind(A') = 3. Replace A' with its underlying division algebra D'. Since D and D' have a common degree three splitting field extension, it follows that ind(A) = 3.

2.4.3 Witt exact sequence

The Brauer group of a complete field can be described in terms of the Brauer group of the residue field and the group of characters of the Galois group of the residue field. The Witt exact sequence (see 2.4.24) makes this statement precise. The ramification map, one of the homomorphisms appearing in the sequence, helps in determining whether a given Brauer class over a given field is non-trivial, or equivalently whether a division algebra is split. Usually, one passes to the completion at a suitable place of that field, and shows that the Brauer class is non-trivial there by inspecting its image under the ramification map.

Proposition 2.4.21. Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field k. Assume that char(k) = p. Let α be in Br(K) with period prime to p. Then $\alpha \otimes_F F^{nr} = 0$.

Proof. We will sketch the proof here and refer the reader to [Serre1]. It is sufficient to show that if α is in $\operatorname{Br}(K^{nr})$ with period prime to p, then $\alpha=0$. The main idea is to pass to the maximal prime-to-p extension L/F^{ur} and observe that α should split L, since α has period p and hence should have index a power of p, and therefore cannot be split by a prime to p extension. The advantage in passing to L is that the Galois group $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F^{nr})$ is isomorphic to $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}' = \varprojlim_{(n,p)=1)} \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$. This is because L/F^{nr} is a tamely ramified extension (see [Serre2, Chapter II, Section 4.3]). One then shows that $\operatorname{Br}(L/K^{nr}) \cong \operatorname{H}^2(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}', L^{\times}) \cong \operatorname{H}^2(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}', \mu)$, where μ is the group of roots of unity. The group on the right hand side then vanishes for cohomological dimension reasons.

We will make the same assumption as in the statement of Proposition 2.4.21. Note that the Galois group $Gal(K^{nr}|K)$ can be identified with $Gal(k^{\text{sep}}|k)$. Let U_{nr} be the kernel of the valuation maps. We therefore have the split exact sequence of $Gal(k^{\text{sep}}|k)$ -modules:

$$0 \to U_{nr} \to K^{\times} \xrightarrow{v} \mathbb{Z} \to 0. \tag{2.12}$$

The map $s: \mathbb{Z} \to K^{\times}$ which sends 1 to π , where π is a parameter, defines a splitting of the sequence. The long exact sequence of $\operatorname{Gal}(k^{\operatorname{sep}}|k)$ -modules therefore splits into the following split short exact sequences, for every i > 0:

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^i(k, U_{nr}) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k, K^{\times}) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k, \mathbb{Z}) \to 0.$$

Now consider the exact sequence:

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \to 0.$$

We thus have the following long exact sequence in Galois cohomology:

$$\cdots \to \mathrm{H}^{i-1}(k,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\mathbb{Q}) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \cdots.$$

Now notice that $H^i(G,\mathbb{Q})$ is a \mathbb{Q} vector space and also torsion for a finite group G. Therefore, $H^i(k,\mathbb{Q}) = 0$ since $Gal(k^{\text{sep}}|k)$ is profinite. Therefore, we have:

$$H^{i}(k,\mathbb{Z}) \cong H^{i-1}(k,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}),$$

for i > 1. We record the following technical lemma:

Lemma 2.4.22. For i > 1, we have the following isomorphism:

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}(k, U_{nr}) \cong \mathrm{H}^{i}(k, k^{\mathrm{sep}^{\times}}).$$

Proof. We will show this in the special case when K = k((t)) and char(k) = 0, referring the reader to [Serre1] for the proof in the general case. Note that $K^{nr} = k^{\text{sep}}((t))$ and $U_{nr} = k^{\text{sep}}[[t]]^{\times}$. Observe that there exists a homomorphism $k^{\text{sep}}[[t]]^{\times} \to (k^{\text{sep}})^{\times}$ obtained by sending the formal power series f(t) to f(0). Set $U^1 := 1 + tk^{\text{sep}}[[t]]$. Now, consider the short exact sequence:

$$0 \to U^1 \to k^{\text{sep}}[[t]]^{\times} \to k^{\text{sep}\times} \to 0.$$

To establish the result, it is enough to show that $H^i(k, U^1) = 0$. Note that by Hensel's lemma, it is easy to show that U^1 is a uniquely divisible $Gal(k^{sep}|k)$ -module. Therefore, U^1 has the structure of a \mathbb{Q} -vector space. This establishes the claim.

We will denote the prime-to-p part of the Brauer group of a field K by Br(K)', and $Hom_{cont}(Gal(k^{sep}|k), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})'$ will denote the prime-to-p part of the group of continuous characters of the Galois group $Gal(k^{sep}|k)$. Putting together the above discussion, we obtain:

Theorem 2.4.23 (Witt). Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field k. Suppose that char(k) = p. Then, we have the following split exact sequence:

$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(k)' \to \operatorname{Br}(K)' \xrightarrow{\partial_v} \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(\operatorname{Gal}(k^{\operatorname{sep}}|k)\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})' \to 0. \tag{2.13}$$

Proof. Note that $H^2(\Gamma_k, K^{\times}) \cong Br(K^{nr}|K)$. By Proposition 2.4.21, it follows that $Br(K)' \cong H^2(k, K^{\times})'$. Finally since \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} is a trivial $Gal(k^{sep}|k)$ -module, $H^1(k, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$ can be identified with $Hom_{cont}(Gal(k^{sep}|k), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$.

In fact, we also have the following generalization of (2.13). We will however not prove it here. The main ideas used in the proof, to a great extent, are contained in obtaining Theorem 2.4.23.

Theorem 2.4.24. Let n > 1 be coprime to the char(k). For i, j > 0, we have the following split exact sequence:

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{i}(k, \mu_{n}^{\otimes j}) \to \mathrm{H}^{i}(K, \mu_{n}^{\otimes j}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{v}^{i}} \mathrm{H}^{i-1}(k, \mu_{n}^{\otimes (j-1)}) \to 0. \tag{2.14}$$

Proof. See [G-S, Corollary 6.8.8].
$$\Box$$

The map ∂_v^i is called the ramification map. For i=2 and j=1, the map ∂_v^2 : ${}_n \operatorname{Br}(K) \to \operatorname{H}^1(k,\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})$ can be described explicitly on Brauer classes of cyclic algebras as $\partial_v^2([(\chi,\pi)]) = \chi$. For i=j=1, the ramification map can be identified with valuation mod n: $K^\times/K^{\times n} \stackrel{v}{\to} \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$. Thus the ramification map can be thought of as a higher cohomological analogue of the valuation map. This also justifies the term "ramification" since for a in $K^\times/K^{\times n}$, the fact that mod n valuation v(a) equals 0 implies that the extension $K(\sqrt[n]{a})/K$ is unramified. Analogous to this, if the ramification of a Brauer class is trivial at a discrete valuation, then by Theorem 2.4.23, the class can be specialized uniquely to the residue field. In this sense, the ramification map determines whether a Brauer class can be locally specialized.

Let F be the function field of a smooth projective variety X, and α be an element in Br(F). The codimension one points of X provide discrete valuations of F. The ramification maps at these discrete valuations, help in determining whether α can be specialized at the residue fields of these codimension one points. The subgroup of unramified Brauer classes of X is a very useful birational invariant. It has been used to produce counterexamples of unirational varieties that are not rational (see [CT]).

Proposition 2.4.25. Let L/K be an extension of complete discretely valued fields with ramification index e. Let l/k be the corresponding extension of residue fields. We assume as before that char(k) is coprime to n. Then the following diagram is commutative:

$$H^{2}(K, \mu_{n}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{v}} H^{1}(k, \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})$$

$$\downarrow^{res_{L/K}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{e \ res_{l/k}}$$

$$H^{2}(L, \mu_{n}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{v}} H^{1}(l, \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}).$$
(2.15)

Proof. See [CT, Proposition 3.3.1].

One can compute the Brauer group of local fields using the Witt exact sequence. Although we have established it away from the characteristic of the residue field, by modifying the proof suitably, one obtains the following computation of Brauer groups of nonarchimedean local fields:

Example 2.4.26. 1. Let K be the completion of a number field at a nonarchimedean place (so a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p). Then the ramification map gives the isomorphism:

$$\operatorname{Br}(K) \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

2. Let K be the completion of a function field of a smooth curve over a finite field (so isomorphic to $\mathbb{F}_q((t))$). Then the ramification map gives the isomorphism:

$$\operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{F}_q((t))) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}.$$

The isomorphisms follow from the Witt exact sequence and the fact that the residue fields in both cases is a finite field, and thus has trivial Brauer group. Recall that the absolute Galois group of a finite field is $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}} = \varprojlim \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$. We claim that $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$. Let θ be the canonical, topological generator of $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}$, i.e., the closure of the subgroup of $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}$ generated by θ equals $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}$. Let f be in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$. Define the map ev: $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{cont}}(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ such that $ev(f) = f(\theta)$. This map is injective since if for some f, $f(\theta) = 0$ then f vanishes on the subgroup generated by θ . Since this subgroup is dense in $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}$ and f is continuous, it follows that f = 0. Thus the map defined above is injective. For surjectivity: if μ is an element in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} , we obtain a map $f: \widehat{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ such that $f(\theta) = \mu$.

Theorem 2.4.27. Let F be a nonarchimedean local field. For α in Br(F), $per(\alpha) = ind(\alpha)$. In other words, Brd(F) = 1.

Proof. By the primary decomposition theorem, we may assume that $per(\alpha)$ is ℓ primary for a prime ℓ . Using Lemma 2.4.8, we may further assume that $per(\alpha) = \ell$. Let k be the residue field of F. Note that k is a finite field. Let χ be the ramification of α with the corresponding cyclic extension ℓ/k . Let ℓ/K be the unramified lift of ℓ/k . Since

Ker(χ) = Gal($k^{\text{sep}}|l$), $\chi|\Gamma_l$ = 0 and therefore by the commutativity of diagram (2.15), $\alpha \otimes L$ = 0. From this it follows that, $ind(\alpha)$ divides ℓ . Since α is non-trivial and ℓ is a prime, $ind(\alpha) = \ell$.

The following proposition is an exercise in [G-S]. It can be seen as a generalization of the above theorem. It will be used in Proposition 2.4.29 in this section, and a couple of times later as well.

Proposition 2.4.28. Let $\alpha = \alpha_0 + (\chi, \pi)$ be a class in Br(K) with period ℓ coprime to p, where α_0 is a class in Br(k) and χ is a character of Γ_k . Let m/k be the cyclic extension of degree ℓ corresponding to χ Then,

$$ind(\alpha) = \ell \cdot ind(\alpha_0 \otimes m).$$

Proof. Let M/K be the unramified lift of m/k. Observe that M/K splits α_0 . If M'/M is a splitting field of $\alpha_0 \otimes M$, then the extension M'/K splits α . Therefore $\ell \cdot ind(\alpha_0 \otimes m)$ divides $ind(\alpha)$. Thus it suffices to show that $ind(\alpha)$ divides $\ell \cdot ind(\alpha_0 \otimes m)$.

Now let L/K be any splitting field of α with residue field extension l/k, and ramification index e. Let K'/K be the largest unramified extension in L/K. By the commutativity of the diagram (2.15), and the fact that L/K splits α , it follows that $0 = \partial(\alpha \otimes L) = e \cdot \chi | \Gamma_l$. If e is coprime to ℓ , $\Gamma_l \subseteq \mathrm{Ker}(\chi) = \Gamma_m$. This implies that $m \subseteq l$ and hence $M \subseteq K'$. Note that $\alpha \otimes M = \alpha_0 \otimes M$. Since L/M splits $\alpha \otimes M$, it splits $\alpha_0 \otimes M$. Thus $ind(\alpha_0 \otimes m)$ divides [L:M]. Therefore, $\ell \cdot ind(\alpha_0 \otimes m)$ divides [L:M][M:K] = [L:K].

If ℓ divides e, then note that ℓ divides [L:K']. We claim that K' splits $\alpha_0 \otimes M$. Since K'/K is the largest unramified extension in L, the residue fields of K' and L are the same. Therefore, the reduction of $\alpha_0 \otimes K'$ to the residue field is trivial since L splits $\alpha_0 \otimes K'$. Thus, $\alpha_0 \otimes K' = 0$. Thus, $ind(\alpha_0 \otimes m)$ divides [K':M]. From this, it follows that $\ell \cdot ind(\alpha_0 \otimes m)$ divides [L:K]. Since $\ell \cdot ind(\alpha_0 \otimes m)$ divides the degree of any splitting field, $\ell \cdot ind(\alpha_0 \otimes m)$ divides $ind(\alpha)$ by Theorem 2.4.3.

One needs to restrict to "nice" fields to answer Question 1 (see Subsection 2.4.1). As we see below in Proposition 2.4.29, one can construct Brauer classes of arbitrary high

index.

Proposition 2.4.29. Let F be a purely transcendental function field in countably many variables over \mathbb{C} . Then there exists a family of Brauer classes $\{\alpha_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ such that $ind(\alpha_i) = 2^i$ for every $i \geq 1$.

Proof. Let $F = \mathbb{C}(x_1, y_1, x_2, y_2, \cdots)$. Define α_i to be the sum of i Quaternion algebras:

$$\alpha_i \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^i (x_j, y_j).$$

We need to show that $ind(\alpha_i) = 2^i$. We will show this by induction on i. For i = 1, we first need to show that $\alpha_1 = (x_1, y_1)$ is a division algebra. Since it is a quaternion algebra, it suffices to show that it is not split. We will show that α_1 is not split by passing to a larger field: $F_1 := \mathbb{C}(x_2, y_2, \cdots)((x_1))((y_1))$. The ramification of α_1 over this field is $\partial(x_1, y_1) = (x_1)$, where (x_1) denotes the square class of x_1 in the residue field $\mathbb{C}(x_2, y_2, \cdots)((x_1))$. Since the valuation of x_1 is 1, the square class (x_1) is nonzero. Thus (x_1, y_1) is not split. In fact, we have shown that (x_1, y_1) is not split on $\mathbb{C}(x_1, y_1)$.

By the induction hypothesis, $ind(\alpha_{d-1}) = 2^{d-1}$. Note that $\alpha_d = \alpha_{d-1} + (x_d, y_d)$. Let

$$F_d := \mathbb{C}(x_1, y_1, \dots, x_{d-1}, y_{d-1}, x_{d+1}, y_{d+1}, \dots)((x_d))((y_d))$$

with residue field K_d . By Proposition 2.4.28, $ind(\alpha_d \otimes F_d) = 2 \ ind(\alpha_{d-1} \otimes K_d(\sqrt{x_d}))$. Note that the residue field of $K_d(\sqrt{x_d})$ is $\mathbb{C}(x_1, y_1, \dots, x_{d-1}, y_{d-1}, x_{d+1}, y_{d+1}, \dots)$ and α_{d-1} is unramified on $K_d(\sqrt{x_d})$. Thus, again using Proposition 2.4.28, $ind(\alpha_{d-1} \otimes K_d(\sqrt{x_d})) = ind(\alpha_{d-1}) = 2^{d-1}$. Thus $ind(\alpha_d \otimes F_d) = 2^d$. Note that $ind(\alpha_d)$ divides 2^d since $\alpha_d = \alpha_{d-1} + (x_d, y_d)$. Also, $ind(\alpha_d \otimes F_d)$ divides $ind(\alpha_d)$, i.e., 2^d divides $ind(\alpha_d)$. Therefore $ind(\alpha_d) = 2^d$.

Proposition 2.4.28 also helps in constructing Brauer classes of high index over function fields of varieties. The following proposition is a generalization of another exercise in [G-S] suggested by Colliot-Thélène.

Theorem 2.4.30. Let F be a field having $char(F) \neq 2$. Assume that the dimension of the \mathbb{F}_2 -vector space $F^{\times}/(F^{\times})^2$ is at least d. Then there exists a Brauer class α in $Br(F(x_1, \dots, x_d))$ with $ind(\alpha) = 2^d$.

Proof. Let $\{a_1, \dots, a_d\}$ be a linearly independent set in the \mathbb{F}_2 -vector space $F^{\times}/(F^{\times})^2$. Consider the Brauer class

$$\alpha_d = \sum_{i=1}^d (x_i, a_i)$$

We will show by induction on d that $ind(\alpha_d) = 2^d$. For d = 1, it suffices to show that the Brauer class (a_1, x_1) is not split. Computing the residue at the valuation on $F((x_1))$: $\partial(a_1, x_1) = (a_1)$, we see that it is non-zero.

Let $F_d := F(x_1, \dots, x_{d-1})((x_d))$ and K_{d-1} be its residue field. By Proposition 2.4.28, $ind(\alpha_d \otimes F_d) = 2 ind(\alpha_{d-1} \otimes K_{d-1}(\sqrt{a_d}))$. By the induction hypothesis, $ind(\alpha_{d-1} \otimes K_{d-1}) = 2^{d-1}$. Note that $\{a_1, \dots, a_{d-1}\}$ is linearly independent over the group of square classes of $L := F(\sqrt{a_d})$, i.e., $L^*/(L^*)^2$. Therefore, $ind(\alpha_d) = 2^d$.

2.4.4 Brauer dimension of global fields

Now that the local picture is clear, a natural question arises: can we compute the Brauer group of global fields? Or more generally, can we compute Brauer groups of function fields of curves over any field? We will sketch an answer for F(t) in the form of the Faddeev exact sequence. We will also state the Albert-Brauer-Hasse-Noether (ABNH) theorem which computes the Brauer group of global fields. The ABHN theorem (see Theorem 2.4.35) will also help us in computing the Brauer dimension of number fields.

We observed that the Witt exact sequence is a higher cohomological analogue of the short exact sequence in 2.12.

We will denote the projective line over a perfect field k by \mathbb{P}^1_k . Since k is perfect, the separable closure of k, k^{sep} equals its algebraic closure \bar{k} .

To compute the Brauer group of k(t), we start by mimicking the proof, as a first step. There is a "globalized" form of this short exact sequence of Galois modules.

$$0 \to \bar{k}(t)^{\times}/\bar{k}^{\times} \to \operatorname{Div}(\mathbb{P}^{1}_{\bar{k}}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{deg}} \mathbb{Z} \to 0.$$

Note that this sequence is split, where the splitting map is defined by sending 1 to a rational point. Therefore the long exact sequence breaks into the following split short

exact sequences for every $i \ge 1$:

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^i(k, \bar{k}(t)^\times/\bar{k}^\times) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k, \mathrm{Div}(\mathbb{P}^1_{\bar{k}})) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k, \mathbb{Z}) \to 0.$$

Now consider the following exact sequence of $Gal(\bar{k}|k)$ -modules:

$$0 \to \bar{k}^{\times} \to \bar{k}(t)^{\times} \to \bar{k}(t)^{\times}/\bar{k}^{\times} \to 0.$$

Therefore, we have the following long exact sequence:

$$\cdots \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\bar{k}^\times) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\bar{k}(t)^\times) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\bar{k}(t)^\times/\bar{k}^\times) \to \cdots$$

The map $H^i(k, \bar{k}^{\times}) \to H^i(k, \bar{k}(t)^{\times})$ can be shown to be injective (see [G-S, Corollary 6.4.6]). Thus, one obtains the following exact sequence:

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\bar{k}^\times) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\bar{k}(t)^\times) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\mathrm{Div}(\mathbb{P}^1_{\bar{k}})) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\mathbb{Z}) \to 0.$$

We shall make the last two terms of the sequence more familiar.

Note that we have the following isomorphism of Galois modules

$$\operatorname{Div}(\mathbb{P}^{1}_{\bar{k}}) \cong \bigoplus_{P \in \mathbb{P}^{1}_{\bar{k}}} (\bigoplus_{Q \mapsto P} \mathbb{Z}).$$

For a closed point P in \mathbb{P}^1_k , the notation $Q \mapsto P$ means that Q lies over the point P under the projection map $\mathbb{P}^1_{\bar{k}} \to \mathbb{P}^1_k$. Therefore we have the following identification:

$$\mathrm{H}^i(k,\mathrm{Div}(\mathbb{P}^1_{\bar{k}}))\cong\bigoplus_{P\in\mathbb{P}^1_k}\mathrm{H}^i(k,\bigoplus_{Q\mapsto P}\mathbb{Z}).$$

Let $\{Q \mapsto P\}$ denote the set of closed points Q in $\mathbb{P}^1_{\bar{k}}$ in the preimage of P under the projection map. Note that the cardinality of $\{Q \mapsto P\}$ equals [k(P):k]. Since k(P)/K is a separable field extension (since k is perfect), [k(P):k] equals the number of distinct coset representatives of $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{k}|k(P))$ in $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{k}|k)$. Using this fact, one can show that we have the following isomorphism (see [G-S, Lemma 6.4.1])

$$M_{k(P)}^k(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \bigoplus_{Q\mapsto P} \mathbb{Z},$$

where $M_{k(P)}^k(\mathbb{Z})$ is the coinduced module of the $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{k}|k(P))$ -module \mathbb{Z} (see the discussion before Lemma 2.3.1 for the definition of coinduced modules). Therefore, we have

made the following identifications for $i \geq 2$:

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}(k,\mathrm{Div}(\mathbb{P}_{\bar{k}}^{1}))\cong\bigoplus_{P\in\mathbb{P}_{\bar{k}}^{1}}\mathrm{H}^{i}(k(P),\mathbb{Z})\cong\bigoplus_{P\in\mathbb{P}_{\bar{k}}^{1}}\mathrm{H}^{i-1}(k(P),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}).$$

We thus obtain:

Theorem 2.4.31 (Faddeev). For $i \ge 1$, we have the following exact sequence:

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\bar{k}^\times) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\bar{k}(t)^\times) \xrightarrow{\oplus \partial_P} \bigoplus_{P \in \mathbb{P}^1} \mathrm{H}^{i-1}(k(P),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\Sigma \mathrm{Cor}} \mathrm{H}^{i-1}(k,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to 0.$$

The map in the middle is the direct sum of the ramification maps at places coming from closed points. There are still a couple of things to check here. For example, why can we identify the last two maps with $\oplus \partial_P$ and $\sum \operatorname{Cor}$? We refer the reader to [G-S, Theorem 6.4.4] for this.

We also have a version of the Faddeev exact sequence with finite coefficients:

Theorem 2.4.32. Let m > 1 be an integer coprime to the characteristic of k. Then for i, j > 0, we have the following exact sequence:

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^i(k,\mu_m^{\otimes j}) \to \mathrm{H}^i(k(t),\mu_m^{\otimes j}) \to \bigoplus_{P \in \mathbb{A}^1_k} \mathrm{H}^{i-1}(k(P),\mu_m^{\otimes (j-1)}) \to 0.$$

This comes close to the function field (over finite field) analogue of the Albert-Brauer-Hasse-Noether Theorem (although we have only established it for function field of a projective line). In view of the isomorphism 2.4.26 which we obtained using the Witt exact sequence, the middle term can be identified with the Brauer group of local fields of positive characteristic.

Theorem 2.4.33 (Hasse). Let F be the function field of a smooth curve C over a finite field. Then the following sequence is exact:

$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(K) \to \bigoplus_{P \in C_0} \operatorname{Br}(\widehat{K_P}) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \to 0.$$
 (2.16)

As a Corollary, we can compute the Brauer dimension of function fields of curves over finite fields: Corollary 2.4.34. Let F be the function field of a smooth curve C over a finite field. Let ℓ be a prime not equal to the characteristic of K. Then $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) = 1$.

Proof. In view of Lemma 2.4.8, it is sufficient to compute the indices of Brauer classes of prime period. Let K/F be a finite field extension. Let ℓ be a prime not equal to the characteristic of F and α be a Brauer class in Br(K) of period ℓ . Let $Ram(\alpha)$ be the finite set of closed points P in C such that $\alpha \otimes \widehat{K}_P \neq 0$. By Theorem 2.4.27, the index of $\alpha \otimes \widehat{K}_P$ equals ℓ for every P in $Ram(\alpha)$. Let $\widehat{L}_P/\widehat{K}_P$ be a degree ℓ extension splitting α locally. By weak approximation and Krasner's lemma, one can construct a global field extension L/K such that $L \otimes_K \widehat{K}_P \cong \widehat{L}_P$. Note that L is the function field of the normalization of C in L. By construction of L, α splits over every completion of L. Therefore, $\alpha \otimes L = 0$. Since L/K has degree ℓ , it follows that $Brd_{\ell}(F) = 1$.

Note that the we have only used the Hasse principle part of the exact sequence (2.16) in the above proof, namely the injectivity of the first map. Using the Albert-Brauer-Hasse-Noether Theorem, one can show that the period of every Brauer class equals its index, provided that it is ramified at only archimedean places. This establishes the fact that $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) = 1$ for totally imaginary number fields. However, to complete the computation, we have to deal with archimedean completions also. To get around this, we will state the Grunwald–Wang theorem and use it show, not only that the Brauer dimension of number fields is 1, but also that every central simple algebra over a number field is cyclic. At this point, let us state the Albert-Brauer-Hasse-Noether theorem:

Theorem 2.4.35 (Albert-Brauer-Hasse-Noether). Let K be a number field. Let Ω_K denote the set of places of K. Then the following sequence is exact:

$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(K) \to \bigoplus_{v \in \Omega_K} \operatorname{Br}(\widehat{K_v}) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \to 0.$$

The proof of this theorem is quite deep, using the full force of Class field theory: Hasse Norm Theorem, the Artin reciprocity Law and Chebotarev density theorem. Since we only need the Hasse principle bit in Theorem 2.4.35, and the Grunwald–Wang theorem, we will only sketch proof of the Hasse principle, i.e., the injectivity of the first map in Theorem 2.4.37 below.

Even to show the Hasse principle is quite difficult. One shows it by first establishing an equivalent statement, called the Hasse Norm Theorem. This theorem can be seen as a local global principle for principal homogenous spaces under norm one tori of cyclic extensions.

We will denote the set of valuations of F by Ω_F . We will denote the completion of F at v by F_v (dropping the hat).

Theorem 2.4.36 (Hasse Norm Theorem). Let K/F be a cyclic extension of number fields. Let a be an element of F^{\times} . Suppose that for every completion v, a lies in $N_{K_v/F_v}(K_v^{\times})$. Then a is an element in $N_{K/F}(K^{\times})$.

In view of Example 2.3.8, we see that this is equivalent to the Hasse principle for Brauer classes split by a cyclic extension.

Theorem 2.4.37. Let F be a number field and α in Br(F). If $\alpha \otimes F_v = 0$ for every v in Ω_F . Then $\alpha = 0$.

Proof. As we remarked above, if α is split by a cyclic extension, then the statement follows from Theorem 2.4.36. We will briefly expand on this: since α is split by a cyclic extension, α is Brauer equivalent to a cyclic algebra (χ, b) . Since $(\chi, b) \otimes F_v = 0$, we have that $(\chi_v, b) = 0$, where χ_v denotes the restriction of the character χ to F_v . Since $(\chi_v, b) = 0$, by Example 2.3.8, b is a norm of the cyclic extension corresponding to χ_v . This cyclic extension can be identified with K_v . Therefore b is an element in $N_{K_v/F_v}(K_v^{\times})$ for every v in Ω_F . Thus b is an element in $N_{K/F}(K^{\times})$. Therefore, $(\chi, b) = 0$.

In general, let p be a prime dividing $ind(\alpha)$. Then there exists a field extension E/F such that $\alpha \otimes E$ is cyclic, $ind(\alpha \otimes E) = p$, and $v_p([E:F]) < v_p(ind(\alpha))$. Since $\alpha \otimes F_v = 0$ for every v in Ω_F . Therefore, $(\alpha \otimes E) \otimes E_w = 0$ for every w in Ω_E . Thus, $\alpha \otimes E = 0$. Therefore, $ind(\alpha)$ divides [E:F]. However, since $v_p([E:F]) < v_p(ind(\alpha))$, this is impossible. Thus $\alpha = 0$.

Remark 2.4.38. With some additional work, using the fact that extensions of number

fields are ramified at a finite number of places and the product formula for number fields (see [Pierce]), one can show that every Brauer class is split at all but finitely many places. This finally establishes the injectivity of the first map in Theorem 2.4.35.

We will state the Grunwald-Wang theorem (the version in [Pierce]) and use it later to show that every central simple algebra over a number field is cyclic, and Brauer dimension of number fields equals one.

Theorem 2.4.39. Let F be a number field. Let $\{(v_1, n_1), \dots, (n_k, v_k)\}$ be a set of pairs of natural numbers n_i and valuations v_i . We assume that $n_i = 1$ if v_i is a complex place and $n_i \leq 2$ if v_i is a real place. Then for every n divisible by $lcm\{n_1, \dots, n_k\}$, there exists a cyclic extension K/F of degree n such that n_i divides the degrees of the local extensions $[K_{v_i}: F_{v_i}]$.

Theorem 2.4.40. If F is a number field, then every central simple algebra over F is cyclic, and $Brd_{\ell}(F) = 1$ for every prime ℓ .

Proof. Let D/F be a division algebra of degree n with Brauer class α . Let $\operatorname{Ram}(\alpha) = \{v_1, \dots, v_k\}$ be the set of places v where $\alpha \otimes F_v \neq 0$. Note that by $\operatorname{Remark} 2.4.38$, $\operatorname{Ram}(\alpha)$ is a finite set. Define $n_i := \operatorname{ind}(\alpha \otimes F_{v_i})$ for each v_i in $\operatorname{Ram}(\alpha)$. Set $m := \operatorname{lcm}\{n_1, \dots, n_k\}$. Note that n_i divides $\operatorname{deg}(D)$, and therefore m divides n. By Theorem 2.4.39, there exists a cyclic field extension K/F of degree n such that n_i divides $[K_{v_i}: F_{v_i}]$ for every i from $1, \dots, k$. This means that K/F splits D. Since $\operatorname{deg}(D) = [K:F] = n$, K can be identified with a maximal subfield of D. Therefore, D/F is cyclic.

Again using Theorem 2.4.39, there exists a field extension L/F of degree m such that n_i divides $[L_{v_i}: F_{v_i}]$. Thus, L/F splits α , implying that $ind(\alpha)$ divides m. By what, we have shown in the previous paragraph, $ind(\alpha) = n = m$. If k is the period of α , and since n_i also equals the period of $\alpha \otimes F_{v_i}$ (see Theorem 2.4.27), each n_i divides k. Therefore, m divides k. As a result, $ind(\alpha)$ divides $per(\alpha)$, and we get that $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) = 1$.

Remark 2.4.41. Note that in the course of proving the above theorem, we obtained a formula for $ind(\alpha)$ in terms of local indices:

$$ind(\alpha) = lcm_{v \in \Omega_F}(ind(\alpha \otimes F_v)).$$
 (2.17)

We will later obtain such a formula for function fields of curves over complete discretely valued fields (and therefore, also a local-global principle).

2.5 Some Quadratic Form Theory

We will state a few basic facts about quadratic forms which we will need later. Besides the fact that the algebraic theory of quadratic forms is extremely rich, the Milnor conjectures inform us that there is a deep relationship between quadratic forms over a field and the Galois cohomology of the field, and therefore also the arithmetic of the field.

Definition 2.5.1. Let F be a field and V be a finite dimensional vector space on F. A quadratic form is a pair (V, q) where q is a map $q: V \to F$ satisfying the following properties:

- 1. $q(\lambda v) = \lambda^2 v$ for every λ in F and v in V.
- 2. The pairing $b_q: V \times V \to F$ given by $b_q(v, w) = q(v+w) q(v) q(w)$ is a symmetric bilinear pairing.

We say that q/F is non-degenerate if the pairing b_q is non-degenerate. Note also that if $char(F) \neq 2$ (which will most often be the case for us), there is a one to one correspondence between quadratic forms and symmetric bilinear forms: given a symmetric bilinear form b, one can obtain a quadratic form q(v) := b(v, v)/2. One can check that the corresponding bilinear form of this quadratic form is b itself. Thus, we will not distinguish between quadratic forms and symmetric bilinear forms.

Let us choose a basis for V, say $\{e_1, \dots, e_n\}$. Let $G_b := [b(e_i, e_j)]$ be the Gram matrix associated to the symmetric bilinear form b. If X and Y are the column matrices associated to the vectors x and y, then one sees that $b(x, y) = XG_bY^T$. Thus after choosing a basis for V, we can associate to a quadratic form, a degree two homogenous polynomial with coefficients in the field F. Let $\{e'_1, \dots, e'_n\}$ be another basis. Then the new homogenous polynomial is related to the old homogenous polynomial by a change of variable given by the change of basis matrix. Thus we can think of quadratic forms

as degree two homogenous polynomials up to an equivalence.

Since we are assuming that $char(F) \neq 2$, a standard Gram-Schmidt process allows us to choose an orthogonal basis. Therefore, the Gram matrix is a diagonal matrix. After choosing, such a basis, we use the following convenient notation for quadratic forms: $q = \langle a_1, \dots, a_n \rangle$ where the a_i are the diagonal entries of the Gram matrix with respect to the orthogonal basis. In this case, the corresponding homogenous polynomial is given by $q(x_1, \dots, x_n) = a_1 x_1^2 + \dots + a_n x_n^2$.

Definition 2.5.2. Let q/F be a quadratic form with underlying vector space V. We say that q is *isotropic* if there exists a non-zero vector v in V such that q(v) = 0. Otherwise, we say that q is *anisotropic*.

Note that a quadratic form q defines a degree two hypersurface in $\mathbb{P}(V)$. We see this quite easily: if we choose a basis for V (i.e., coordinates on $\mathbb{P}(V)$), then the vanishing locus of the degree two homogenous polynomial is the hypersurface. To say that q is isotropic is the same as saying that the corresponding hypersurface has a rational point.

If (V,q) and (W,p) are two quadratic forms, then we define their orthogonal sum to be a quadratic form written as $q \perp p$, with underlying vector space $V \oplus W$ satisfying $(q \perp p)(v,w) = q(v) + p(w)$. If $q = \langle a_1, \dots, a_n \rangle$ and $p = \langle b_1, \dots, b_m \rangle$, then $q \perp p$ is given by $q \perp p = \langle a_1, \dots, a_n, b_1, \dots, b_m \rangle$.

There is a distinguished two dimensional quadratic form, called the *hyperbolic plane*. We may define it as the nondegenerate two dimensional form $\mathbb{H} = \langle 1, -1 \rangle$ (this is not the most satisfactory definition). The reason why hyperbolic planes are special is that they are subforms of isotropic quadratic forms.

Theorem 2.5.3. If q/F is a non-degenerate quadratic form, then

$$q \cong q_{an} \perp n\mathbb{H},$$

where q_{an} is an anisotropic form and $n \ge 0$ is some non-negative integer. Here $n\mathbb{H}$ denotes the orthogonal sum of n copies of \mathbb{H} .

We will call q_{an} , the anisotropic kernel of q. The integer n also has a name:

Definition 2.5.4. We define the Witt index of a quadratic form q/F to be the largest integer n such that $n\mathbb{H}$ is a subform of q. We will denote the Witt index of q by $i_W(q)$.

The Witt index is a measure of the extent that a given quadratic form is isotropic. It turns out that the Witt index $i_W(q)$ is the dimension of the largest isotropic subspace in the underlying vector space of q (see [Lam]).

We can define an arithmetic invariant of a field coming from the isotropy properties of quadratic forms. It is yet another measure of how hard it is for polynomial equations to have solutions.

Definition 2.5.5. Let F be a field. The u-invariant of F, denoted by u(F) is the supremum of the dimensions of non-degenerate anisotropic forms over F.

Thus any form with dimension greater than u(F) is isotropic. Notice that if F satisfies the C_i property, then $u(F) \leq 2^i$. Therefore, if F is the function field of a d-dimensional variety over a separably closed field, then $u(F) \leq 2^d$. Since finite fields are C_1 (see Theorem 2.4.10), if F is the function field of a d-dimensional variety over a finite field (of characteristic not 2), $u(F) \leq 2^{d+1}$. A natural question in analogy with Question 1 (see subsection 2.4.1) arises: when F is the function field of a variety over a "nice" field, can we compute the u-invariant? Is it always a power of 2 for these nice fields? This is an open problem. It has been conjectured that the u-invariant of function fields of curves over totally imaginary number fields, such as $\mathbb{Q}(i)(x)$, is 8.

There has been much progress on the u-invariants of function fields of varieties over non-archimedian local fields. The first significant step in this direction is a result of Parimala-Suresh (see [Pa-Su1]) where they compute the u-invariant of function fields of curves over p-adic fields to be 8. Independently, Harbater-Hartmann-Krashen, using their field patching technique compute the u-invariant of function fields of curves over complete discretely valued fields (see [HHK09]). In particular, they compute that the u-invariant of function fields of curves over m-local fields is 2^{m+2} . We will prove this fact using patching, but by a slightly different method in a later chapter (see Corollary 4.3.3). The u-invariant for function fields of higher dimensional varieties over p-adic

fields was computed by Leep in [Leep] using a theorem of Heath-Brown on systems of quadratic forms over p-adic fields. These results however have been shown when the characteristic of the residue field is not equal to 2. In the bad, mixed characteristic setting, Parimala-Suresh in another paper show that the u-invariant of curves over dyadic fields is also 8.

It is not even known, whether the u-invariant of function fields of curves over totally imaginary number fields is finite. Using Proposition 5.4.16 and a recent result of Suresh (see [Su]), one can show that the finiteness of u-invariant of function fields in one variable over totally imaginary number fields is equivalent to the finiteness of their Brauer 2-dimension.

One can compute u-invariants of complete discretely valued fields using Hensel's lemma. If F is a complete discretely valued field with parameter π , and q/F is a quadratic form, then we may write $q \cong q_1 \perp \pi q_2$, where q_1 and q_2 has units as entries in the ring of integers R. We will need the following weak analogue of the Witt exact sequence for that.

Proposition 2.5.6. Let F be a complete discretely valued field with parameter π and residue field k. Let q/F be a non-degenerate quadratic form with $q = q_1 \perp \pi q_2$, where q_1 and q_2 have units as entries in the ring of integers of F. The form q/F is isotropic if and only if either of the reductions, $\overline{q_1}/k$ or $\overline{q_2}/k$ is isotropic.

Proof. Suppose that q/F is isotropic, and both $\overline{q_1}/k$ and $\overline{q_2}/k$ are isotropic. Then there exist vectors v and w such that $q_1(v) + \pi q_2(w) = 0$. Since, q_1 and q_2 are homogenous, at least one of v and w are primitive. Reducing modulo π , we get that $\overline{q_1}(\overline{v}) = 0$. Since, $\overline{q_1}/k$ is anisotropic, $\overline{v} = 0$. This means that there exists a vector u such that $v = \pi u$. Thus, we get that $\pi^2 q_1(u) + \pi q_2(w) = 0$. Therefore, $\pi q_1(u) + q_2(w) = 0$. Again reducing modulo π , we get that $\overline{q_2}(\overline{w}) = 0$. Since $\overline{q_2}/k$ is anisotropic, $\overline{w} = 0$. But this implies that w is not primitive, a contradiction.

Now suppose that $\overline{q_1}/k$ is isotropic. We will show that q_1/F is isotropic. Let \overline{v} be a non-zero isotropic vector for $\overline{q_1}/k$. Let v be a lift of \overline{v} in F. Choose a basis $\{v_1, \dots, v_n\}$ for

 q_1 . With respect to this basis, we may regard q_1 as a degree two homogenous polynomial in variables x_1, \dots, x_n . Let b_{q_1} be the bilinear form corresponding to q_1 . Note that $\partial \overline{q_1}/\partial x_i(\overline{v}) = b_{q_1}(\overline{v}, \overline{v_i})$. Since b_{q_1} is non-degenerate, there exists i such that $b_{q_1}(\overline{v}, \overline{v_i}) \neq 0$. By Hensel's lemma, this implies that $q_1(v) = 0$.

The above proposition shows that u(F) = 4 when F is a nonarchimedean local field. As a consequence, using the Hasse-Minkowski theorem, one can compute the u-invariant of global fields with no real embeddings.

Theorem 2.5.7. If F is a totally imaginary number field, or function field of a curve over a finite field, then u(F) = 4.

Proof. Let q/F be a non-degenerate quadratic form with $\dim(q) \geq 5$. By the above proposition, $q \otimes F_v$ is isotropic for every completion F_v . Therefore by the Hasse-Minkowski theorem, q/F is isotropic. This shows that $u(F) \leq 4$. Note that every global field admits a non-trivial quaternion algebra over F. The norm form of a non-trivial quaternion algebra over F is a four dimensional anisotropic quadratic form. This shows that u(F) = 4.

We will now briefly introduce the Witt ring and some facts about Pfister forms which we will need later. The following Theorem is proved in [Lam].

Theorem 2.5.8 (Witt cancellation). Let q, p, p' be non-degenerate quadratic forms over F. Suppose that $q \perp p \cong q \perp p'$. Then $p \cong p'$.

The theorem says that the monoid M(F) of isometry classes of quadratic forms under orthogonal sum is a cancellative monoid. Recall that one can form the Grothendieck group of M(F) defined by an equivalence relation on $M(F) \times M(F)$ as: $(p_1, q_1) \sim (p_2, q_2)$ if and only if $p_1 \perp q_2 \cong p_2 \perp q_1$. This group is called the *Grothendieck-Witt group* and is denoted by GW(F). Note that under tensor product, GW(F) also has a commutative ring structure. Henceforth, we will refer to GW(F) as the *Grothendieck-Witt ring*. Note that the group generated by \mathbb{H} is an ideal in GW(F). In view of Theorem 2.5.3, we may as well replace quadratic forms by their anisotropic parts. This is reflected by

quotienting GW(F) by its ideal $\mathbb{Z}[\mathbb{H}]$. The ring that we obtain is denoted by W(F).

$$W(F) \coloneqq \mathrm{GW}(F)/\mathbb{Z}[\mathbb{H}].$$

This ring is called the Witt-ring of F. Observe that, $\langle -a \rangle = -\langle a \rangle$ in W(F). By Theorem 2.5.8, anisotropic forms are in one to one correspondence with elements in W(F). Observe that if a quadratic form is a sum of hyperbolic planes, then its class is the 0 element in W(F). We will call such quadratic forms split.

The Witt ring has an important filtration by powers of a special ideal I(F), called the fundamental ideal. Note that we have a ring homomorphism $W(F) \to \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, taking a class of q to dim(q) mod 2. By Theorem 2.5.3, this is a well defined homomorphism. The fundamental ideal I(F) is the kernel of this homomorphism, and consists of classes of even dimensional quadratic forms. Notice that in W(F), any class of a binary form $\langle a,b\rangle$ can be written as $\langle a,b\rangle = \langle 1,a\rangle - \langle 1,-b\rangle$. Thus I(F) is additively generated by binary forms: $\langle 1,-a\rangle$. The form $\langle 1,-a\rangle$ determines the square class (a) in $F^*/(F^*)^2$. And conversely, a square class (a) gives rise to a quadratic field extension $F(\sqrt{a})/F$, and the norm form of $F(\sqrt{a})/F$ is the quadratic form $\langle 1,-a\rangle$. In fact, we have the following isomorphism due to Pfister (see [Lam] for a proof):

$$\frac{I(F)}{I^2(F)} \xrightarrow{\sim} F^{\times}/(F^{\times})^2.$$

This maps the class of an even dimensional form to its signed discriminant.

Observe that $I^2(F)$ is additively generated by forms of the shape $\langle 1, -a \rangle \otimes \langle 1, -b \rangle$. Such forms are norm forms of quaternion algebras (a,b). This suggests that there must be a relationship between $I^2(F)$ and ${}_2\operatorname{Br}(F)$. In fact, the suggestion is to look at the following filtration:

$$W(F) \supseteq I(F) \supseteq I^2(F) \supseteq I^3(F) \supseteq \cdots$$

and the associated graded ring since there could be a relationship between the Galois cohomology ring with μ_2 coefficients and this graded ring. It was conjectured by Milnor that these graded rings are isomorphic. Milnor's conjecture was finally proved by Orlov-Vishik-Voevodsky in [OVV]. The following deep theorem of Merkurjev shows that the degree two terms of the graded rings are isomorphic.

Theorem 2.5.9 (Merkurjev). Let F be a field with $char(F) \neq 2$. We have the following group isomorphism:

$$\frac{I^2(F)}{I^3(F)} \xrightarrow{\sim} {}_2\operatorname{Br}(F),$$

which sends the generator $(1,-a) \otimes (1,-b)$ to the Brauer class [(a,b)].

This theorem tells us in particular that $_2\operatorname{Br}(F)$ is generated by classes of quaternion algebras. In fact, the surjectivity of this map is the most difficult part of the proof. The above theorem and Pfister's theorem suggests that the additive generators of $I^n(F)$ should correspond to the cup products of elements in $H^1(F, \mu_2)$. These quadratic forms are called *Pfister forms*:

Definition 2.5.10. An n-fold Pfister form q over F is a quadratic form of the following shape:

$$q = \langle 1, -a_1 \rangle \otimes \langle 1, -a_2 \rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes \langle 1, -a_n \rangle.$$

We will denote the set of non-zero values of a quadratic form q over a field F by $D_F(q)$. If q/F is isotropic, then $\langle 1, -1 \rangle$ is a subform by Theorem 2.5.3. For any a in F^{\times} , observe that $\langle 1, -1 \rangle \cong \langle a, -a \rangle$. Therefore, a is a value of q. To summarize: if q is isotropic, then $D_F(q) = F^{\times}$.

Note that if q/F is a Pfister form, 1 lies in $D_F(q)$. The orthogonal complement of the one dimensional form $\langle 1 \rangle$ is called the pure subform of q and is denoted by q'.

Theorem 2.5.11. Let q/F be an n-fold Pfister form. Suppose that q/F is isotropic, then q/F is split, i.e., a sum of hyperbolic planes.

Proof. Since q/F is isotropic, $\langle 1, -1 \rangle$ is a subform of q. Therefore by Theorem 2.5.8, -1 is a value of the pure subform q'. By the Pure Subform Theorem (see [Lam, Chapter X, Theorem 1.5]), $q \cong \mathbb{H} \otimes p$, for some (n-1)-fold Pfister form. Therefore q is a sum of hyperbolic forms.

Chapter 3

Field Patching

The field patching technique was introduced by Harbater and Hartmann in [HH] to deal with patching problems arising in algebra. It has been extremely successful in dealing with problems concerning central simple algebras, quadratic forms and more generally principal homogenous spaces under a linear algebraic group, over certain types of fields, which may be thought of as function fields of thickenings of curves. These fields are being called *semi-global* in recent times (see Definition 3.0.1).

The main idea is inspired from cut-and-paste techniques in analysis and topology: we are interested in understanding an algebraic structure over a semi-global field. We define over-fields, called patches, coming from the geometry of the semi-global field. The main theorem of field patching says that algebraic structures on these patches that are compatible on their "overlaps" glue together to give a unique global algebraic structure. One therefore obtains a local-global principle: if two algebraic structures are isomorphic on the patches in a compatible sense, then they are isomorphic over the original field.

The technique has been subsequently improved, with many interesting applications by Harbater, Hartmann and Krashen in a series of papers ([HHK09], [HHK15(1)], [HHK15], [HHK15(2)]). Some of the applications include: a solution to the long-standing *u*-invariant problem concerning quadratic forms, computation of Brauer dimension and the group admissibility problem. Furthermore, the technique provides a conceptual explanation of why local global principles for various algebraic structures hold, or do not hold in certain situations.

We are interested in this technique because we would like to give upper bounds to the

Generalized Brauer dimension of semi-global fields in terms of arithmetic invariants of simpler fields. Our approach in this chapter is heavily inspired from Harbater's notes on field patching (see [H]).

Definition 3.0.1. Let K be a complete discretely valued field with residue field k. We say that a field F is semi-global if it is the function field of a regular projective curve over K.

When the characteristic of the residue field is the same as the characteristic of K, all semi-global fields look like finite extensions of k((t))(x) (see [Serre1, section II.4]). In the mixed characteristic situation, good examples to keep in mind are finite extensions of $\mathbb{Q}_p(t)$. This class of examples also explains the terminology "semi-global". Fields of the form $\mathbb{F}_p(t)$ are called global fields. Note that $\mathbb{Q}_p(t)$ is the function field of $\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$. We can view $\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ as an infinitesimal thickening of $\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{F}_p}$. Thus $\mathbb{Q}_p(t)$ is somehow "epsilon more than global", and indeed many arithmetic properties of function fields of curves over the residue field k carry over to the semi-global field, adding to them an additional layer of complexity.

3.1 Patches

Let us start with making the word "thickening" precise. This will also help us in intuitively understanding the ingredients that go in the patching technique a little better.

We follow the maxim: to understand a space, it is enough to understand the set (sheaf) of functions on it. Consider the following example: the two dimensional affine space \mathbb{A}^2_k over a field k is completely determined by the polynomial ring k[x,y]. The point at the origin is determined by the values of polynomials at the origin, or equivalently polynomials up to the ideal (x,y), i.e., k[x,y]/(x,y). The topology of a space is the repository of local information around points. Depending on the information we want, the Zariski topology may not be enough. Suppose we want to know a little bit more around the origin, say in the "horizontal direction". Heuristically, we think of this "bit more" information as a fuzz in the horizontal direction. A good candidate for

the set of functions which captures this "point and fuzz" information would be those functions that have a first-order vanishing in the horizontal direction, namely the ring $k[x,y]/(x^2,y) \cong k[x]/(x^2)$. If we want a little more fuzz, we should look at the ring $k[x,y]/(x^3,y) \cong k[x]/(x^3)$, and so on. Compatibly putting these rings together, we obtain the ring that captures extremely local information in the horizontal direction, viz: the formal power series ring in one variable $\varprojlim k[x]/\langle x^n \rangle = k[[x]]$. This is what we mean by "thickening of the point in the horizontal direction".

With this in mind, we refer to the projective line over k[[t]], $\mathbb{P}^1_{k[[t]]}$, as a thickening of the projective line over k. Note that the function field of $\mathbb{P}^1_{k[[t]]}$ is the semi-global field F := k((t))(x). We want to "break" this field into simpler overfields, so that compatible algebraic structures defined on these overfields glue together. If these fields are to be simpler, they should somehow come from another simple field, where we have some information about these algebraic structures. Assuming we know something about the residue field k and function field in over variable over k, it would be useful to define them by utilizing the special fiber of the projective line $\mathbb{P}^1_{k[[t]]} \to \operatorname{Spec}(k[[t]])$ over the closed point, namely \mathbb{P}^1_k . Divide \mathbb{P}^1_k into the standard open affine set $U := \mathbb{A}^1_k$ and the point at infinity P.

Note that the ring characterizing U inside $\mathbb{P}^1_{k[[t]]}$ may be defined as the set of meromorphic functions in F, that are regular on U, i.e., functions with reduced expression g/h, where g and h are in k[[t]][x] (k[[t]][x] is a UFD) such that h mod t lies in k^{\times} . We will denote this ring by R_U . To thicken R_U in the horizontal direction, we complete it t-adically, and denote this completed ring by $\widehat{R_U}$. Since we are interested in fields, we take the fraction field of $\widehat{R_U}$ and denote it by F_U .

The ring characterizing the point, may be taken to be the stalk of the structure sheaf at P (or equivalently rational functions regular at P), i.e., $R_P := k[[t]][x]_{(t,x)}$. We could thicken this point in the horizontal direction. However we also want the fraction field of thickening of R_P to have some overlap with F_U . Thus we take a "two dimensional thickening" of R_P , namely the completion of R_P at its maximal ideal. As one can check, this completion turns out to be $\widehat{R_P} := k[[t,x]]$. Finally, we take its fraction field

$$F_P = k((t, x)).$$

There is an "overlap" between the thickened fields F_U and F_P , occurring along the branch \wp of the special fiber \mathbb{P}^1_k at P. This branch is given by the ideal (t) in the ring k[[t,x]]. Thus a way to capture this overlap is by taking the localization of $\widehat{R_P}$ at the ideal (t). We will denote this localization by R_{\wp} . Note that R_{\wp} is a discrete valuation ring with residue field k((x)). We will be more careful and complete R_{\wp} at the ideal (t) to get the complete discrete valuation ring $\widehat{R_{\wp}} := k((x))[[t]]$. We will denote its fraction field by F_{\wp} .

We will setup some notation and formally define these over fields F_U , F_P and F_{\wp} for open sets U, closed points P and branches \wp at these closed points lying on the special fiber. We will define them quite generally, i.e., for any regular projective curve over a complete discretely valued field. Note that models of these curves over the complete ring need not be smooth. One can find regular models, and we could work with regular models, however it will be extremely useful to work with just normal models at the expense of complicating matters somewhat. For now, let us fix some notation, which we will stick to throughout unless stated otherwise:

Notation 1. R will denote a complete discretely valued ring with parameter t, residue field k and fraction field K. Let X/K be a regular projective curve. We will denote its function field by F. We will denote normal models of F over R by $\pi: \mathscr{X} \to \operatorname{Spec} R$ or simply by \mathscr{X} .

The scheme \mathscr{X} is projective and flat over $\operatorname{Spec}(R)$, with generic fiber isomorphic to the curve X/K. The special fiber, or the closed fiber is the fiber of the structure morphism π over the closed point (t). It is isomorphic to $\mathscr{X} \times_{\operatorname{Spec} R} \operatorname{Spec} k$, and will be denoted by \mathscr{X}_k .

Note that \mathscr{X}_k need not be reduced. Since we only use the topology of \mathscr{X}_k , we will most often give it the reduced induced subscheme structure. Parimala-Suresh often make the assumption that the original curve X/K is geometrically integral. The advantages of making this assumption is that the morphism $\mathcal{O}_{\operatorname{Spec} R} \to \pi_* \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}$ is an isomorphism.

By Zariski's connectedness principle (see [Liu, Chapter 5, Theorem 3.15]), one may therefore assume that the fiber \mathscr{X}_k is geometrically connected. Further, this also implies that F and \overline{K} are linearly disjoint. We do need connectedness of the closed fiber. It is sufficient to just assume that X/K is geometrically connected.

Let \mathcal{P} be a nonempty finite set of closed points on the special fiber \mathscr{X}_k which include the set of points where distinct irreducible components of \mathscr{X}_k meet. Let \mathcal{U} be the set of irreducible components of the open subscheme $\mathscr{X}_k \setminus \mathcal{P}$. Let \mathcal{B} be the set of branches incident at the points in \mathcal{P} lying on the special fiber. These branches are in one to one correspondence with the set of height one prime ideals of \widehat{R}_P containing the parameter t for every P in \mathcal{P} .

For every U in \mathcal{U} , define R_U to be the ring of rational functions which are regular on U, or equivalently:

$$R_U \coloneqq \bigcap_{Q \in U} \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},Q}.$$

Note that the rational function t vanishes on U. Thus the parameter t is regular on U, and hence lies in R_U . We define $\widehat{R_U}$ to be the t-adic completion of R_U . Let F_U be the fraction field of $\widehat{R_U}$.

For every P in \mathcal{P} , define \widehat{R}_P to be the completion of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$ at its maximal ideal. Note that since $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$ is a normal, excellent domain, \widehat{R}_P is a normal domain (see [Liu, Chapter 8, Proposition 2.41]).

For every branch \wp in \mathcal{B} incident at P, let R_{\wp} be the localization of \widehat{R}_P at the height one prime ideal corresponding to \wp . Since $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$ is excellent and normal, so is \widehat{R}_P . Let \widehat{R}_{\wp} be the completion of R_{\wp} at this prime ideal. Since \widehat{R}_P is normal, R_{\wp} is a discrete valuation ring. Let \widehat{R}_{\wp} be its completion at its maximal ideal. This ring is a complete discretely valued ring. Abusively, we will denote its unique maximal ideal by \wp . Let F_{\wp} be the fraction field of \widehat{R}_{\wp} . Note that F_{\wp} is a complete discretely valued field.

Let P be a point in \mathcal{P} such that $P \in \overline{U}$ for some U in \mathcal{U} . Here the closure is taken in \mathscr{X}_k . Since the closure of U is irreducible, U is irreducible. Thus the ideal defining the reduced subscheme U of $\operatorname{Spec}(\widehat{R_U})$ is prime. We will denote this prime ideal by η . Set

 $\mathfrak{p} := \wp \cap \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},P}$. The universal property of localization shows that there is a canonical isomorphism between the localizations $R_{U,\eta}$ and $R_{P,\mathfrak{p}}$. Therefore we have the canonical inclusion $R_U \hookrightarrow \widehat{R}_{\wp}$. Notice that the contraction of the prime ideal \wp on R_U gives η . Note also that η is the radical ideal of the ideal (t). Thus the t-adic completion of R_U canonically sits inside \widehat{R}_{\wp} . Therefore for every P in \overline{U} , we have the canonical embedding $F_U \subset F_{\wp}$. The fields of the form F_U and F_P will be called patches, and fields of the form F_{\wp} will be called branch fields.

If \wp is a branch incident at P, then clearly $F_P \subset F_{\wp}$. Summarizing the above discussion, for every P in \overline{U} and for every branch \wp incident at P lying on U, we have the following diamond of canonical field embeddings:



We have seen an example of what these fields look like when we were getting an intuitive feel for them. We will recall that example here, and point out some common mistakes one might make if they are not cautious. We will stick to simple examples which serve to give us a feeling about these fields.

Example 3.1.1. 1. Let $\mathscr{X} = \mathbb{P}^1_{k[[t]]}$. Let $\mathcal{P} = \{\infty_k\}$. Therefore, $\mathcal{U} = \{\mathbb{A}^1_k\}$. Observe that $\widehat{R_U} = k[x][[t]]$, and therefore $F_U = Frac(k[x][[t]])$. Note that $k[x][[t]] \neq k[[t]][x]$. The latter is a polynomial ring with power series coefficients. This is quite easy to see: $\sum_{i\geq 0} x^i t^i$ is contained in k[x][[t]], but not in k[[t]][x]. Also, $Frac(k[x][[t]]) \neq k(x)((t))$, unlike in the case of polynomial rings. (See the discussion after this example)

As we have seen before, $F_P = k((t,x))$. This is the fraction field of k[[t,x]]. Note that $k[[t,x]] \subset k[[t]][[x]] \subset Frac(k[[t]][[x]]) \subsetneq k((t))((x))$. The latter containment is strict (See the discussion after this example). Therefore, $k((t,x)) \subsetneq k((t))((x))$. Finally, $F_{\wp} = k((x))((t))$.

2. Let $\mathscr{X} = \mathbb{P}^1_{k[[t]]}$ with $\mathcal{P} = \{P_1 = 0, P_2 = \infty\}$. Let \wp_1 be the branch incident at

 P_1 and \wp_2 be the branch incident at P_2 . Therefore, $\mathcal{U} = \{\mathbb{A}^1_k \setminus \{0\}\}$. Observe that $\widehat{R_U} = k[x, x^{-1}][[t]]$. Further, $F_{P_1} = k((t, x))$ and $F_{P_2} = k((t, x^{-1}))$, whereas $F_{\wp_1} = k((x))((t))$ and $F_{\wp_2} = k((x^{-1}))((t))$.

If R is a domain with field of fractions F, then $K := \operatorname{Frac}(R[[t]]) \subsetneq F((t))$ in general. A typical element in K can be written as $\lambda := t^j(\frac{\sum_i f_i t^i}{\sum g_i t^i})$, where f_0 and g_0 are not equal to 0. Consider the element:

$$\frac{1}{\sum_{i} g_{i} t^{i}} = \frac{1}{g_{0} - h(t)}$$

$$= \frac{g_{0}^{-1}}{1 - h(t)/g_{0}}$$

$$= g_{0}^{-1} \sum_{i} \frac{h(t)^{i}}{g_{0}^{i}}$$

Thus λ has the form $\sum_{i\geq j} h_i t^i$, where all h_i lie in the ring $R[1/g_0]$. Clearly this element lies in F((t)). However not every element in F((t)) can be expected to have this form in general. For example, consider R = k[x]. Let $\{p_1, p_2, \dots\}$ be a set of primes in k[x]. Note that the element $\sum_{i\geq 0} \frac{1}{\prod_{j=1}^i p_j} t^i$ lies in k(x)((t)), but not in $\operatorname{Frac}(k[x][[t]])$, by the above discussion.

Even when R = k[[x]], it turns out that $K := \operatorname{Frac}(R[[t]]) \subsetneq k((x))((t))$. Let us look at a typical element in K:

$$\lambda := t^{j} \left(\frac{\sum_{i} f_{i} t^{i}}{\sum_{i} g_{i} t^{i}} \right)$$

$$= \left(\frac{f_{0}}{g_{0}} \right) t^{j} + \left(\frac{f_{1} g_{0} - f_{0} g_{1}}{g_{0}^{2}} \right) t^{j+1} + \left(\frac{f_{2} g_{0}^{2} - f_{1} g_{1} g_{0} + f_{0} g_{1}^{2} - f_{0} g_{0} g_{2}}{g_{0}^{3}} \right) t^{j+2} + \cdots$$

Write λ as $\sum_i h_i t^{j+i}$. Denote the valuation of h_i with respect to x by n_i and the valuation of g_0 by m. We will assume that m > 0. Since the numerators are elements of R, notice that $n_i \geq -(i+1)m$ for every i. (Some of the numerators can be zero, but we are ignoring this point here since we are interested in exhibiting just one element in k((x))((t)) which does not lie in K). Now consider the element $\mu := \sum_i \frac{t^i}{x^{i^2}}$. This element certainly lies in k((x))((t)). The valuation of the i^{th} coefficient of μ with respect to x is $-i^2$. Note however that $-i^2 < -(i+1)m$ for i >> 0 for any positive constant m. Thus, μ lies in k((x))((t)) but not in K. We learnt about this example from an answer of Tony Scholl on MathOverflow to a question asked by Pete Clark.

We will end this section with two facts about complete local rings that will be useful later. We will only sketch their proofs and refer the reader to [Milne] for complete proofs. They should be seen as examples of the meta-principle: "unramiffed algebraic structures over complete rings uniquely come from the residue field". The Witt exact sequence (see Theorem 2.4.24) is another instance of this principle.

Lemma 3.1.2. Let (A, \mathfrak{m}) be a complete local ring. Let B be a finite étale A-algebra. Let $f: \operatorname{Spec}(B) \to \operatorname{Spec}(A)$ be the structure morphism. If there exists a point \mathfrak{n} in $\operatorname{Spec}(B)$ such that $k(\mathfrak{n}) = k(\mathfrak{m})$, then there exists a section of f mapping \mathfrak{m} to \mathfrak{n} .

Proof. Since finite étale algebras over complete local rings are isomorphic to product of local rings étale over A (See [Milne, Chapter 1, Theorem 4.2]), it is sufficient to show this when B is a local A-algebra. Note that since B is finitely generated, flat over A and A is local, B is a free A-module. Recall by hypothesis, k(y) = k(x). Thus $k(y) = B \otimes_A k(y) \cong B \otimes_A k(x)$. Thus $B \otimes_A k(x)$ is a one dimensional vector space over the residue field k(x) of A. Thus by Nakayama lemma, B is a free rank one A-module. Therefore, $B \cong A$ as an A-algebra. This isomorphism gives the section.

The above lemma says that sections of étale morphisms over closed points can be lifted.

Theorem 3.1.3. Let A be a complete local ring with residue field k. There is an equivalence of categories between finite étale A-algebras and finite étale k-algebras given by the functor $B \mapsto B \otimes_A k$.

Proof. Let B_1 and B_2 be finite étale A-algebras. We will first show that the functor is fully faithful, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_A(B_1, B_2) \to \operatorname{Hom}_k(B_1 \otimes k, B_2 \otimes k)$$

is a bijection. Let $\phi_1, \phi_2 : B_1 \to B_2$ be A-algebra homomorphisms. If $\phi_1 \otimes k = \phi_2 \otimes k$, then the corresponding maps of affine schemes $\phi'_1, \phi'_2 : \operatorname{Spec}(B_2) \to \operatorname{Spec}(B_1)$ agree on the fiber over the closed point of $\operatorname{Spec}(A)$. Note that both ϕ'_1 and ϕ'_2 are separated morphisms. Since B_2 is local, $\operatorname{Spec}(B_2)$ is connected. Since such étale morphisms are

uniquely determined by their image on one point (see [Milne, Chapter 1, Corollary 3.13]), it follows that $\phi'_1 = \phi'_2$. Therefore $\phi_1 = \phi_2$. This shows injectivity.

For surjectivity, let $\psi: B_1 \otimes k \to B_2 \otimes k$ be a k-algebra homomorphism. Composing ψ with the map $B_1 \to B_1 \otimes k$, we obtain the homomorphism: $B_1 \to B_2 \otimes k$. Therefore by the universal property of tensor products, we get the map: $\theta: B_1 \otimes_A B_2 \to B_2 \otimes k$ which sends $b_1 \otimes b_2 \mapsto \psi(b_1)b_2$. Since $\operatorname{Spec}(B_2) \to \operatorname{Spec}(A)$ is étale and base changing preserves étale morphisms, the map $\operatorname{Spec}(B_1 \otimes_A B_2) \to \operatorname{Spec}(B_2)$ is étale. Note that the map of affine schemes corresponding to θ , $\operatorname{Spec}(B_2 \otimes k) \to \operatorname{Spec}(B_1 \otimes_A B_2)$ can be regarded as a section of $\operatorname{Spec}(B_1 \otimes_A B_2) \to \operatorname{Spec}(B_2)$ defined on the fiber $\operatorname{Spec}(B_2 \otimes k)$ over the closed point of $\operatorname{Spec}(A)$. Therefore by Lemma 3.1.2, we may lift this to get a section $\operatorname{Spec}(B_2) \to \operatorname{Spec}(B_1 \otimes_A B_2)$ of the projection map $\operatorname{Spec}(B_1 \otimes_A B_2) \to \operatorname{Spec}(B_2)$. Composing this section with the other projection map $\operatorname{Spec}(B_1 \otimes_A B_2) \to \operatorname{Spec}(B_1)$, we get the morphism in $\operatorname{Hom}_A(B_1, B_2)$, whose restriction to the fiber over the closed point of $\operatorname{Spec}(A)$ gives ψ .

We will now show that the functor is essentially surjective. If L/k is a separable algebra, then L/k is a product of separable field extensions. Therefore we may write L = k[x]/(f(x)) for some monic, separable polynomial f(x). We abuse notation and denote a lift of f(x) to A[x] by f(x). Set B := A[x]/(f(x)). Note that since f'(x) is coprime to f(x) in k[x], one can show (using Nakayma lemma) that f(x) and f'(x) generate the unit ideal in A[x], (i.e., they are strictly coprime). Therefore B is a finitely generated free A-module, and hence flat. By the way we defined B, it also turns out that B/A is unramified. Thus B is an étale A-algebra such that $B \otimes_A k \cong L$.

We will also need the following generalization of Theorem 3.1.3.

Theorem 3.1.4. Let R be a Noetherian domain, complete with respect to its ideal I. Then there is an equivalence of categories between finite étale covers of $\operatorname{Spec}(R)$ and finite étale covers of $\operatorname{Spec}(R/I)$.

In its most raw form, the basic idea of the proof is the following: Note that finite étale schemes over $\operatorname{Spec}(R/I)$ are given by finite étale R/I-algebras S_0 . One has a unique

lift of S_0 to an étale R/I^2 -algebra S_1 . This is since $\operatorname{Spec}(S_0) \to \operatorname{Spec}(R/I)$ is étale, it satisfies the so called "topological invariance" property (see [Milne, Chapter 1, Theorem 3.23]). Continuing this process, one obtains étale R/I^{n+1} -algebras S_n for every $n \geq 0$, together with compatible maps $\operatorname{Spec}(S_m) \to \operatorname{Spec}(S_n)$ for m > n. Taking the limit of all the S_n , one obtains the étale R-algebra \widehat{S} .

3.2 Simultaneous Factorization

Recall that we want to check whether giving a compatible algebraic structure on the patches is the same as giving the algebraic structure over the semi-global field. As a simple example, we can view the field F as an algebraic structure over itself.

Note that for a single closed point P and its complement U on \mathbb{P}^1_R , we have the algebraic structures F_P over F_P and F_U over F_U that are compatible on the branch \wp incident at P and lying on U, i.e.,, $F_U \otimes_{F_U} F_{\wp} \cong F_P \otimes_{F_P} F_{\wp}$. Our intuition suggests that the unique algebraic structure that F_U and F_P determine over F should be F itself. If we identify F_U and F_P as subfields of F_{\wp} , then proving that F is the required algebraic structure amounts to proving that

$$F_U \cap F_P = F. \tag{3.2}$$

Thus we would want condition (3.2) to hold.

Now consider the vector spaces V_U/F_U and V_P/F_P , which are compatible on the branch \wp , i.e., there exists an isomorphism

$$\phi_{\wp}: V_U \otimes_{F_U} F_{\wp} \xrightarrow{\sim} V_P \otimes_{F_P} F_{\wp}. \tag{3.3}$$

We want to find a condition that guarantees the existence of a vector space V/F so that $V \otimes_F F_U = V_U$ and $V \otimes_F F_P = V_P$. The following lemma finds the condition for the existence of such a vector space V/F and the isomorphism.

Lemma 3.2.1. Let V_U/F_U and V_P/F_P be vector spaces, together with an isomorphism ϕ_{\wp} as in (3.3). An n dimensional vector space V/F satisfying $V \otimes_F F_U \cong V_U$ and $V \otimes_F F_P \cong V_P$ exists if the following conditions are satisfied:

1. For every A_{\wp} in $GL_n(F_{\wp})$, there exist matrices A_U in $GL_n(F_U)$ and A_P in $GL_n(F_P)$ such that $A_{\wp} = A_P A_U$.

2.
$$F_U \cap F_P = F$$
.

Proof. Let $V_{\wp} := V_P \otimes F_{\wp}$. By the isomorphism ϕ_{\wp} one may identify V_U with a subset of V_{\wp} . Let B_U and B_P be a basis for the vector spaces V_U and V_P respectively. After extending scalars to F_{\wp} , one sees that the sets B_U and B_P form a basis for the vector space V_{\wp} . Thus, there exists a matrix A_{\wp} in $GL_n(F_{\wp})$ such that $A_{\wp}B_U = B_P$. Since there exist matrices A_U and A_P in $GL_n(F_U)$ and $GL_n(F_P)$ respectively such that $A_{\wp} = A_P A_U$, we have the following equality $B := A_U B_U = A_P^{-1} B_P$. Therefore B serves as a basis for both V_U/F_U and V_P/F_P . Finally, define V to be the F span of B.

To make matters simpler, we will introduce some formalism now.

Let $\mathscr{X}/\operatorname{Spec} R$ be a normal model of F. Let \mathcal{P} be a non-empty finite set of closed points containing the points where distinct irreducible components of the special fiber \mathscr{X}_k meet. Let \mathcal{U} be the set of irreducible components of $\mathscr{X}_k \setminus \mathcal{P}$. Let \mathcal{B} be the set of branches incident on points in \mathcal{P} lying on the special fiber. The fields $\mathcal{F} := \{F_U, F_P, F_\wp\}$ form an inverse factorization system (see diagram (3.1)). Let V_U/F_U , V_P/F_P and V_\wp/F_\wp be n dimensional vector spaces for every P in \mathcal{P} , U in \mathcal{U} and \wp in \mathcal{B} . Suppose there exist isomorphisms

$$V_{\xi} \otimes_{F_{\xi}} F_{\wp} \stackrel{\phi_{\xi,\wp}}{\to} V_{\wp} \tag{3.4}$$

for every ξ in $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}$ such that either \wp is a branch incident at ξ (if ξ is a point in \mathcal{P}), or \wp is a branch lying on ξ and ξ is an element in \mathcal{U} .

Define the patching problem category $\mathcal{PP}(\mathcal{F})$ whose objects are finite dimensional vector spaces over F_{α} : $\{V_{\alpha}\}$ for α in $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U} \cup \mathcal{B}$, together with the isomorphism (3.4). We will denote the objects by $(\{V_{\alpha}\}, \phi)$. A morphism $\Theta : (\{V_{\alpha}\}, \phi) \to (\{W_{\alpha}\}, \psi)$ is a sequence of maps $\theta_{\alpha} : V_{\alpha} \to W_{\alpha}$ of vector spaces over F_{α} , compatible with the morphisms

 ϕ and ψ :

$$\begin{array}{ccc} V_{\xi} \otimes F_{\wp} & \xrightarrow{\phi_{\xi,\wp}} & V_{\wp} \\ & \downarrow^{\theta_{\xi}} & \downarrow^{\theta_{\wp}} \\ W_{\xi} \otimes F_{\wp} & \xrightarrow{\psi_{\xi,\wp}} & W_{\wp}. \end{array}$$

Note that there is a functor from the category Vect_F of finite dimensional vector spaces over F to $\mathcal{PP}(\mathcal{F})$:

$$\beta: \operatorname{Vect}_F \to \mathcal{PP}(\mathcal{F}).$$
 (3.5)

which takes a vector space V/F to $(\{V \otimes_F F_\alpha\}, Id \otimes F_\alpha)$.

If all compatible algebraic structures are to uniquely determine an algebraic structure over F, we should demand that β be an equivalence of categories. We say that V is a solution to the patching problem $(\{V_{\alpha}\}, \phi)$ if $\beta(V) \cong (\{V_{\alpha}\}, \phi)$.

Lemma 3.2.1 gives some evidence that if one can factor matrices in $GL_n(F_{\wp})$ into matrices in $GL_n(F_U)$ and in $GL_n(F_P)$, then β is essentially surjective. When we are dealing with multiple patches, for the essential surjectivity of β , we require that there should be a simultaneous factorization:

Let (U, P, \wp) be a triple, with U in U, P in P, and \wp a branch in \mathcal{B} incident at P and lying on U. We say that GL_n satisfies the *simultaneous factorization property* if for every A_{\wp} in $\operatorname{GL}_n(F_{\wp})$, there exist matrices A_U in $\operatorname{GL}_n(F_U)$ and A_P in $\operatorname{GL}_n(F_P)$ such that $A_{\wp} = A_P A_U$, for every triple (U, P, \wp) .

Theorem 3.2.2 (Harbater-Hartmann). The functor β in (3.5) is an equivalence of categories if and only if

1. For every $n \ge 1$, GL_n satisfies the simultaneous factorization property.

2.
$$\lim_{\xi \in \mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}} F_{\xi} = F$$
.

Therefore in order to show that every patching problem for vector spaces has a unique solution, we need to verify that simultaneous factorization holds. We will not verify this in complete generality. Rather, following the Luxembourg notes of Harbater ([H]), we will stick to the projective line over k[[t]] and show that simultaneous factorization holds in a very special case.

Example 3.2.3. 1. Let U_1 be the complement of $\{\infty\}$ on the special fiber of $\mathbb{P}^1_{k[[t]]}$ and U_2 be the complement of $\{0\}$. Since U_1 and U_2 cover the special fiber, one expects that $F = F_{U_1} \cap F_{U_2}$. Let $U_0 := U_1 \cap U_2$. The "overlap" between F_{U_1} and F_{U_2} should be given by F_{U_0} .

Note that $\widehat{R}_{U_1} = k[x][[t]]$, $\widehat{R}_{U_2} = k[x^{-1}][[t]]$ and $\widehat{R}_{U_0} = k[x,x^{-1}][[t]]$. Let a_0 be an element in \widehat{R}_{U_0} such that $a_0 \equiv 1 \mod t$. We will inductively show that there exist elements a_1 and a_2 , respectively in $\widehat{R}_{U_1}/(t^n)$ and $\widehat{R}_{U_2}/(t^n)$ such that $a_0 = a_1a_2$. Taking the limit, we obtain the desired factorization. Since $a_0 \equiv 1 \mod t$, we clearly have a factorization mod t. Note that

$$a_0 - 1 = t(\lambda_0 + \lambda_1 t + \cdots),$$

where λ_i are elements in $k[x, x^{-1}]$. Thus there exist elements b_1 and b_2 respectively in in k[x] and $k[x^{-1}]$, such that $\lambda_0 = b_1 + b_2$. Therefore we have

$$a_0 \equiv 1 + t(b_1 + b_2) \mod t^2$$

 $\equiv (1 + tb_1)(1 + tb_2) \mod t^2.$

Note that $(1+tb_i)$ lies in F_{U_i} for i=1,2. Replacing a_0 by $a_0-(1+t(b_1+b_2)+t^2b_1b_2)$ and going modulo t^3 , one can find a better approximation to the factorization by a similar process. Taking the limit as $t \to \infty$, we get the desired factorization. The same process works for $n \times n$ matrices.

2. Let U_1 be the complement of $\{\infty\}$ on the special fiber \mathbb{P}^1_k . Recall that $\widehat{R}_{U_1} = k[x][[t]]$. Let $R_{\{\infty\}}$ be the ring of rational functions that are regular at the point ∞ , and let $\widehat{R}_{\{\infty\}}$ be its t-adic completion. Let $F_{\{\infty\}}$ be the fraction field of $\widehat{R}_{\{\infty\}}$. One can compute that $\widehat{R}_{\{\infty\}} = k[x^{-1}]_{(x^{-1})}[[t]]$. These sets are disjoint, and therefore the "overlap" ring is $R_{\emptyset} = k(x)[[t]]$. The overlap field is its fraction field: $F_{\emptyset} = k(x)((t))$. We claim that for matrices A_{\emptyset} in $\mathrm{GL}_n(\widehat{R}_{\emptyset})$ such that $A_{\emptyset} \equiv Id \mod t$, there exist matrixes A_{U_1} and $A_{\{\infty\}}$, respectively in $\mathrm{GL}_n(F_{U_1})$ and $\mathrm{GL}_n(F_{\{\infty\}})$ such that $A_{\emptyset} = A_{U_1}A_{\{\infty\}}$.

We will first show that every element in k(x) can be written as a sum of elements in k[x] and $k[x^{-1}]_{(x^{-1})}$. Let g(x)/h(x) be an element in k(x), where

g(x) and h(x) are polynomials in x with degrees g and h respectively. If $g \le h$, $g(x)/h(x) = x^{-h}g(x)/x^{-h}h(x)$ is an element in $k[x^{-1}]_{(x^{-1})}$. If g > h, then write g(x) = p(x)h(x) + r(x), where p(x) is a polynomial, and r(x) is either 0 or $\deg(r(x)) < h$. Thus, g(x)/h(x) is either a polynomial in x, or g(x)/h(x) = p(x) + r(x)/h(x). Since $\deg(r(x)) < h$, by the previous case, r(x)/h(x) lies in $k[x^{-1}]_{(x^{-1})}$.

Since $A_{\varnothing} \equiv Id \mod t$, by a similar reasoning as before we have

$$A_{\{\varnothing\}} \equiv Id + t(B_1 + B_2) \mod t^2$$
$$\equiv (Id + tB_1)(Id + tB_2) \mod t^2,$$

where B_1 is a matrix with entries in k[x], and B_2 is a matrix with entries in $k[x^{-1}]_{(x^{-1})}$. Replacing $A_{\{\emptyset\}}$ with $A_{\{\emptyset\}} - (Id + tB_1)(Id + tB_2)$, and going modulo t^3 , we obtain a better approximation to the factorization. Continuing this process, one obtains the desired factorization.

To show the intersection property, viz: $F = F_{U_1} \cap F_{U_2}$ in general, we will first prove the following proposition, and obtain the intersection property as a corollary.

Proposition 3.2.4. Let U_1 be the complement of $\{\infty\}$ on the special fiber \mathbb{P}^1_k . For every f in $F_{U_1}^{\times}$, there exists an element a in F^{\times} and u in $\widehat{R_U}^{\times}$ such that f = au.

Proof. It suffices to assume that f lies in $\widehat{R}_{U_1}^{\times}$. Let f_0 be the constant term of f. Note that f_0 lies in k[x]. Note also that $f/f_0 \equiv 1 \mod t$, where f/f_0 is seen as an element in k(x)[[t]].

By Example 3.2.3, we see that $f/f_0 = f_1 f_2$, where f_1 is an element in $\widehat{R}_{U_1} = k[x][[t]]$, and f_2 an element in $\widehat{R}_{\{\infty\}} = k[x^{-1}]_{(x^{-1})}[[t]]$. Thus, $f_0 f_2 = f/f_1$. Note that $f_0 f_2$ is an element of $k[x^{-1}]_{(x^{-1})}[[t]][x]$, whereas f/f_1 is an element in k[x][[t]]. Thus this element lies in $k[[t]][x] \subset F$. Therefore f = au, with $a = f_0 f_2$ and $u = f_1$.

Corollary 3.2.5. If U_1 is the complement of $\{\infty\}$, and U_2 is the complement of $\{0\}$ in \mathbb{P}^1_k , then $F = F_{U_1} \cap F_{U_2}$.

Proof. Let $F' = F_{U_1} \cap F_{U_2}$, and let f be an element in F'. By Proposition 3.2.4, there exist elements a_i in F^{\times} and u_i in $\widehat{R_{U_i}}^{\times}$ such that $f = a_1u_1 = a_2u_2$. Let $R' := \widehat{R_{U_1}}[x] \cap \widehat{R_{U_2}} = k[[t]][x]$. Since $\operatorname{Frac} R' = F$, there exist elements c_i and d_i in R' such that $a_i = c_i/d_i$. Thus, $c_1d_2u_1 = c_2d_1u_2$. Note that $c_1d_2u_1$ lies in $\widehat{R_{U_1}}[x]$ since c_1 and d_2 lie in $\widehat{R_{U_1}}[x]$ and u_1 is an element in $\widehat{R_{U_1}}$. Also, $c_2d_1u_2$ lies in $\widehat{R_{U_2}}$ since c_2 , d_1 and u_2 each lie in $\widehat{R_{U_2}}$. Therefore, the common element $c_1d_2u_1 = c_2d_1u_2$ lies in R'. Thus, $f = c_1u_1/d_1 = c_1d_2u_1/d_1d_2$. Since both numerator and the denominator belong to R', f lies in F.

Proposition 3.2.6. Let U_1 and U_2 be open as in Corollary 3.2.5, and let $U_0 = U_1 \cap U_2$. If A_0 is a matrix in $GL_n(F_0)$, then there exist matrices A_1 and A_2 in $GL_n(F_1)$ and $GL_n(F_2)$ respectively, such that $A_0 = A_1A_2$.

Proof. The main idea is to first reduce to the case when U_1 and U_2 are disjoint sets. Let U'_2 be the complement of U_0 in U_2 . Note that $F_0 \,\subset F_{\varnothing} = k(x)((t))$. Thus we may regard A_0 as an element of $\mathrm{GL}_n(F_{\varnothing})$. Suppose that factorization holds in this disjoint situation, i.e., for U_1 and U'_2 . This means that there exist matrices A'_1 in $\mathrm{GL}_n(F_{U_1})$ and A'_2 in $\mathrm{GL}_n(F_{U'_2})$ such that $A_0 = A'_1 A'_2$. Note that A'_2 has entries in F'_{U_2} , and $A'_2 = A_0 A'_1^{-1}$ also has entries in F_{U_0} since A_0 has entries in F_{U_0} and A'_1^{-1} has entries in F_{U_1} and $F_{U_1} \subset F_{U_0}$. An argument similar to the one used in the proof of the above corollary, one can show that $F_{U'_2} \cap F_{U_0} = F_{U_2}$. Thus, A'_2 is an element in $\mathrm{GL}_n(F_{U_2})$. We have therefore reduced to the disjoint case.

Suppose A_0 in an element in $GL_n(F_{\varnothing})$. Multiplying by a sufficiently large power of t, one may assume that A_0 is an element in $GL_n(\widehat{R_{\varnothing}})$. Since the ring $R_{\varnothing} \subset F$ is t-adically dense in $\widehat{R_{\varnothing}}$, one may assume that there exists B in $GL_n(R_{\varnothing})$ such that $A_0B \equiv Id \mod t$. By Example 3.2.3, there exist matrices A_1 in $GL_n(F_{U_1})$ and A_2 in $GL_n(F_{U_2'})$ such that $A_0B = A_1A_2'$. Therefore, $A_0 = A_1A_2'B^{-1}$. Setting $A_2 = A_2'B^{-1}$, we arrive at the desired conclusion.

With a lot more additional work, one can show that such a simultaneous factorization holds in the most general case. Therefore using Theorem 3.2.2, one obtains:

Theorem 3.2.7 (Harbater-Hartmann). The functor β as in (3.5) is an equivalence of categories. In other words, there exists a unique (up to isomorphism) solution to a patching problem of vector spaces.

Proof. See
$$[HH, Theorem 6.4]$$
.

We can not only patch vector spaces, but also vector spaces with additional structure such as central simple algebras, quadratic forms, separable algebras, etc. We will show that patching holds for principal homogenous spaces under a linear algebraic group G. This covers the case of central simple algebras, quadratic forms and even separable algebras of a given degree, since they are in natural bijection with principal homogenous spaces under a group.

3.3 Local Global Principles With Respect To Patches

We want to be able to patch reasonable algebraic structures such as central simple algebras and quadratic forms. We have seen in Theorem 2.3.11 that degree n central simple algebras over F are classified by $H^1(F, PGL_n)$. More often, algebraic structures are in a natural bijection with principal homogenous spaces under a linear algebraic group. It turns out that solutions exist to patching problems involving principal homogenous spaces under linear algebraic groups.

Let G/F be a linear algebraic group. Let $\mathcal{PP}_G(\mathcal{F})$ be the patching problem category of principal homogenous spaces under G for the inverse factorization system of fields: $\mathcal{F} = \{F_U, F_P, F_\wp\}$. This category is defined in a very similar manner to the patching problem category of vector spaces. The only difference is that tensor product is replaced by fiber product. Let G – $Tors_F$ be the category of principal homogenous spaces under F. We have the following functor:

$$\gamma: G - \operatorname{Tors}_F \longrightarrow \mathcal{PP}_G(\mathcal{F}). \tag{3.6}$$

Recall that for any linear algebraic group, there exists a faithful representation $G \hookrightarrow GL_n$. For any field extension E/F, by Theorems 2.3.16 and 2.3.13, we have the following natural bijection:

$$\operatorname{GL}_n(E) \backslash \operatorname{H}^0(E, \operatorname{GL}_n/G) \longleftrightarrow \operatorname{H}^1(E, G).$$

Therefore, a principal homogenous space under G/E are given by Galois-invariant translates $hG_{E^{\text{sep}}}$ for h in $GL_n(E^{\text{sep}})$. It turns out that Galois-invariant translates also give rise to principal homogenous spaces. To see this, note first that GL_n/G has a structure of a quasi-projective variety (see [Sp, Corollary 5.5.6]). Second, the Galois-invariant translate $hG_{E^{\text{sep}}}$ can be identified with the fiber over $\pi(h)$ under the map $\pi: GL_n \to GL_n/G$. Finally, since π commutes with the action of $Gal(E^{\text{sep}}|E)$, $\pi(h)$ is an E-rational point of GL_n/G if and only if its fiber $hG_{E^{\text{sep}}}$ is Galois-invariant. Henceforth, we will identify principal homogenous spaces by Galois-invariant translates.

Theorem 3.3.1 (Harbater-Hartmann-Krashen). The functor γ of (3.6) is an equivalence of categories.

Proof. We will only check that γ is essentially surjective. Suppose that for a triple (P, U, \wp) we have a compatibility of principal homogenous spaces, i.e., an isomorphism $\mu_{U,P}: h_U G_{F_U^{\rm sep}} \times_{F_U} F_{\wp} \to h_P G_{F_P^{\rm sep}} \times_{F_P} F_{\wp} \text{ of principal homogenous spaces over } F_{\wp}.$ Consider the element $g_{\wp} := \mu_{P,U}(h_U)h_U^{-1}$ which lies in $\mathrm{GL}_n(F_{\wp}^{sep})$. Multiplication by g_{\wp} gives the isomorphism: $\lambda_{\wp}: h_U G_{F_{\wp}^{\text{sep}}} \to g_{\wp} h_U G_{F_{\wp}^{\text{sep}}}$. Note that λ_{\wp} sends h_U to $\mu_{P,U}(h_U)$. Therefore $\lambda_{\wp} = \mu_{U,P} \times_{F_{\wp}} F_{\wp}^{\text{sep}}$. Since λ_{\wp} is multiplication by g_{\wp} , and it also descends to F_{\wp} , g_{\wp} lies in $\mathrm{GL}_n(F_{\wp})$. Since we have a simultaneous factorization for GL_n , there exist elements g_U in $GL_n(F_U)$ and g_P in $GL_n(F_P)$ such that $g_{\wp} = g_P^{-1}g_U$. Set $h'_U := g_U h_U$, and $h'_P := g_P h_P$. Consider the morphisms: $\lambda_\xi : h_\xi G_{F_\xi^{\text{sep}}} \to h'_\xi G_{F_\xi^{\text{sep}}}$ for ξ in $\{P, U\}$. Now observe that λ_P^{-1} and $\mu_{U,P} \circ \lambda_U^{-1}$ agree after base changing to F_{\wp} ; this is essentially the identity $g_{\wp}g_U^{-1} = g_P^{-1}$. Consider the projection map $\pi: \mathrm{GL}_n \to \mathrm{GL}_n/G$. Note that $\pi(h'_{\xi})$ gives an F_{ξ} -rational point on the quasi-projective variety GL_n/G . We claim that the rational points $\pi(h'_U)$ and $\pi(h'_P)$ determine the same point in $(GL_n/G)(F_{\wp})$. As we saw before, over F_{\wp} , the isomorphism $\mu_{U,P}$ agrees with multiplication by g_{\wp} . Therefore $g_{\wp}h_UG_{F_{\wp}^{\text{sep}}}=h_PG_{F_{\wp}^{\text{sep}}}$. Multiplying both sides by g_P , we get $g_Pg_{\wp}h_UG_{F_{\wp}^{\text{sep}}}=$ $g_P h_P G_{F_\wp^{\text{sep}}} = h_P' G_{F_\wp^{\text{sep}}}$. But $g_P g_\wp h_U G_{F_\wp^{\text{sep}}} = g_U h_U G_{F_\wp^{\text{sep}}} = h_U' G_{F_\wp^{\text{sep}}}$. Since the system of rational points $\{\pi(h'_{\xi})\}\$ are compatible, and F is the limit of the inverse system $\{F_{\xi}\}\$, they determine a rational point over F. Denote the corresponding principal homogenous space by $hG_{F^{\text{sep}}}$. This gives a solution to the patching problem.

Since F is the limit of the system $\{F_{\xi}\}$, we have the following exact sequence:

$$0 \to F \to \prod_{U \in \mathcal{U}} F_U \times \prod_{P \in \mathcal{P}} F_P \Rightarrow \prod_{\wp \in \mathcal{B}} F_\wp.$$

For a linear algebraic group G, we therefore have the following sequence of pointed sets:

$$0 \to G(F) \to \prod_{U \in \mathcal{U}} G(F_U) \times \prod_{P \in \mathcal{P}} G(F_P) \to \prod_{\wp \in \mathcal{B}} G(F_\wp),$$

where the right-most arrow sends a pair (g_U, g_P) to $g_U g_P^{-1}$ at the components corresponding to the triple (U, P, \wp) where P lies in \overline{U} and \wp is a branch at P lying on U.

We will say that G satisfies the *simultaneous factorization property* if the rightmost map is surjective, i.e., for every triple (U, P, \wp) and every g_{\wp} in $G(F_{\wp})$, there exist elements g_U in $G(F_U)$ and g_P in $G(F_P)$ such that $g_{\wp} = g_P g_U$.

Theorem 3.3.1 gives the following equalizer diagram of pointed sets:

$$\mathrm{H}^1(F,G) \to \prod_{U \in \mathcal{U}} \mathrm{H}^1(F_U,G) \times \prod_{P \in \mathcal{P}} \mathrm{H}^1(F_P,G) \Rightarrow \prod_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}} \mathrm{H}^1(F_{\varphi},G).$$

One has the following relation between the two equalizer diagrams:

Theorem 3.3.2. The following sequence is an exact sequence of pointed sets:

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{0}(F,G) \longrightarrow \prod_{U \in \mathcal{U}} H^{0}(F_{U},G) \times \prod_{P \in \mathcal{P}} H^{0}(F_{P},G) \longrightarrow \prod_{\wp \in \mathcal{B}} H^{0}(F_{\wp},G)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$H^{1}(F,G) \longrightarrow \prod_{U \in \mathcal{U}} H^{1}(F_{U},G) \times \prod_{P \in \mathcal{P}} H^{1}(F_{P},G) \Longrightarrow \prod_{\wp \in \mathcal{B}} H^{1}(F_{\wp},G).$$

Proof. We only need to define the connecting map and establish exactness there. Let (g_{\wp}) be a sequence in $\prod_{\wp \in \mathcal{B}} G(F_{\wp})$. This gives rise to a principal homogenous space T over F in the following manner. Let T_{ξ}/F_{ξ} be a trivial principal homogenous space over F_{ξ} for every ξ in $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}$. Note that a branch \wp uniquely determines a pair (U, P). Now consider the isomorphisms $\mu_{U,P}: T_U \times_{F_U} F_{\wp} \to T_P \times_{F_P} F_{\wp}$ given by multiplication by g_{\wp} .

This defines a patching problem, for which we have a unique solution, say T on F. We define the connecting map δ by sending (g_{\wp}) to T. By the definition of δ , the image consists of principal homogenous spaces which become trivial over F_{ξ} for all ξ in $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}$. Thus the image of δ is contained in the kernel of the next map.

Now consider a principal homogenous space T over F such that $T_{\xi} := T \times_F F_{\xi}$ is trivial, i.e., isomorphic to G over F_{ξ} for every ξ in $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}$. Let ϕ_{ξ} be that isomorphism. For every φ be in \mathcal{B} lying on U and incident at P, define an isomorphism $\psi_{U,P} : T_U \times_{F_U} F_{\varphi} \to T_P \times_{F_P} F_{\varphi}$ compatible with the isomorphisms $\phi_U \times_{F_U} F_{\varphi}$ and $\phi_P \times_{F_P} F_{\varphi}$. Note that a morphism of principal homogenous spaces is given by multiplication by an element in G. Therefore, $\psi_{U,P}$ is given by multiplication by some g_{φ} in $G(F_{\varphi})$. This shows that T is in the image of δ .

Finally, suppose (g_{\wp}) is in the kernel of δ . We will show that there exist elements g_U and g_P in $G(F_U)$ and $G(F_P)$ respectively, such that $g_{\wp} = g_P g_U^{-1}$, for a triple (U, P, \wp) . Recall that the isomorphism $\mu_{U,P}: T_U \times_{F_U} F_{\wp} \to T_P \times_{F_P} F_{\wp}$ is given by multiplication by g_{\wp} . This patching problem gives rise to the trivial principal homogenous space over F since (g_{\wp}) lies in the kernel of δ . Consider the patching problem $Id: G_{F_U} \times_{F_U} F_{\wp} \to G_{F_P} \times_{F_P} F_{\wp}$. This patching problem also gives rise to the trivial principal homogenous space over F. Therefore the two patching problems are isomorphic, i.e, we have the following commutative diagram for every triple (U, P, \wp) :

$$G_{F_{U}} \times_{F_{U}} F_{\wp} \xrightarrow{Id} G_{F_{P}} \times_{F_{P}} F_{\wp}$$

$$\downarrow^{g_{U}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{g_{P}}$$

$$T_{U} \times_{F_{U}} F_{\wp} \xrightarrow{g_{\wp}} T_{P} \times_{F_{P}} F_{\wp}.$$

The vertical arrows are given by multiplication by elements g_U in $G(F_U)$ and g_P in $G(F_P)$. Thus one obtains the factorization $g_{\wp} = g_P g_U^{-1}$.

Corollary 3.3.3 (Harbater-Hartmann-Krashen). The kernel of the map

$$\mathrm{H}^1(F,G) \to \prod_{U \in \mathcal{U}} \mathrm{H}^1(F_U,G) \times \prod_{P \in \mathcal{P}} \mathrm{H}^1(F_P,G)$$

is trivial if and only if G satisfies simultaneous factorization.

Now the question becomes: which groups G satisfy the simultaneous factorization property? Theorem 3.3.4 provides an answer. It does not cover all examples, but enough for our purposes. Recall that we say that X/F is a rational variety if there exists an open subset U of X such that U is isomorphic to an open subset V of some affine space \mathbb{A}^n_F over F.

Theorem 3.3.4. A connected linear algebraic group G/F that is rational as a variety satisfies the simultaneous factorization property.

Proof. [HHK09, Theorem
$$3.2$$
]

Rationality of algebraic groups is a subtle question in general. Since we are interested in central simple algebras, we would like to know whether PGL_n is rational. It is indeed the case.

Example 3.3.5. 1. Let A/F be a central simple algebra of degree n. We claim that PGL(A) is rational and connected.

Note that GL(A) as a variety is an open subvariety of \mathbb{A}^{n^2} given by the equation $Nrd_A \neq 0$. Thus, GL(A) is rational. Since, PGL(A) is a quotient of GL(A) by \mathbb{G}_m , it is also rational. This also shows that PGL(A) is connected. In particular, PGL_n is also rational and connected.

2. SO_n is rational and connected.

We use the well known Cayley parametrization to prove this. The Lie algebra of SO_n is given by $n \times n$ skew symmetric matrices. View its Lie algebra as the affine space $\mathbb{A}^{n(n-1)/2}$. Consider the rational map:

$$\mathbb{A}^{n(n-1)/2} \to SO_n,$$

sending a skew symmetric matrix Y to $(Id + Y)(Id - Y)^{-1}$. One can define its rational inverse:

$$SO_n \to \mathbb{A}^{n(n-1)/2}$$
,

sending a matrix Z in SO_n to $(Z-Id)(Z+Id)^{-1}$. Thus SO_n is rational. It is connected since it is the connected component of O_n .

Theorem 3.3.6. Let A/F be a degree n central simple algebra. If $A \otimes_F F_{\xi}$ is split (i.e., isomorphic to $M_n(F_{\xi})$) for every ξ in $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}$, then A is split over F.

Proof. Since PGL_n is connected and rational, it satisfies simultaneous factorization by Theorem 3.3.4. By Corollary 3.3.3, the principal homogenous spaces satisfy a local to global principle with respect to patches. As A corresponds bijectively to a principal homogenous space under PGL_n by Theorem 2.3.11, it also satisfies a local to global principle.

There is also a local global principle for homogenous varieties under G/F, i.e., those varieties X/F for which G(L) acts transitively on X(L) for every L/F. Examples that we will be especially interested in are generalized Severi-Brauer varieties for PGL_n and quadrics for SO_n when $n \geq 3$.

Generalized Severi-Brauer varieties are twisted forms of Grassmannians. Let A/F be a degree n central simple algebra, and let $1 \le d \le n$ be an integer. The d^{th} generalized Severi-Brauer variety $SB_d(A)$ is a variety parametrizing right ideals of A of dimension $d \cdot \deg(A)$ (see [KMRT]).

Theorem 3.3.7. Let X/F be a quasi-projective variety under a rational connected linear algebraic group G/F. Suppose that $X(F_{\xi}) \neq \emptyset$ for every ξ in $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}$. Then $X(F) \neq \emptyset$.

Proof. Let \wp be a branch in \mathcal{B} . Recall that \wp determines the pair (U,P). Let x_U be an element in $X(F_U)$ and x_P in $X(F_P)$. Since $X(F_P)$ and $X(F_U)$ are subsets of $X(F_\wp)$, we may view x_U and x_P as elements in $X(F_\wp)$. Since $G(F_\wp)$ acts transitively on $X(F_\wp)$, there exists an element g_\wp in $G(F_\wp)$ such that $g_\wp x_U = x_P$. Since G/F is rational and connected, by Theorem 3.3.4, there exist elements g_U in $G(F_U)$ and g_P in $G(F_P)$ such that $g_\wp = g_P g_U$. Consider the elements $x_U' := g_U x_U$ and $x_P' := g_P^{-1} x_P$. Note that x_U' and x_P' determine the same element in $X(F_\wp)$ by construction. Denote this element in $X(F_\wp)$ by x_\wp' . Since X is quasi-projective, the rational points x_U' , x_P' and x_\wp' are contained in an affine open set $\operatorname{Spec}(A) \subset X$ for every triple (U, P, \wp) . Corresponding to x_U' , x_P' and x_\wp' , we have the ring homomorphisms $\theta_U : A \to F_U$, $\theta_P : A \to F_P$ and $\theta_\wp : A \to F_\wp$

respectively. Note that composing θ_U and θ_P with the inclusions $F_U \hookrightarrow F_{\wp}$ and $F_P \hookrightarrow F_{\wp}$, we obtain θ_{\wp} . Therefore one obtains the homomorphism $\theta: A \to \varprojlim_{\xi} F_{\xi} = F$ by the universal property of inverse limits. This determines an F-rational point of X, implying that $X(F) \neq \emptyset$.

This important theorem will allow us to obtain a formula similar to (2.17). We will also be able to compute the u-invariant of function fields of curves over higher local fields.

Corollary 3.3.8. Let X be a quadric of dimension greater than or equal to one. If $X(F_{\xi}) \neq \emptyset$ for every ξ in $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}$, then $X(F) \neq \emptyset$.

Proof. This follows from Theorem 3.3.7 and the fact that X is a homogenous quasi-projective (in fact projective) variety under the action of SO_n for $n \ge 3$.

The next corollary establishes a local global principle for indices of Brauer classes analogous to (2.17).

Corollary 3.3.9. If α be an element in Br(F), then

$$ind(\alpha) = lcm_{\xi \in \mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{U}}(ind(\alpha \otimes_F F_{\xi})).$$
 (3.7)

Proof. Let $d_{\xi} := ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\xi})$, and $d := lcm_{\xi}(d_{\xi})$. Note first that d_{ξ} divides $ind(\alpha)$. Therefore, d divides $ind(\alpha)$.

Let A be a central simple algebra in the class of α , with deg(A) > d. Let $SB_d(A)$ denote the d^{th} generalized Severi-Brauer variety associated to A. Since d_{ξ} divides d, by [KMRT, Proposition 1.17], $SB_d(A)(F_{\xi}) \neq \emptyset$. Since $SB_d(A)$ is a projective variety homogenous under the action of PGL(A), by Theorem 3.3.7, $SB_d(A)(F) \neq \emptyset$. Again by [KMRT, Proposition 1.17], $ind(\alpha)$ divides d.

Chapter 4

Two Applications of Patching

4.1 General Strategy

We now turn our attention to computing the Brauer dimension and u-invariant of semi-global fields. We will obtain this computation by proving local global principles for indices of Brauer classes, and isotropy of quadratic forms, with respect to discrete valuations. These two examples illustrate how using field patching one obtains local global principles with respect to discrete valuations for algebraic structures, in certain cases.

Let F be a semi-global field. We can think of an algebraic structure over F as an algebraic structure defined generically on a model $\mathscr X$ of F. There are finitely many closed subschemes of $\mathscr X$ which forms the "bad locus" or the "ramification" of the structure. Often the general strategy to obtain local-global principles with respect to discrete valuations is:

- 1. Use resolution of singularities to make the model \mathscr{X} regular, and put this "ramification" in proper position with the special fiber \mathscr{X}_k .
- 2. Remove the points where this ramification locus meets the special fiber. Proposition 4.1.3 helps in showing that the algebraic structure is "trivial" on F_U for suitable open sets U of the special fiber \mathscr{X}_k , if it is trivial on the completions of F with respect to discrete valuations coming the generic points of \mathscr{X}_k .
- 3. The complement in \mathscr{X}_k of the union of open sets from the previous step is a finite collection of closed points \mathcal{P} . Note that for every P in \mathcal{P} , F_P is the fraction field of a two dimensional complete regular local ring. Choose a system of parameters for

this ring along the special fiber and the ramification locus (recall that the special fiber and the ramification locus are in normal crossing position). Now prove a local-global principle with respect to the completions in these two directions, and conclude that the algebraic structure is trivial on F_P for every P in \mathcal{P} .

4. Putting the previous three steps together, conclude that the algebraic structure is trivial on F by field patching.

Recall the definition of a normal crossing divisor (see [Liu, Chapter 9, Definition 1.6]).

Definition 4.1.1. Let \mathscr{X} be a regular Noetherian scheme. Let D be an effective Cartier divisor of \mathscr{X} . We say that D is a normal crossing divisor on \mathscr{X} if for every x in \mathscr{X} , there exist a system of parameters $\{f_1, \dots, f_d\}$ for $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},x}$, integers $m, r_1, \dots, r_m \geq 1$ such that the ideal sheaf $\mathcal{O}(-D)_x$ at x is given by $\{f_1^{r_1} \dots f_m^{r_m}\}$.

In other words the prime divisors in the support of D intersect transversally. We will state the theorem on embedded resolution of singularities and use it in our applications and in the next chapter.

Theorem 4.1.2. Let F be a semi-global field, and let $\mathscr{X}/\operatorname{Spec} R$ be a normal model of F as in Notation 1(see Chapter 3, section 3.1).

- There exists a regular scheme Y/Spec R and a birational morphism π: Y → X
 which is an isomorphism above every regular point of X, and is obtained by a
 finite sequence of blowups and normalizations.
- 2. Let D be an effective Cartier divisor on \mathscr{X} . We can choose $\mathscr{Y}/\operatorname{Spec} R$ such that the pullback π^*D is a normal crossing divisor on \mathscr{Y} .

Proof. See [Liu, Chapter 9, Theorem 2.26] and [Liu, Chapter 8, Theorem 3.44]. \Box

We will apply this theorem to a normal model \mathscr{X} and to the support of the divisor given by the "ramification locus" and the special fiber. Note that π^*D denotes the pullback of the divisor and not the divisor class of [D] in $\operatorname{Pic}(\mathscr{X})$. Qing Liu (see [Liu, Chapter 7, Definition 1.34] defines the pullback π^*D to be the image of $D \in \operatorname{H}^0(\mathscr{X}, \mathcal{K}_{\mathscr{X}}^{\times}/\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}^{\times})$ under the map $\mathcal{K}_{\mathscr{X}}^{\times}/\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}^{\times} \to f_*(\mathcal{K}_{\mathscr{Y}}^{\times}/\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y}}^{\times})$. Let F be a semi-global field. The following Lemma allows us to pass from completions at generic points of the special fiber to fields of the form F_U , for some open set U on the special fiber.

Proposition 4.1.3. Let F be a semi-global field, and let H/F be a variety. Let η be the generic point of an irreducible component X_0 of the special fiber of a normal model of F. Let F_{η} be the completion of F at η . If $H(F_{\eta}) \neq \emptyset$, then there exists an open affine set U of X_0 which does not meet any other irreducible component of the special fiber, such that $H(F_U) \neq \emptyset$.

The main idea of the proof goes as follows: standard reductions allow us to assume that the F_{η} -rational point of H can be regarded as taking values in the completion $\widehat{R_{\eta}}$ of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\eta}$. One then uses Artin approximation to approximate this point by a rational point lying in a finite étale neighborhood Spec S of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\eta}$. Spreading out Spec S, we may assume the rational point is in an étale neighborhood of some Zariski open Spec A of \mathscr{X} containing η . Since our variety has an S-rational point, and this point is an approximation to the original $\widehat{R_{\eta}}$ -rational point, we obtain a section of H over the generic point η , or in other words a section over some open set U of the special fiber of Spec A. Now using a variant of Hensel's lemma (see [HHK09, Lemma 4.5]), we can lift this section to get a $\widehat{R_U}$ -rational point of H.

4.2 Brauer Dimension Of Semi-global Fields

We now define the ramification locus of Brauer classes, in fact Galois cohomology classes in general:

Definition 4.2.1. Let ℓ be a prime not equal to char(k) in the situation of Notation 1 in Chapter 3, Section 3.1. Let B be a finite subset of $H^n(F, \mu_{\ell}^{\otimes m})$. Let \mathscr{X} be a normal model of F. Note that every prime divisor D of \mathscr{X} gives rise to a discrete valuation of F, which we denote by v_D .

We define the ramification locus of B on \mathscr{X} to be the union of the supports of prime divisors D on \mathscr{X} for which $\partial_{v_D}(\alpha) \neq 0$ for some α in B. We will denote it by Ram(B),

and sometimes abusively refer to it as the ramification divisor.

We say that the ramification of B is split (or B is unramified) if $\partial_v(\alpha) = 0$ for all α in B and for every discrete valuation v in Ω_F which comes from a codimension one point on some regular projective model \mathscr{Y} of F.

We will need the following theorem, due to Saltman, to describe Brauer classes on a two dimensional complete regular local ring. It can be seen as a two dimensional analogue of the Witt exact sequence. Saltman shows this for any excellent two dimensional regular local ring. We will only apply it to complete rings.

Theorem 4.2.2. Let R be a two dimensional regular local ring with fraction field F and residue field k. Assume that char(k) is not equal to ℓ . Then the following sequence is exact:

$$0 \to_{\ell} \operatorname{Br}(R) \to_{\ell} \operatorname{Br}(F) \xrightarrow{\oplus \partial_{\mathfrak{p}}} \bigoplus_{ht(\mathfrak{p})=1} \operatorname{H}^{1}(k(\mathfrak{p}), \mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{H}^{0}(k, \mu_{\ell}^{-1}) \to 0.$$

Proof. See [Salt2, Theorem 5.2].

Remark 4.2.3. If R is a complete two dimensional regular local ring, then by [A-G, Corollary 6.2], we have: ${}_{\ell}\operatorname{Br}(R) \cong {}_{\ell}\operatorname{Br}(k)$. Thus we may replace ${}_{\ell}\operatorname{Br}(R)$ by ${}_{\ell}\operatorname{Br}(k)$ in the above sequence when R is complete.

Note that the map $\oplus \partial_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is the direct sum of ramification maps. These maps factor through the completions of F at height one primes \mathfrak{p} followed by the ramification map of the Witt exact sequence. Let π be a prime generating a height one prime ideal of R. Assuming that μ_{ℓ} is contained in F, we can identify the Galois modules $\mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z}$ and μ_{ℓ} , and therefore $H^1(k(\pi), \mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z}) \cong k(\pi)^{\times}/(k(\pi)^{\times})^{\ell}$. Now consider the cyclic algebra (u, π) for u in R_{π}^{\times} . Then $\partial_{\pi}(u, \pi) = (\overline{u}) \in H^1(k(\pi), \mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z})$.

Proposition 4.2.4. Let R be a complete two dimensional regular local ring with fraction field F and residue field k, and let ℓ be a prime not equal to $\operatorname{char}(k)$. Let $\{\pi, \delta\}$ form a regular system of parameters of R. We will assume that the ℓ th roots of unity μ_{ℓ} , are contained in k. If α is a class in ℓ Br(F), unramified on R except possibly at π and δ , then there exist units u, v in R^{\times} , an integer s, and the lift α_0 of a Brauer class in

 $_{\ell}\operatorname{Br}(k)$ to $_{\ell}\operatorname{Br}(F)$, such that

$$\alpha = \alpha_0 + (u, \pi) + (v, \delta) + s(\pi, \delta).$$

Proof. Set $\theta_{\pi} \coloneqq \partial_{\pi}(\alpha)$ and $\theta_{\delta} \coloneqq \partial_{\delta}(\alpha)$. Note that θ_{π} is an element in $k(\pi)^{\times}/(k(\pi)^{\times})^{\ell}$ and θ_{δ} an element in $k(\delta)^{\times}/(k(\delta)^{\times})^{\ell}$. Note also that $k(\pi)$ and $k(\delta)$ are complete discretely valued fields with respective parameters $\overline{\delta}$ and $\overline{\pi}$. Since α is unramified everywhere except possibly at π and δ , we have the following equality: $\partial_{\overline{\delta}}(\theta_{\pi}) + \partial_{\overline{\pi}}(\theta_{\delta}) = 0$ by Theorem 4.2.2. Define $s \coloneqq \partial_{\overline{\delta}}(\theta_{\pi}) = -\partial_{\overline{\pi}}(\theta_{\delta})$. Note that s lies in $H^{0}(k, \mu_{\ell}^{-1}) = \mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z}$. We have: $\theta_{\pi} = \overline{u}\overline{\delta}^{s}$ and $\theta_{\delta} = \overline{v}\overline{\pi}^{-s}$. Define $\beta \coloneqq (u, \pi) + (v, \delta) + s(\pi, \delta)$ and $\alpha_{0} \coloneqq \alpha - \beta$. Now $\partial_{\pi}(\alpha_{0}) = \theta_{\pi}(\overline{u}\overline{\delta}^{s})^{-1} = (1)$ and $\partial_{\delta}(\alpha_{0}) = \theta_{\delta}(\overline{v}\overline{\pi}^{-s})^{-1} = (1)$. If ρ generates any other height one prime of R, then $\partial_{\rho}(\alpha_{0}) = 0$. Thus α_{0} comes from a unique Brauer class in ℓ Br(k).

The next proposition helps us in computing the indices of Brauer classes with ramification in proper position on a two dimensional complete regular local ring. This proposition together with Proposition 4.1.3 will help us in obtaining a local global principle for indices of Brauer classes.

Proposition 4.2.5. Let R be a complete two dimensional regular local ring with fraction field F, residue field k and system of parameters $\{\pi, \delta\}$. Let F_v be the completion of F, either at π or δ . Let ℓ be a prime not equal to char(k). We will assume that μ_{ℓ} is contained in k. Let α be a class in ℓ Br(F). If α is unramified on R, except possibly at π or δ , then $ind(\alpha) = ind(\alpha \otimes F_v)$.

Proof. If α is only ramified at one of π or δ , say π , we may write $\alpha = \alpha_0 + (u, \pi)$. By Proposition 2.4.28, we have:

$$ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\pi}) = ind(\alpha_0 \otimes k(\pi))[k(\pi)(\sqrt[\ell]{u}) : k(\pi)]$$
$$= ind(\alpha_0 \otimes F_{\pi}(\sqrt[\ell]{u}))[F_{\pi}(\sqrt[\ell]{u}) : F_{\pi}].$$

Since α_0 is unramified on F, its reduction on $k(\pi)$ is also unramified and therefore $ind(\alpha_0 \otimes F_{\pi}(\sqrt[\ell]{u})) = ind(\alpha_0 \otimes F(\sqrt[\ell]{u}))$. Note that $ind(\alpha)$ divides $ind(\alpha_0)[F(\sqrt[\ell]{u}):F]$.

Thus, $ind(\alpha)$ divides $ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\pi})$. Since $ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\pi})$ divides $ind(\alpha)$, we get that $ind(\alpha) = ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\pi})$.

Now suppose α is ramified at both π and δ . Then by Proposition 4.2.4, we have the following presentation: $\alpha = \alpha_0 + (u, \pi) + (v, \delta) + (\pi^s, \delta) = \alpha_0 + (u, \pi) + (v\pi^s, \delta)$. Set $\alpha'_0 := \alpha_0 + (u, \pi)$. Note that α'_0 is unramified on δ . Applying Proposition 2.4.28 to $\alpha \otimes F_\delta = \alpha'_0 + (v\pi^s, \delta)$, we get that:

$$ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\delta}) = ind(\alpha'_{0} \otimes k(\delta)(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}))[k(\delta)(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}) : k(\delta)]$$
$$= ind(\alpha'_{0} \otimes F_{\delta}(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}))[F_{\delta}(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}) : F_{\delta}]$$
$$= ind(\alpha'_{0} \otimes F(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}))[F(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}) : F].$$

Set $\pi' := v\pi$. Now notice that $\alpha'_0 \otimes k(\delta)(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^s}) = \alpha_0 - (u,v) + (u,\pi')$. Set $\alpha''_0 := \alpha_0 - (u,v)$. Note that α''_0 is unramified on the complete discretely valued field $k(\delta)(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^s})$ whose residue field is k. Thus $ind(\alpha'_0 \otimes k(\delta)(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^s})) = ind(\alpha''_0 \otimes k(\sqrt[\ell]{u}))[k(\sqrt[\ell]{u}) : k]$. Therefore, we obtain:

$$ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\delta}) = ind(\alpha_{0}'' \otimes k(\sqrt[\ell]{u}))[k(\sqrt[\ell]{u}) : k][k(\delta)(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}) : k(\delta)]$$

$$= ind(\alpha_{0}'' \otimes k(\sqrt[\ell]{u}))[F_{\delta}(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}) : F_{\delta}][F_{\delta}(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}, \sqrt[\ell]{u}) : F_{\delta}(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}})]$$

$$= ind(\alpha_{0}'' \otimes k(\sqrt[\ell]{u}))[F_{\delta}(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}, \sqrt[\ell]{u}) : F_{\delta}]$$

$$= ind(\alpha_{0}'' \otimes k(\sqrt[\ell]{u}))[F(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^{s}}, \sqrt[\ell]{u}) : F].$$

Note that $ind(\alpha)$ divides $ind(\alpha''_0 \otimes k(\sqrt[\ell]{u}))[F(\sqrt[\ell]{v\pi^s}, \sqrt[\ell]{u}):F]$, and thus divides $ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\delta})$. Since $ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\delta})$ divides $ind(\alpha)$, we get that $ind(\alpha) = ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\delta})$.

We are finally in a position to prove a local global principle for Brauer classes of prime period ℓ . This was first obtained by Reddy-Suresh in [Re-Su].

Theorem 4.2.6 (Suresh, Reddy). Let F be a semi-global field with residue field k. Assume that ℓ is a prime not equal to char(k), and that F contains the group of ℓ^{th} roots of unity. If α is a Brauer class in ℓ Br(F), then there exists a discrete valuation v coming from a codimension one point of some regular model of F such that

$$ind(\alpha) = ind(\alpha \otimes F_v).$$

Proof. Using Theorem 4.1.2, we may choose a regular projective model $\mathscr{X}/\operatorname{Spec} R$ such that the union of the ramification divisor $\operatorname{Ram}(\alpha)$ and the support of the special fiber of \mathscr{X} is in normal crossing position.

Let $\{X_1, \dots, X_k\}$ be the irreducible components of the special fiber of \mathscr{X}_k with respective generic points $\{\eta_1, \dots, \eta_k\}$. Let $d := \operatorname{lcm}_v \{\operatorname{ind}(\alpha \otimes F_v)\}$, and let A/F be a central simple algebra in the Brauer class of α with $d < \operatorname{deg}(A)$. We will denote the completion of F at the codimension one point η_i by F_{η_i} . Since $\operatorname{ind}(\alpha \otimes F_{\eta_i})$ divides d, by [KMRT, Proposition 1.17], the d^{th} generalized Severi-Brauer variety has an F_{η_i} -rational point, i.e., $SB_d(A)(F_{\eta_i}) \neq \emptyset$. By Proposition 4.1.3, there exists an affine open set U_i of X_i which does not meet any other irreducible component X_i such that $SB_d(A)(F_{U_i}) \neq \emptyset$. Let U_i' be the complement in U_i of the set of closed points where horizontal components (i.e., components flat over $\operatorname{Spec} R$) of $\operatorname{Ram}(\alpha)$ intersects U_i . Since $U_i' \subseteq U_i$, observe that $F_{U_i} \subseteq F_{U_i'}$. Since $SB_d(A)(F_{U_i}) \neq \emptyset$, we also have $SB_d(A)(F_{U_i'}) \neq \emptyset$. Therefore $\operatorname{ind}(A \otimes F_{U_i'})$ divides d.

Let \mathcal{P} be the complement of $\bigcup U_i$ in the special fiber \mathscr{X}_k including the points where the ramification divisor of α meets the special fiber. Let P be a point in \mathcal{P} . If Pdoes not lie in the ramification locus of α , then α is unramified on F_P . Suppose that π cuts out one component of the special fiber, say X_i . Note that the completion of F_P at π , denoted by $F_{P,\pi}$ contains F_{η_i} . Since, $SB_d(A)(F_{\eta_i}) \neq \emptyset$, $SB_d(A)(F_{P,\pi}) \neq \emptyset$. Therefore, $ind(A \otimes F_{P,\pi})$ divides d. By Proposition 4.2.5, $ind(A \otimes F_P)$ divides d. Thus $SB_d(A)(F_P) \neq \emptyset$.

If P lies on the ramification locus of α , recall that the ramification of α on \widehat{R}_P , forms a normal crossing divisor with the special fiber. Choose a system of parameters $\{\pi, \delta\}$ for \widehat{R}_P , where π cuts out a component X_i of the special fiber. By an argument similar to the one in the previous paragraph, $SB_d(A)(F_{P,\pi}) \neq \emptyset$ and $SB_d(A)(F_{P,\delta}) \neq \emptyset$. Therefore by Proposition 4.2.5, $ind(A \otimes F_P)$ divides d.

Finally, using Theorem 3.3.9, we conclude that $ind(\alpha)$ divides d. Since α has prime period ℓ , its index is a power of ℓ . Therefore, there exists a discrete valuation v such that $ind(\alpha \otimes F_v) = d$. Since $ind(\alpha \otimes F_v)$ divides $ind(\alpha)$, we conclude that $ind(\alpha) = d$.

The proof of the theorem above is a slight modification of that of Reddy-Suresh. The basic idea however remains the same. As a corollary, we can provide the following upper bound to the Brauer ℓ -dimension of semi-global fields, first obtained in [HHK09].

Corollary 4.2.7 (Harbater-Hartmann-Krashen). Let F be a semi-global field with residue field k with char(k) not equaling ℓ . If $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(k) \leq d$ and $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(k(t)) \leq d+1$, then

$$\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) \leq d+2.$$

Proof. By Lemma 2.4.8, it is enough to find an upper bound for the index of a Brauer class having period ℓ . We will first assume that $\mu_{\ell} \subset F$ in order to apply Theorem 4.2.6. Let α be a Brauer class of period ℓ . Let v be a discrete valuation corresponding to a codimension one point of a regular projective model \mathscr{X} , where \mathscr{X} is as in the proof of Theorem 4.2.6, and such that $ind(\alpha) = ind(\alpha \otimes F_v)$. Let π_v be a parameter of F_v . Note that the residue field of F_v is either a finite extension of K, if the codimension one point gives a divisor flat over Spec R (horizontal), or a finite extension of k(t) if the codimension one point gives a divisor on the special fiber (vertical).

If the residue field is a finite extension of k(t), then $\alpha \otimes F_v = \alpha_0 + (u, \pi_v)$. Therefore, $ind(\alpha) = ind(\alpha \otimes k(\pi)(\sqrt[\ell]{u})) \cdot \ell$ by Proposition 2.4.28. Therefore, $ind(\alpha) \leq \ell^{d+2}$. If the residue field is a finite extension of K, we have $\alpha = \alpha_0 + (u, \pi_v)$. Thus $ind(\alpha) = ind(\alpha_0 \otimes k(\pi)(\sqrt[\ell]{u})) \cdot \ell$. Note that $k(\pi)$ is also a complete discretely valued field, with residue field a finite extension of k. Let π' be a parameter of $k(\pi)(\sqrt[\ell]{u})$. We may thus write α_0 as $\alpha_0 = \alpha'_0 + (v, \pi')$. Therefore

$$ind(\alpha_0 \otimes k(\pi)(\sqrt[\ell]{u})) = ind(\alpha'_0 \otimes k(\pi)(\sqrt[\ell]{u})(\sqrt[\ell]{v})) \cdot \ell \leq \ell^{d+1}$$
.

Hence it follows that $ind(\alpha) \leq \ell^{d+2}$. Since $ind(\alpha) = ind(\alpha \otimes F_v)$, $ind(\alpha) \leq \ell^{d+2}$. This shows that $Brd_{\ell}(F) \leq d+2$.

We will now remove the assumption on the ℓ^{th} roots of unity. Let F be a semi-global field not containing μ_{ℓ} , and α a class in ℓ Br(F). Let $F' := F(\mu_{\ell})$. By what we have proved in the previous paragraph, $ind(\alpha \otimes F') \leq \ell^{d+2}$. Thus there exists a field extension L/F' of degree dividing ℓ^{d+2} which splits $\alpha \otimes F'$. Recall that the degree of F'/F is

coprime to ℓ . Thus, $ind(\alpha)$ divides $[F':F]\ell^{d+2}$. Since α has period ℓ , $ind(\alpha)$ is also a power of ℓ . Therefore, $ind(\alpha)$ divides ℓ^{d+2} . This shows the inequality: $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) \leq d+2$, in general.

Definition 4.2.8. We say that K is a 0-local field, if it is either a finite field, or a finite extension of a complete discretely valued field with separably closed residue field.

We say that K is an m-local field (for m > 0) if it is a complete discretely valued field with residue field an (m-1)-local field. Thus there is a sequence of n-local fields for n < m, associated to K.

We will denote the corresponding 0-local field by k_0 and call it the *smallest residue field*.

If F is the function field of a curve over a finite field, then by Corollary 2.4.34 $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) = 1$. When F is the function field of a curve over a complete discretely valued field with separably closed residue field, one sees by Corollary 4.2.7 that $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) \leq 2$. This is because the Brauer group of the residue field k is trivial, and so is the Brauer group of any finite extension of k(t). We may improve this bound to the following:

Corollary 4.2.9. Let F be the function field of a curve over a complete discretely valued field K with separably closed residue field k, and ℓ be a prime co-prime to char(k). We have the following upper bound for the Brauer ℓ -dimension:

$$\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) \leq 1.$$

Proof. By Lemma 2.4.8, it suffices to show that the index of Brauer classes with period dividing ℓ is at most ℓ . Let α be a class in ℓ Br(F). Let v be a discrete valuation of F coming from a codimension one point of some regular projective model of F. Note that the residue field of v is either a function field of a curve over k, or a finite extension of K. Thus the Brauer group of the residue field of v is trivial. By the Witt exact sequence (see Theorem 2.4.24), $\alpha \otimes F_v$ may be identified with a character of the residue field k(v) of period dividing ℓ . Splitting $\alpha \otimes F_v$ therefore amounts to splitting this character. Since a non-trivial period ℓ character can be split by an extension of degree ℓ , one sees that $ind(\alpha \otimes F_v) \leq \ell$. By Theorem 4.2.6, it follows that $ind(\alpha) \leq \ell$, and hence

$$\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) \leq 1.$$

This Corollary, together with Corollary 2.4.34 shows that if F is the function field of a curve over a 0-local field, then $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) \leq 1$.

Corollary 4.2.10. Let F be the function field of a curve over an m-local field, and ℓ be a prime not equal to the characteristic of the smallest residue field. We have the following upper bound for the Brauer ℓ -dimension:

$$\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) \leq m + 1.$$

Proof. We will show this by induction on m. If m = 0, note that $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) \leq 1$ by Corollary 4.2.9 and Corollary 2.4.34.

If $m \ge 1$, the residue field k is an (m-1) local field. Repeatedly using Proposition 2.4.28, one can show that $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(k) \le m-1$. Since k(t) is a semi-global field, by the induction hypothesis, $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(k(t)) \le m$. Therefore by Corollary 4.2.7, we conclude that $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) \le m+1$.

The above corollary recovers the result proved by Saltman [Salt], that $\operatorname{Br}_{\ell}(\mathbb{Q}_p(t)) \leq 2$ for $\ell \neq p$. Harbater-Hartmann-Krashen ([HHK09]) directly show this using Corollary 3.3.6.

4.3 Local Global Principle For Quadratic Forms

We now turn our attention to obtain a local-global principle similar to Theorem 4.2.6 for isotropy of quadratic forms over semi-global fields. This was first obtained by Colliot-Thélène, Parimala and Suresh in [CT-Par-Su]. The general strategy remains the same as outlined in the introduction of the chapter: first, put ramification in proper position. Then show that there exist affine open sets U of the special fiber such that the quadratic form becomes isotropic over F_U using Proposition 4.1.3. Then establish isotropy over F_P for the remaining closed points P. Now using Corollary 3.3.8, conclude that the form is isotropic over F. This will enable us to compute the u-invariant, a result first obtained by Harbater-Hartmann-Krashen in [HHK09].

We first need an appropriate definition of ramification locus of quadratic forms. This will turn out to be easy. As we mention above, the ramification locus of an algebraic structure is the "bad locus" where the algebraic structure is not defined. For example: consider the quadratic form over \mathbb{Q} : $q = \langle 1, 8, 3, 24 \rangle$. This form is defined on Spec \mathbb{Z} almost everywhere, i.e., we can specialize the form to a non-degenerate form at almost all primes in \mathbb{Z} except at 2 and 3. Thus the ramification locus of q on Spec \mathbb{Z} should be the union of the support of the divisors (2) and (3). With this example in mind, we define the ramification divisor of a quadratic form as follows:

Definition 4.3.1. Let F be a semi-global field with residue field k. Let \mathscr{X} be a normal projective model for F. Suppose that $char(k) \neq 2$. Let $q = \langle a_1, \dots, a_n \rangle$ be a non-degenerate quadratic form. We define the ramification divisor or ramification locus of q to be the union of the supports of prime divisors D on \mathscr{X} such that $v_D(a_i)$ is odd for some i. We will denote it by Ram(q).

Theorem 4.3.2 (Colliot-Thélène, Parimala, Suresh). Let F be a semi-global field with residue field k, and $char(k) \neq 2$. Let q/F be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 3 . If $q \otimes F_v$ is isotropic for every divisorial discrete valuation v of F, then q/F is isotropic.

Proof. Let \mathscr{X} be a regular projective model of F. Using Theorem 4.1.2, one can replace \mathscr{X} by another regular model such that the union of the support of the special fiber and $\operatorname{Ram}(q)$ are in normal crossing position. We will abuse notation and also denote this new regular model by \mathscr{X} .

Let $\{X_1, \dots, X_k\}$ be the irreducible components of the special fiber \mathscr{X}_k with respective generic points $\{\eta_1, \dots, \eta_k\}$. Let F_{η_i} be the completion of F at η_i . By hypothesis, $q \otimes F_{\eta_i}$ is isotropic. Thus by Proposition 4.1.3, there exist affine open sets U_i of X_i such that $q \otimes F_{U_i}$ is isotropic for every $i = 1, \dots, k$, and U_i does not meet any other irreducible component of \mathscr{X}_k . Let U'_i be the complement in U_i of the closed points where horizontal components of $\operatorname{Ram}(q)$ intersects U_i . Observe that $F_{U_i} \subseteq F_{U'_i}$. Since $q \otimes F_{U_i}$ is isotropic, so is $q \otimes F_{U'_i}$.

Let \mathcal{P} be the complement of $\bigcup U'_i$ in the special fiber \mathscr{X}_k , and let P be in \mathcal{P} . Suppose

that P does not lie on the ramification locus of q. In this case, we may write $q \otimes F_P = \langle u_1, \dots, u_n \rangle$, where u_i lies in $\widehat{R_P}^{\times}$ for all $i = 1, \dots, n$. Let $\{\pi, \delta\}$ be a regular system of parameters for $\widehat{R_P}$ where π cuts out one component of the special fiber, say X_i . Note that $F_{\eta_i} \subset F_{P,\pi}$. Since $q \otimes F_{\eta_i}$ is isotropic, $q \otimes F_{P,\pi}$ is also isotropic. Let $\widehat{R_{P,\pi}}$ denote the completion of the localization of $\widehat{R_P}$ at π ; it is the ring of integers of $F_{P,\pi}$. Since $q \otimes F_{P,\pi}$ is isotropic, so is its reduction $q \otimes k(\pi)$. Note that $k(\pi)$ is a complete discretely valued field with residue field k(P). Thus again, the reduction of $q \otimes k(\pi)$ with respect to its parameter $\overline{\delta}$ is isotropic. This shows that $q \otimes k(P)$ is isotropic. By Hensel's lemma, it follows that $q \otimes F_P$ is isotropic.

Now suppose that P lies on only one irreducible component of the ramification locus. Choose a regular system of parameters $\{\pi, \delta\}$ for $\widehat{R_P}$ such that π cuts out that component of the ramification locus. One may therefore write $q \otimes F_P = \langle u_1, \dots, u_m \rangle \perp \pi \langle u_{m+1}, \dots, u_n \rangle$. Let F_{π} denote the completion of F at the codimension one point given by the component of the ramification locus. Observe that $F_{\pi} \subset F_{P,\pi}$. Since, $q \otimes F_{\pi}$ is isotropic, so is $q \otimes F_{P,\pi}$. Therefore by Springer's theorem (see Proposition 2.5.6), either the reduction of $\langle u_1, \dots, u_m \rangle$ is isotropic on its residue field $k(\pi)$ or the reduction of $\langle u_{m+1}, \dots, u_n \rangle$ is isotropic on $k(\pi)$. Again, $k(\pi)$ is a complete discretely valued field with residue field k(P). Therefore the reduction of either of those forms is isotropic over k(P). Thus by Hensel's lemma, q is isotropic over F_P .

Let P lie on two irreducible components of the ramification locus. Choose a regular system of parameters $\{\pi, \delta\}$ for $\widehat{R_P}$ such that π cuts out one component and δ cuts out the other component on $\widehat{R_P}$. We may write $q = q_1 \perp \pi q_2 \perp \delta q_3 \perp \pi \delta q_4$, where the entries of q_i are units in $\widehat{R_P}$. Let F_{π} and F_{δ} denote the completions of F at the respective components. Note since $q \otimes F_{P,\pi}$ is isotropic, the reduction of $q_1 \perp \delta q_3$ or the reduction of $q_2 \perp \delta q_4$ is isotropic. As before, the residue field is a complete discretely valued field with residue field k and parameter δ . Therefore the reduction of one of q_1 , q_2 , q_3 or q_4 is isotropic on k(P). Hensel's lemma then shows that $q \otimes F_P$ is isotropic.

Finally, using Corollary 3.3.8, we conclude that q/F is isotropic.

We are now in a position to compute the u-invariant of function fields of curves over m-local fields.

Corollary 4.3.3 (Harbater-Hartmann-Krashen). Let F be the function field of a curve over an m-local field with characteristic of the smallest residue field unequal to 2. The u-invariant of F satisfies:

$$u(F) \le 2^{m+2}.$$

Proof. Let q/F be a quadratic form of dimension greater than 2^{m+2} . Let v be a divisorial discrete valuation of F. Note that the completion of F at v is an m+1 local field. We will show that $q \otimes F_v$ is isotropic by induction on m. For the base case m=0: F_v is a 1-local field, with residue field a 0-local field. Since 0-local fields are C_1 fields, their u-invariants are equal to 2. Let π_v denote the parameter of F_v . We may write $q \otimes F_v = q_1 \perp \pi_v q_2$, where the entries of q_1 and q_2 are units in the ring of integers. Since the dimension of $q \otimes F_v$ is greater than 4, the dimension of either q_1 is greater than 2, or the dimension of q_2 is greater than 2. Thus the reduction of q_1 or q_2 is isotropic. By Springer's theorem, $q \otimes F_v$ is isotropic for every divisorial discrete valuation v. Thus by Theorem 4.3.2, q/F is isotropic.

When $m \ge 1$: F_v is an (m+1)-local field with residue field an m-local field. We may write $q \otimes F_v = q_1 \perp \pi_v q_2$, where the entries of q_1 and q_2 are units. Since the dimension of $q \otimes F_v$ is greater than 2^{m+1} , either the dimension of the reduction of q_1 is greater than 2^m , or the reduction of q_2 is greater than 2^m . By the induction hypothesis, either of those reductions is isotropic. Therefore $q \otimes F_v$ is isotropic for every divisorial discrete valuation v. Again by Theorem 4.3.2, q/F is isotropic.

The u-invariant of function fields of curves over a p-adic field (denoted by F) was first computed by Parimala-Suresh (see [Pa-Su1] and [Pa-Su2]), thereby settling a long standing question. They used the results of Saltman to show that every element in $H^3(F, \mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z})$ is a symbol, and obtain the computation of the u-invariant using that. Their techniques do not obviously generalize to the case of function fields over higher local fields. Using field patching we can not only recover their result, but also obtain a

local-global principle for isotropy of quadratic forms.

Chapter 5

Generalized Brauer Dimension

5.1 Introduction

Over global fields, we can simultaneously split a finite collection of Brauer classes of prime period ℓ by making a degree ℓ extension. To see this, all we need to do is split the ramification of this finite collection of Brauer classes simultaneously as in the proof of Theorem 2.4.34 for function fields of curves over finite fields, and Theorem 2.4.40 for number fields. The Hasse principle for Brauer classes is what makes things work.

Let F be a semi-global field. We might expect that if there is a uniform bound to split an arbitrary number of Brauer classes over the residue field k and over k(t), there will be a uniform bound to split an arbitrary collection of Brauer classes simultaneously on F. This expectation is guided by Theorem 4.2.7. This theorem informs us that some arithmetic properties of a field k and k(t) transmit to F. If there is such a uniform bound for simultaneously splitting any finite collection of Brauer classes, we obtain another arithmetic invariant of semi-global fields. Let us define it formally at this point.

Definition 5.1.1. Let F be a field, and let n be a natural number. Let B be a finite subset in ${}_{n}\operatorname{Br}(F)$. The *index of* B, denoted by ind(B), is the minimum of the degrees of field extensions L/F such that $\alpha \otimes L = 0$ for every α in B.

The Generalized Brauer n-dimension $GBrd_n(F)$ is the supremum of ind(B) as B ranges over finite subsets of $_nBr(L)$ and L/F ranges over finite degree field extensions.

Remark 5.1.2. 1. We defined the Brauer n-dimension to be the largest exponent appearing in the index (which is a power of n) rather than the largest index (see Definition 2.4.6). We do not define the Generalized Brauer n-dimension in this

way because there is no reason for the index of a finite subset B of $_n \operatorname{Br}(F)$ to be a power of n.

Let us define the index of B somewhat differently: we define the index of B to be the gcd of degrees of field extensions which split all elements in B. We will denote this alternative index by $\operatorname{ind}'(B)$. If B is a finite subset of ${}_{n}\operatorname{Br}(F)$, $\operatorname{ind}'(B)$ is indeed a power of n. While $\operatorname{ind}'(B)$ divides $\operatorname{ind}(B)$, they need not be equal. Note that $\operatorname{ind}'(B)$ equals the minimum of degrees of effective 0-cycles on the variety $\prod_{\alpha \in B} SB(D_{\alpha})$, i.e., the product of Severi Brauer varieties of division algebras associated to Brauer classes in B, whereas $\operatorname{ind}(B)$ is the minimum of degrees of closed points in $\prod_{\alpha \in B} SB(D_{\alpha})$. The question whether $\operatorname{ind}(B) = \operatorname{ind}'(B)$ has been asked by Totaro in a more general context, namely for principal homogenous spaces under connected linear algebraic groups. (see [Tot]). More precisely, Totaro asked whether the existence of an effective 0-cycle of degree dividing d on a principal homogenous space implies the existence of a (étale) closed point of degree dividing d. We now know that this is not true in general (see [GS-S]). We still however do not know whether Totaro's question has an affirmative answer for $\prod_{\alpha} SB(D_{\alpha})$.

2. As we will see later, computing ind(B) is a difficult problem. The present state of our understanding only allows us to obtain a uniform upper bound for the index of any finite subset B over semi-global fields. Since ind'(B) ≤ ind(B), this uniform upper-bound for ind(B) also provides us with an upper-bound for ind'(B).

As we mention in the beginning of this section, when F is a global field, the same argument that shows that $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) = 1$ also shows that $\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(F) = \ell$. In other words, there exists a degree ℓ extension which splits any finite collection of Brauer classes in the ℓ -torsion part of the Brauer group of F simultaneously. This begs the question whether splitting a single Brauer class is as hard as splitting any finite collection of Brauer classes, at least over nice fields. If that were true, we would have the following:

$$\mathrm{GBrd}_n(F)=n^{\mathrm{Brd}_n(F)}.$$

However the following proposition tells us this need not be true in general.

Proposition 5.1.3. Let $F = \mathbb{Q}_p((t))$, with $p \neq 2$. Consider the set of nontrivial quaternion algebras $B = \{(u, p), (p, t), (u, t)\}$, where u is a unit in \mathbb{Z}_p . Then $\operatorname{Brd}_2(F) = 1$, but there does not exist a quadratic field extension splitting all the classes in B simultaneously, i.e., $\operatorname{GBrd}_2(F) \geq 4$.

Proof. We will first show that $\operatorname{Brd}_2(F) = 1$. Let α be an element in ${}_2\operatorname{Br}(F)$. Using the Witt exact sequence (see Theorem 2.4.24), one can write $\alpha = (u, p) + (\chi, t)$ or $\alpha = (\chi, t)$ for some $\mathbb{Z}/2$ character of the Galois group of \mathbb{Q}_p . Note that such characters uniquely determine a square class in \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} . If $\alpha = (\chi, t)$, clearly there is a quadratic extension splitting it. If χ corresponds to the square classes (u) or (p), $\alpha = (u, pt)$ or $\alpha = (ut, p)$. In either case, there exists a quadratic extension splitting α . Thus, $\operatorname{Br}_2(F) = 1$.

Suppose that L/F is a quadratic extension splitting all elements of B. There are only eight square classes in F: $\{1, u, p, t, up, pt, ut, upt\}$. Therefore L is generated by the square root of one of these non-trivial square classes. Note that $F(\sqrt{u})$ does not split (p,t), because $F(\sqrt{u})/F$ is unramified, with residue field extension $\mathbb{Q}_p(\sqrt{u})/\mathbb{Q}_p$. Thus $\partial_t(p,t)=(p)$ is a non-square in the residue field of $F(\sqrt{u})$. Note also that $F(\sqrt{p})$ does not split (u,t) by a similar reasoning. Third, $F(\sqrt{t})/F$ does not split (u,p), because (u,p) is an unramified Brauer class of $F(\sqrt{t})$. The residue field of $F(\sqrt{t})$ is \mathbb{Q}_p , and the class (u,p) is non-zero in ${}_2\operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$.

 $F(\sqrt{up})/F$ does not split (p,t). Note that $F(\sqrt{up})/F$ is unramified with residue field extension $\mathbb{Q}_p(\sqrt{up})/\mathbb{Q}_p$. Further, $\partial_t(p,t)=(p)$ is a non-square in $\mathbb{Q}_p(\sqrt{up})$. Observe also that $F(\sqrt{pt})/F$ does not split (u,p), because (u,p) is unramified on $F(\sqrt{pt})$, and $F(\sqrt{pt})/F$ is totally ramified and hence has \mathbb{Q}_p as its residue field. Since (u,p) is non-zero in ${}_2\mathrm{Br}(\mathbb{Q}_p)$, it follows that $(u,p)\otimes_F F(\sqrt{pt})$ is non-split. By a similar reasoning, one can show also that $F(\sqrt{ut})/F$ does not split (p,t), and $F(\sqrt{upt})/F$ does not split (u,p).

Remark 5.1.4. There is a better example of the phenomena occurring in the proposition above. When $F = \mathbb{C}(x,y)$, Chapman and Tignol in [C-Tig] show that the set of quaternion algebras $\{(x,y),(x,y+1),(y,x+1),(y,xy+1)\}$ is not split by a quadratic field extension

of F. However since F is a C_2 field (see Theorem 2.4.11), it has u-invariant equal to 4. Thus F does not admit Brauer classes of index greater than 2. Thus $\operatorname{Brd}_2(F) = 1$, but $\operatorname{GBrd}_2(F) \geq 4$.

Proposition 5.1.3 and the above remark show that the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension is another arithmetic invariant, and one can therefore ask a more general version of Question 1 (see Subsection 2.4.1):

Question 2. Let F be the function field of a variety over either an algebraically closed field, finite field, non-archimedean local field or a global field (any reasonably "nice" field). Is $GBrd_n(F)$ finite? If it is finite, compute $GBrd_n(F)$.

For most of these nice fields, even finiteness is not known. Even when we know what the Brauer dimension is, in some cases, there are no known upper bounds for the Generalized Brauer dimension. For example, Lieblich has shown that when $F = \mathbb{F}_p(x, y)$, $\operatorname{Brd}_{\ell}(F) \leq 2$ (see [Lie]). However we do not even know if $\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(F)$ is finite. We also do not know if $\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(\mathbb{C}(x,y))$ is finite.

The most hopeful case in tackling Question 2 is when F is a semi-global field. In [Pa-Su3], Parimala-Suresh call the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension " $(2,\ell)$ -uniform bound". Their goal is to show finiteness of the u-invariant, in the mixed characteristic 2 situation. Along the way, they obtain the following upper bound for the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension of a semi-global field.

Theorem 5.1.5 (Parimala-Suresh). Let F be a semi-global field with residue field k such that $char(k) \neq \ell$. We have the following upper bound for the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension.

$$\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(F) \leq \ell^3[\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k(t))]![\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k)]!$$

While this shows finiteness of $GBrd_{\ell}(F)$ for a nice semi-global field, the bound seems far from optimal.

To answer Question 2 for global fields, one uses the local-global principle for Brauer classes. While we do have a local-global principle for Brauer classes on semi-global fields, and we can split them locally at every completion by making a field extension there,

we may not be able to put them together to get a global extension. This is because we might have to make infinitely many local extensions where the Brauer classes are non-trivial, and may not be able to approximate all of them simultaneously to get an extension of the semi-global field.

Another approach could be to obtain a statement similar to Theorem 3.3.9 for index of a finite collection of Brauer classes. The index of a Brauer class is detected by an appropriate generalized Severi-Brauer variety of a central simple algebra in the Brauer class: i.e., $ind(\alpha)$ divides d if and only if $SB_d(A)(F) \neq \emptyset$ for A in the Brauer class of α . These varieties are homogenous under the action of a rational, connected linear algebraic group, and therefore satisfy a local global principle with respect to patches. Let B be a finite subset of ℓ Br(F). Suppose that there exists a variety X/F which is index detecting in the following sense: $X_d(F) \neq \emptyset$ if and only if there exists a field extension of degree dividing d which splits all α in B. If further, X is homogenous under the action of a connected linear algebraic group, that would make it easier to compute ind(B). We do not know if there exists such a variety. While one could construct an index detecting variety, it is not at all clear if it is homogenous.

The most promising approach is first to split ramification. Let us consider the case of F = K(t), where K is a complete discretely valued field with residue field k. Let B be a finite subset in ℓ Br(F). Let $\Omega_{F/K}$ be the set of discrete valuations trivial on K. Recall that they correspond to codimension one points on \mathbb{P}^1_K . The ramification locus of B consists of a finite collection of points on \mathbb{P}^1_K . It suffices to make a degree ℓ extension L/K(t) to split the ramification. Taking the normalization of \mathbb{P}^1_K in L, one obtains a curve C/K which possibly has genus g > 1. Thus all Brauer class in B are unramified with respect to the valuations trivial on K on this curve C/K. One has a "Fadeev like" exact sequence (see Theorem 2.4.31) for C/K, but the first map need not be injective. Using the Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence, one can uniquely associate to each class α in B an element in $\mathrm{Br}(K) \oplus \mathrm{H}^1(K,\mathrm{Pic}^0(C))$. There are known bounds for indices of principal homogenous spaces under Jacobian varieties over certain fields K (see [Clark]), but they depend on the genus of C, which in turn depends upon the number of places

where B is ramified. This is far from optimal. For the same reason, this strategy does not work for computing the Brauer dimension of function fields of curves over number fields.

Splitting ramification with respect to valuations trivial on the field of constants is thus clearly not enough. On the other hand, if we also split ramification with respect to valuations coming from the parameter of R (recall Notation 1 from Section 3.1), we might hope that this should make it simpler to split the Brauer classes further. In other words, we should split the ramification on a two dimensional model of F. Clearing out the ramification on a two dimensional model allows us to specialize the Brauer classes on the special fiber. The function fields of curves in the special fiber are fields of lower arithmetic complexity. For example, the function field of the special fiber of $\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{Z}_p}$ is $\mathbb{F}_p(t)$ where we know what the Brauer dimension is. Saltman uses this idea to compute the Brauer dimension of function fields of p-adic curves.

5.2 Splitting Ramification

We will start by gathering some evidence which makes us more confident about the approach outlined in the previous paragraph.

Theorem 5.2.1 (Grothendieck). Let F be the function field of a curve over a p-adic field, and α be an element in Br(F) of period coprime to p. If α is unramified (see Definition 4.2.1), then $\alpha = 0$.

Proof. Let \mathscr{X} be a regular projective model of F. Let $\{X_1, \dots, X_k\}$ be the irreducible components of the special fiber \mathscr{X}_k . We may also assume that each X_i is a regular curve over the residue field k. Let $\{\eta_i, \dots, \eta_k\}$ denote the corresponding generic points, and let F_{η_i} be the completion of F at η_i . Since $\alpha \otimes F_{\eta_i}$ is unramified, by the Witt exact sequence (see Theorem 2.4.24) it follows that $\alpha \otimes F_{\eta_i}$ restricts uniquely to a Brauer class on the residue field $k(X_i)$ of F_{η_i} . Denote this restriction by α_i . Note that $k(X_i)$ is the function field of a curve over a finite field. We will show that $\alpha_i = 0$ by showing that it is unramified on the curve X_i . Let P be a closed point of X_i . Note that $\alpha \otimes F_P$

is unramified on $\widehat{R_P}$. Thus by Theorem 4.2.2, α comes from a unique Brauer class on the residue field k(P). But since k(P) is a finite field, $\alpha \otimes F_P = 0$. Let π be the parameter defining one irreducible component X_i of \mathscr{X}_k containing P. Let $F_{P,\pi}$ denote the completion of F_P at π . Note that the residue field $k(\pi)$ is the completion of $k(X_i)$. Since $\alpha \otimes F_{P,\pi} = 0$, we conclude that $\alpha_i \otimes k(\pi) = 0$. Therefore by Theorem 2.16, it follows that $\alpha_i = 0$. This also means that $\alpha \otimes F_{\eta_i} = 0$. By Proposition 4.1.3, there exists an affine open set U_i which does not meet any other irreducible component such that $\alpha \otimes F_{U_i} = 0$. Let \mathcal{P} be the complement of $\bigcup U_i$ in \mathscr{X}_k . If P is any closed point on \mathscr{X}_k we have seen above that $\alpha \otimes F_P = 0$. In particular, for every P in \mathcal{P} , $\alpha \otimes F_P = 0$. By Theorem 3.3.6, we conclude that $\alpha = 0$.

Therefore if we split the ramification of a Brauer class or even a finite collection of Brauer classes on regular two dimensional models of function fields of curves over p-adic fields, we would be done. We do that first by having a local description of the ramification locus by two functions. We first need the following lemma. This was proved by [AAIKL] to split the ramification in a controlled manner. The original idea goes back to Pirutka (See [Pir]).

Lemma 5.2.2. Let \mathscr{X} be a two dimensional regular noetherian scheme. Let D be a normal crossing divisor on \mathscr{X} . Then there exists a sequence of blowups at closed points $f:\mathscr{Y}\to\mathscr{X}$ such that $f^{-1}(D)$ can be expressed as the union of two regular, not necessarily connected divisors.

Proof. Let $\{C_1, \dots, C_n\}$ be the prime divisors in the support of D. By blowing up if necessary, we may assume that each C_i is regular. Define a graph Γ with vertices v_i corresponding to C_i ; an edge exists between two vertices v_i and v_j if C_i and C_j intersect. Since \mathscr{X} is two dimensional and D is normal crossing, no three curves C_i, C_j, C_k intersect at a point. Therefore each graph gives rise to a unique configuration of D. The partition of D into D_1 and D_2 can be translated into a coloring problem for Γ : we want to color the vertices in two different colors, say blue and green, such that no two vertices which share an edge have the same color. We could then define D_1 as the union of the divisors

corresponding to blue and D_2 as the union of divisors corresponding to green. Since no irreducible component of D_i intersect any other irreducible component, and each component is regular, both D_1 and D_2 are regular since they are the disjoint union of regular curves.

If every connected component of Γ is a tree, we can alternately color the vertices blue and green, and we are done.

Suppose that every connected component of Γ consists of only even cycles (i.e., cycles with even number of vertices), then we can alternately color each vertex blue and green and obtain a graph with no two adjacent vertices having the same color, and we are done.

Note that blowing up at an intersection of two given divisors creates a new divisor between them. That is, we obtain a new configuration of the divisors, namely the original divisors and the exceptional curve. Furthermore, the two intersecting divisors now intersect on this exceptional curve (recall that the divisor is normal-crossing). The new graph of this configuration is obtained by adding an additional vertex between the two adjacent edges.

Now suppose that there is an odd cycle in a connected component of Γ . All we do is blow up at any intersecting point and introduce an additional vertex. If we do this process whenever we have an odd cycle, the new graph obtained in this manner will only have even cycles. Thus we can alternately color each vertex and obtain the desired coloring. Therefore there is a sequence of blowups such that $f: \mathscr{Y} \to \mathscr{X}$ such that $f^{-1}(D) = D_1 \cup D_2$, with D_1 and D_2 regular.

The authors in [AAIKL] in fact show that on any d dimensional regular scheme, one may write a divisor as a union of d regular divisors. The proof is also pretty combinatorial.

Theorem 5.2.3. Let F be the function field of a curve over a p-adic field. Let B be a finite subset in $_{\ell}\operatorname{Br}(F)$. Suppose that $\ell \neq p$, then there exists a field extension L/F of degree ℓ^2 such that $\alpha \otimes L$ is unramified on every regular model of L for every α in B.

Proof. Let \mathscr{X} be a regular projective model of F. Using Theorem 4.1.2, we may assume that $\operatorname{Ram}(B)$ is a normal crossing divisor. Using Lemma 5.2.2, after replacing \mathscr{X} by another regular model, we may express $\operatorname{Ram}(B)$ as a union of two regular divisors D_1 and D_2 . We will abusively denote this new model of F by \mathscr{X} . Let \mathscr{P} be the set of points on every irreducible component of $\operatorname{Ram}(B)$ including the intersection points of D_1 and D_2 . Since \mathscr{X} is quasi-projective, there exists an affine open set U containing P. Let P be the ring obtained by semi-localizing P at the points in P. Since P is a semi-local ring, $\operatorname{Pic}(A)$ is trivial. This means that there exists an P in P such that $\operatorname{div}_{P}(P_1) = P_1 + P_2 + P_3$ where P is a divisor that does not pass through any intersection points of P and P by the same argument as above, we may find P in P such that $\operatorname{div}_{\mathscr{X}}(P_1) = P_1 + P_2$ and P is a unit at closed points in $\operatorname{Supp}(D_2) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(E)$. Using the Chinese Remainder Theorem, we may also assume that P is not an P power in P power in P for every P in $\operatorname{Supp}(D_2) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(E)$.

We claim that $L = F(\sqrt[\ell]{f_1}, \sqrt[\ell]{f_2})$ splits the ramification of B. Let v be a discrete valuation of L, and w be the restriction of v to F. Since $\mathscr{X}/\operatorname{Spec} R$ is proper, w has a unique center x on \mathscr{X} . Note that since $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},x}$ dominates R_w , for every height one prime ideal \mathfrak{p} of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},x}$, we have the following containments of residue fields: $k(\mathfrak{p}) \subset k(w) \subset k(v)$. Therefore we have the following two commutative squares by (2.15):

$$H^{2}(F, \mu_{\ell}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\mathfrak{p}}} H^{1}(k(\mathfrak{p}), \mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z})$$

$$\downarrow^{Id} \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$H^{2}(F, \mu_{\ell}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{w}} H^{1}(k(w), \mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z})$$

$$\downarrow^{res_{L/F}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$H^{2}(L, \mu_{\ell}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{v}} H^{1}(k(v), \mathbb{Z}/\ell\mathbb{Z}).$$

If x lies on a codimension one point of either D_1 or D_2 , or is a codimension two point, lying on $\operatorname{Supp}(D_1) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(F)$, $\operatorname{Supp}(D_2) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(F)$ or $\operatorname{Supp}(D_1) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(E)$, we may express α as $\alpha = \alpha_0 + (u, f_i)$, where i lies in $\{1, 2\}$, and α_0 is unramified. Note that by the two commutative squares above, $\partial_v(\alpha \otimes L) = \partial_v(\alpha_0 \otimes L) = \partial_p(\alpha_0) \otimes k(v) = 0$.

If x is a codimension two point lying on the intersection of D_1 and D_2 , then by Theorem 4.2.2, we may write α as $\alpha = \alpha_0 + (u, f_2) + (u, f_1/f_2) + s(f_2, f_1/f_2)$, where α_0 is unramified

on $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},x}$ and s is some integer. Again we see that $\alpha \otimes L = \alpha_0 \otimes L$. By the two commutative squares, $\alpha \otimes L$ splits the ramification of α .

The only remaining case is when x lies on $\operatorname{Supp}(D_2) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(E)$. We may express α as $\alpha = \alpha_0 + (u, \pi_2)$, where α_0 is unramified on $O_{\mathscr{X},x}$ and π_2 is a local parameter of D_2 . On $O_{\mathscr{X},x}$, we may write $f_1 = \lambda \pi_2 \delta$, where λ is a unit and δ is a local parameter for E. We may therefore rewrite α as $\alpha = \alpha_0 - (u, \delta) + (u, f_1)$ for some unramified class α_0 and a unit u. Restricting to $K = F(\sqrt[\ell]{f_1})$, $\alpha \otimes K = \alpha_0 \otimes K + (u, \delta)$. Note that $\partial_v(\alpha \otimes L) = \bar{u}^{v(\delta)}$, where \bar{u} is an ℓ^{th} power class in the residue field k(v).

Let $\mathscr{Y} \to \mathscr{X}$ be the normalization of \mathscr{X} in L, and let y be the center of v on \mathscr{Y} . Note first that k(x) is a finite field since x is a closed point. Second, the residue field extension of k(y)/k(x) contains a degree ℓ extension. Thus, every element in k(x) becomes an ℓ^{th} power in k(y). In particular, \bar{u} in k(x) becomes an ℓ^{th} power in k(y). Since $k(y) \subset k(v)$, \bar{u} is an ℓ^{th} power in k(v). Thus, $\partial_v(\alpha \otimes L) = 0$. Therefore, L/F splits the ramification of α for every α in B.

As a corollary, we obtain Saltman's result on the Brauer dimension of F a function field of a p-adic curve. In fact, we can also show that $\mathrm{GBrd}_{\ell}(F) \leq \ell^2$ for $\ell \neq p$.

Corollary 5.2.4. Let F be the function field of a curve over a p-adic field. Suppose that ℓ is a prime, not equal to p. Then, we have

$$\mathrm{GBrd}_\ell(F) \leq \ell^2.$$

Proof. Let B be a finite subset of ${}_{\ell}\operatorname{Br}(F)$. By Theorem 5.2.3, there exists a field extension L/F of degree ${}^{\ell}$ which splits the ramification of B. Therefore by Theorem 5.2.1, $\alpha \otimes L = 0$ for every α in B.

Notice that in the proof of Theorem 5.2.3, we have used that \mathscr{X} is a model of a p-adic curve only in the last paragraph. That is the only place where we use the arithmetic of \mathbb{Z}_p . We use that fact that the residue fields of closed points are finite fields. This suggests that there should be another way to split ramification of Brauer classes, on a regular surface. Just as in the proof of Theorem 5.2.3, if we are able to locally describe

the ramification divisor by combination of two functions, we should be able to split the ramification by extracting ℓ^{th} roots. While this may not be enough to split Brauer classes on semi-global fields, we expect that splitting their ramification should make it easier to split them.

Theorem 5.2.5. Let F be a semi-global field. Let B be a finite subset of Brauer class in ℓ Br(F). If $\ell \neq 2$, there exists a field extension L/F of degree ℓ^2 such that $\alpha \otimes L$ is unramified with respect to every discrete valuation of L for every α in B. If $\ell = 2$, then there exists a degree 8 field extension L/F such that $\alpha \otimes L$ is unramified with respect to every discrete valuation of L, for every α in B.

Proof. We claim that it suffices to assume that $\mu_{\ell} \subset F$. Suppose that F does not contain μ_{ℓ} . Let $K := F(\mu_{\ell})$. Let v be a non-trivial discrete valuation of K and let w := v|F. Note that since the degree of K/F is coprime to ℓ , the ramification index $e_{w/v}$ and the degree of the residue field extension $f_{w/v}$ are coprime to ℓ . Let α be in B. By the commutative diagram (2.15), notice that $\partial_w(\alpha \otimes K) = 0$ if $\partial_v(\alpha) = 0$. If $\partial_w(\alpha \otimes K) = 0$, then $e_{w/v}Res_{k(w)/k(v)}(\partial_v(\alpha)) = 0$. Since $e_{w/v}$ is coprime to ℓ , $Res_{k(w)/k(v)}(\partial_v(\alpha)) = 0$. Since the residue field extension has degree coprime to ℓ , a standard restriction-corestriction argument shows that $\partial_v(\alpha) = 0$. Thus we may assume that F contains a primitive ℓ^{th} root of unity.

Let \mathscr{X} be a regular projective model of F. Using Theorem 4.1.2, we may assume that Ram(B) is a normal crossing divisor on \mathscr{X} . Lemma 5.2.2 further allows us to assume that Ram(B) can be written as a union of two regular, not necessarily connected divisors, D_1 and D_2 . Let \mathcal{P} be a finite set of points on each irreducible component of $D_1 \cup D_2$, including the intersection points of D_1 and D_2 . Since \mathscr{X} is quasi-projective, one may find an affine open set U containing all the points in \mathcal{P} . Let A be the semi-local ring obtained by semi-localizing U at the points in \mathcal{P} . Note that Pic(A) is trivial.

We will first consider the case $\ell \neq 2$. Consider the divisors $\widetilde{D_1} = D_1 + 2D_2$ and $\widetilde{D_2} = D_1 + D_2$ on Spec A. Since $\operatorname{Pic}(A)$ is trivial, there exists a rational function f_1 such that $\operatorname{div}_A(f_1) = D_1 + 2D_2$. Therefore on \mathscr{X} , $\operatorname{div}_{\mathscr{X}}(f_1) = D_1 + 2D_2 + E$ where E does not pass

through any points in $\mathcal{P} := \operatorname{Supp}(D_1) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(D_2)$. Let \mathcal{P}_1 be the points of intersection of $\operatorname{Supp}(E)$ with $\operatorname{Supp}(D_1) \cup \operatorname{Supp}(D_2)$. Let A' be the semi-local ring at the points $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{P}_1$. Consider the rational function f_2 such that $\operatorname{div}_{A'}(f_2) = D_1 + D_2$. Therefore on \mathscr{X} , $\operatorname{div}_{\mathscr{X}}(f_2) = D_1 + D_2 + G$ where G does not pass through any points in $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{P}_1$.

Consider the field extension $L = F(\sqrt[\ell]{f_1}, \sqrt[\ell]{f_2})$. We claim that L/F splits the ramification of B. Let v be a divisorial discrete valuation of L. Let x be the unique center of v on \mathscr{X} . We may assume that x lies on the ramification divisor of B. Let α be any non-trivial element in B. Just as in the proof of Theorem 5.2.3, it suffices to show that the residue of α at each height one prime ideal of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},x}$ is split by L.

If x is a codimension one point lying on any of the $\operatorname{Supp}(D_i)$, or a codimension two point on $\operatorname{Supp}(D_2) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(E)$, $\operatorname{Supp}(D_1) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(E)$ or $\operatorname{Supp}(D_1) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(G)$, then we may express $\alpha = \alpha_0 + (u, f_i)$, where α_0 is unramified on $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X},x}$ and u is a unit in $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X},x}$. The subextension $F(\sqrt[\ell]{f_i})$ is totally ramified on the ramification locus of α in $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X},x}$. Therefore, we see that $\partial_v(\alpha \otimes L) = 0$. Thus a degree ℓ^2 extension splits the ramification of B.

If x lies on $\operatorname{Supp}(D_1) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(D_2)$, then the equation for D_1 on $O_{\mathcal{X},x}$ is given by f_2^2/f_1 , and for D_2 is given by f_1/f_2 . Since $L = F(\sqrt[\ell]{f_2^2/f_1}, \sqrt[\ell]{f_1/f_2})$ is totally ramified at the local parameters for D_1 and D_2 on $O_{\mathcal{X},x}$, we are done. Finally, if x lies on $\operatorname{Supp}(D_2) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(G)$, the local equation for $2D_2$ is given by f_1 . But because $\ell \neq 2$, the local parameter for D_2 is totally ramified in the extension $F(\sqrt[\ell]{f_1})$. Therefore $\alpha \otimes L$ is unramified.

For the prime $\ell = 2$: consider three functions f_1 , f_2 and f_3 chosen as in the case for $l \neq 2$ such that $\operatorname{div}_{\mathscr{X}}(f_1) = D_1 + D_2 + E$, $\operatorname{div}_{\mathscr{X}}(f_2) = D_1 + G$ and $\operatorname{div}_{\mathscr{X}}(f_3) = D_2 + H$ where the support of no three divisors among D_1 , D_2 , E, G and H intersect. Just as before, we show that the possible local parameters for D_i are totally ramified by the extension $L = F(\sqrt{f_1}, \sqrt{f_2}, \sqrt{f_3})$. We will show this in one case; the rest are similar. If x lies in $\operatorname{Supp}(D_1) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(D_2)$, the local equations for D_1 and D_2 are given by f_2 and f_3 . Thus, the subextension $F(\sqrt{f_2}, \sqrt{f_3})$ splits the ramification. Thus a degree 8 extension splits the ramification of B.

In particular, if B is a finite subset in ℓ Br(F) for a semi-global field F, then we can split the ramification of B my either making a degree ℓ^2 extension or a degree 8 extension.

5.3 Generalized Brauer Dimension Of Semi-global Fields

Now that we can split the ramification of an arbitrary finite collection B of Brauer classes in a controlled manner, we are one step closer to give a uniform upper-bound for ind(B). Observe that we can specialize the classes in B on the special fiber and split them, at least generically on the special fiber. We can then make extensions locally to split the Brauer classes on every component of the special fiber. The following lemma allows us to construct a global extension inducing the local extensions.

Lemma 5.3.1. In the situation of Notation 1 (see Section 3.1), let F be a semi-global field, and let $\mathscr{X}/\operatorname{Spec}(R)$ be a regular model of F. Let $\{X_1, \dots, X_n\}$ be the irreducible components of the special fiber, and let η_i denote the generic points of X_i , and let F_{η_i} be the completion of F at the discrete valuation given by η_i . Suppose that L_{η_i}/F_{η_i} are separable field extensions of degree d. Then there exists a field extension L/F of degree d such that $L \otimes_F F_{\eta_i} \cong L_{\eta_i}$.

Proof. Since L_{η_i}/F_{η_i} are separable, $L_{\eta_i} \cong F_{\eta_i}[x]/\langle f_{\eta_i}(x) \rangle$. By weak approximation we may find a polynomial f(x) in F[x] sufficiently close to $f_{\eta_i}(x)$. Therefore by Krasner's Lemma, we have $L_{\eta_i} \cong F[x]/\langle f(x) \rangle \otimes_F F_{\eta_i}$. Let $L := F[x]/\langle f(x) \rangle$. Thus we see that $L \otimes_F F_{\eta_i} \cong L_{\eta_i}$.

There is another issue of splitting B on a finite set of points on \mathcal{X}_k . Since B is unramified, we can specialize the classes in B on closed points and split them there. But we need to build a global extension out of these extensions. The following lemma allows us to do just that:

Lemma 5.3.2. Let $\mathscr{X}/\operatorname{Spec}(R)$ be a normal projective model of F. Let \mathcal{P} be a finite non empty set of closed points on the special fibre X of \mathcal{X} which includes points where irreducible component of X meet. For each point P in \mathcal{P} , let l(P)/k(P) be a degree d separable extension of the residue field k(P). For each P in \mathcal{P} , let L_P/F_P be the

unramified lift of l(P)/k(P). There exists a field extension L/F of degree d such that $L \otimes_F F_P \cong L_P$.

Proof. Let P be in \mathcal{P} and \wp be a branch incident at P. We will denote the ring of integers of F_{\wp} by \widehat{R}_{\wp} for every branch \wp . Observe that $L_P \otimes_{F_P} F_{\wp} \cong \prod_i L_{\wp_i}$, where L_{\wp_i}/F_{\wp} are finite field extensions of F_{\wp} . Since L_P/F_P is unramified, so are L_{\wp_i}/F_{\wp} for every i. Let $l(\wp_i)/k(\wp)$ be the corresponding residue field extensions. Set $l(\wp) := \prod_i l(\wp_i)$ and $L_{\wp} := \prod L_{\wp_i}$. Thus we have that $L_P \otimes_{F_P} F_{\wp} \cong L_{\wp}$.

Now to obtain an extension L/F, we need to construct a separable algebra L_V/F_U for suitable open sets U such that $L_V \otimes_{F_U} F_{\wp} \cong L_P \otimes_{F_P} F_{\wp}$ for every triple (P, U, \wp) .

Let \mathcal{U} be the set of irreducible components of the the complement of \mathcal{P} on the special fiber. For each U in \mathcal{U} , let \mathcal{B}_U denote the set of branches lying on U. Note that the function field k(U) is dense in $\prod_{\wp \in \mathcal{B}_U} k(\wp)$ for every \wp in \mathcal{B}_U . Using Krasner's Lemma and weak approximation, there exists a separable algebra $l_U/k(U)$ such that $l_U \otimes_{k(U)} k(\wp) \cong l(\wp)$ for every branch \wp in \mathcal{B}_U .

Let $V \to U$ be the normalization of U in l_U . After shrinking U if necessary, we may assume that the map is étale. Abusing notation, we write U for this new open set. Let $\mathcal{P} \cup \mathcal{P}_1$ be the complement of these new open sets on the special fiber \mathscr{X}_k . By Theorem 3.1.4, we may uniquely lift $V \to U$ to get an étale algebra $\widehat{S_V}/\widehat{R_U}$. Note that $\widehat{S_V}$ is a product of domains. Let L_V be the product of their fraction fields. We claim that $L_V \otimes F_{\wp} \cong L_{\wp}$ for each triple (U, P, \wp) , such that \wp is a branch incident at P, lying on U and P lies in \overline{U} .

For every branch \wp incident at P in \mathcal{P} , we have the following sequence of isomorphisms:

$$\widehat{S_V} \otimes_{\widehat{R_U}} \widehat{R_{\wp}} \otimes_{\widehat{R_{\wp}}} \widehat{R_{\wp}} / \wp \cong \widehat{S_V} \otimes_{\widehat{R_U}} \widehat{R_U} \otimes_{\widehat{R_U}} k(\wp)
\cong \widehat{S_V} \otimes_{\widehat{R_U}} k(U) \otimes_{k(U)} k(\wp)
\cong l_U \otimes_{k(U)} k(\wp)
\cong l(\wp).$$

Let \widehat{S}_{\wp} be the integral closure of \widehat{R}_{\wp} in L_{\wp} . Thus the \widehat{R}_{\wp} -algebras, \widehat{S}_{\wp} and $\widehat{S}_{V} \otimes_{\widehat{R}_{U}} \widehat{R}_{\wp}$,

induce the same algebra over the residue field $k(\wp)$. By Theorem 3.1.3, there is an equivalence of categories between étale algebras over $\widehat{R_\wp}$ and étale algebras over the residue field $k(\wp)$. Thus we have that $\widehat{S_V} \otimes_{\widehat{R_U}} \widehat{R_\wp} \cong \widehat{S_\wp}$ and also $L_V \otimes_{F_U} F_\wp \cong L_\wp$.

The algebras L_V/F_U induce algebras of the same dimension on the branches incident at the points in \mathcal{P}_1 . Using weak approximation again, there exist compatible algebras at all the closed points in \mathcal{P}_1 . All this patches together to give an algebra L/F such that $L \otimes_F F_P \cong L_P$. Since L_P/F_P is a field extension of degree d, so is L/F.

In general, it is not true that if L_P/F_P are finite degree field extensions of the same degree at a finite collection of closed points P, then they induce a global extension L/F. When L_P/F_P is ramified on one branch incident on P and not the other, one can show that such a global L/F does not exist (see [HHKPS, Remark 2.7(b)]). The authors in [HHKPS] show that general local extensions L_P/F_P at closed points indeed induce a global extension L/F, but only when the points P are unibranched. The fact that L_P/F_P are unramified extensions in Lemma 5.3.2 allows us to drop the hypothesis that the points P are unibranched.

We are finally in a position to prove our main theorem.

Theorem 5.3.3. Let F be a semi-global field with residue field k, and ℓ be a prime not equal to char(k).

1. We have the following upper bound for the Generalized Brauer 2-dimension:

$$\operatorname{GBrd}_2(F) \le 2^3 \cdot \operatorname{GBrd}_2(k(t)) \cdot \operatorname{GBrd}_2(k).$$

2. If $\ell \neq 2$, we obtain

$$\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(F) \leq \ell^2 \cdot \operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k(t)) \cdot \operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k).$$

Proof. If $\ell \neq 2$, let K/F be a degree ℓ^2 extension that splits the ramification of B, as chosen in Theorem 5.2.5 or if $\ell = 2$, let K/F be a degree 8 extension as chosen in Proposition 5.2.5 which splits the ramification of B. Let $\mathscr X$ be a regular projective model of K with $\{X_1, \dots, X_n\}$ being the irreducible components of its special fiber.

We prove the statement in two steps. In Step 1, we show that there exists a field extension M/K of degree $\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k(t))$ with some normal model \mathscr{Y} such that B is split on all but finitely many closed points of the special fibre of \mathscr{Y} . After that, in Step 2, we construct another extension L/M of degree $\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k)$ which finally splits B.

Step 1: Let η_i be the generic points of X_i and let K_{η_i} denote the completion of K at η_i . Since B is unramified, every element α in B comes from a unique element in ℓ Br $(k(X_i))$ by Theorem 2.4.24. We will denote this element by $\alpha_{k(X_i)}$. Note that there exists a separable field extension $m_i/k(X_i)$ of degree at most $\mathrm{GBrd}_{\ell}(k(t))$ splitting $\alpha_{k(X_i)}$. We may as well assume that $m_i/k(X_i)$ has degree $\mathrm{GBrd}_{\ell}(k(t))$. Let M_i/K_{η_i} denote the unramified lifts of the extensions $m_i/k(X_i)$. By (2.15), $\alpha \otimes M_i$ is split. Thus by Lemma 5.3.1, there exists a field extension M/K of degree $\mathrm{GBrd}_{\ell}(k(t))$ such that $M \otimes_K K_{\eta_i} \cong M_i$.

Now let $f: \mathscr{Y} \to \mathscr{X}$ be the normalization of \mathscr{X} in M. In view of our choice of M/K, note that for $i = 1, \dots, n, \eta'_i := f^{-1}(\eta_i)$ are the generic points of $Y_i := f^{-1}(X_i)$, the irreducible components of the special fibre of \mathscr{Y} and M_i are the respective completions of M at η'_i . Since $\alpha \otimes M_i$ is split, by Proposition 4.1.3, there exist non-empty dense affine open subsets $U_i \subset Y_i$ which do not meet any other component and such that $\alpha \otimes M_{U_i}$ is split. Thus α is split everywhere on the special fibre, except possibly at the complement of the union of the open sets U_i .

Step 2: Let \mathcal{U} be the set of the open sets U_i from Step 1. Let \mathcal{P} be the complement of $\bigcup_i U_i$ on the special fibre Y of \mathcal{Y} . Because α is unramified on the regular local ring $\widehat{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X},f(P)}}$, by Theorem 4.2.2, it comes from a unique class on the residue field k(f(P)). Therefore, $\alpha \otimes M_P$ comes from a class on the residue field k(P) of $\widehat{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{Y},P}}$, for all points P in \mathcal{P} ; we will denote this class by $\alpha_{k(P)}$. Let l(P)/k(P) be separable field extensions of degree $\mathrm{GBrd}_{\ell}(k)$ splitting $\alpha_{k(P)}$. Let L_P/M_P be the unramified lift of l(P)/k(P). By [A-G, Corollary 6.2], $\alpha \otimes L_P$ is split. By Lemma 5.3.2, there exists a field extension L/M of degree $\mathrm{GBrd}_{\ell}(k)$ inducing l(P)/k(P).

We claim that $\alpha \otimes L$ is split. Let $g: \mathscr{Z} \to \mathscr{Y}$ be the normalization of \mathscr{Y} in L. Let \mathcal{P}' be the inverse images of the points P in \mathcal{P} under the normalization map g. Let \mathcal{U}' be the

set of irreducible components of the complement of \mathcal{P}' in the special fibre of \mathscr{Z} . Note that for each U' in \mathcal{U}' , there exists some U_i in \mathcal{U} such that $M_{U_i} \subset L_{U'}$. Since $\alpha \otimes M_{U_i}$ is split, so is $\alpha \otimes L_{U'}$. Furthermore for each P' in \mathcal{P}' , $L_{P'}$ is an unramified extension of F_P for some P induced by a residue field extension l(P)/k(P) as constructed in the previous paragraph. Since l(P)/k(P) splits $\alpha \otimes k(P)$, $\alpha \otimes L_{P'}$ is split. Thus, using Theorem 3.3.6, $\alpha \otimes L$ is split for every α in B.

A standard argument as in the proof of Lemma 2.4.8 shows:

Corollary 5.3.4. Let F be a semi-global field with residue field k, and let ℓ be a prime not equal to char(k).

1. Let $m \ge 1$; we obtain the following upper bound for the Generalized Brauer 2^m -dimension:

$$\operatorname{GBrd}_{2^m}(F) \leq 8^m \cdot [\operatorname{GBrd}_2(k(t))]^m \cdot [\operatorname{GBrd}_2(k)]^m.$$

2. Let $m \ge 1$; for $\ell \ne 2$, we have

$$\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell^m}(F) \leq (\ell^2)^m \cdot [\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k(t))]^m \cdot [\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(k)]^m.$$

Proof. We show this by induction on m. We show this only for $\ell \neq 2$ since the case for $\ell = 2$ is similar. The base case, m = 1, follows from Theorem 5.3.3. Suppose that the statement holds for m-1. Let B be a finite subset of ℓ^m Br(F). We denote the subset of ℓ^m Br(F) obtained by multiplying each element in B by ℓ^{m-1} by $\ell^{m-1}B$. If L/F is a field extension, the subset of ℓ^m Br(L) obtained by restricting each element in B to the field L will be denoted by B_L . By Theorem 5.3.3, it follows that there exists a field extension L/F of degree at most ℓ^2 GBrd $\ell(k(t))$ GBrd $\ell(k)$ splitting $\ell^{m-1}B$. Thus B_L is a subset of ℓ^{m-1} Br(F). By the induction hypothesis, there exists a field extension M/L of degree at most $(\ell^2)^{m-1}$ [GBrd $\ell(k(t))$] ℓ^{m-1} [GBrd $\ell(k(t))$] ℓ^{m-1} splitting ℓ^{m-1} splitting ℓ^{m-1} Therefore it follows that the extension ℓ^{m-1} splits all elements in ℓ^{m-1} Since the degree of ℓ^{m-1} is at most ℓ^{m-1} [GBrd $\ell(k(t))$] ℓ^{m-1} [GBrd $\ell(k(t))$] ℓ^{m-1} we prove the claim.

As a corollary, we can give upper-bounds to the Generalized Brauer dimension of function fields of curves over m-local fields.

Corollary 5.3.5. Let F be the function field of a curve over an m-local field where $m \ge 1$.

1. We obtain the following upper bound for the Generalized Brauer 2-dimension:

$$\operatorname{GBrd}_2(F) \le 2^{(m^2 + 5m - 2)/2}.$$

2. For $\ell \neq 2$, we have:

$$\operatorname{GBrd}_{\ell}(F) \leq \ell^{(m^2+3m)/2}.$$

Proof. Let a_n be the Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension of function fields of curves over n-local fields. Let k be the residue field of the field of constants of F. Note that k is an (m-1)-local field. The Generalized Brauer ℓ -dimension of an (m-1) local field will be denoted by b_{m-1} . By Theorem 5.3.3, we have $a_m \leq \ell^2 a_{m-1} b_{m-1}$. Since $b_{m-1} \leq \ell b_{m-2}$, $b_{m-1} \leq \ell^{m-1}$. Therefore it follows that $a_m \leq \ell^{(m^2+3m)/2}$.

For $\ell = 2$: $a_m \le 8a_{m-1}b_{m-1} = 8a_{m-1}2^{m-1} = 2^{m+2}a_{m-1}$. Therefore, $a_m \le a_12^{(m^2+5m-6)/2}$. By Theorem 5.2.4, we have that $a_1 \le 4$. As a result, it follows that $a_m \le 2^{(m^2+5m-2)/2}$. \square

- Remark 5.3.6. 1. It is difficult to say if this is the best bound. Obtaining lower bounds for Generalized Brauer dimension is not very easy. Even when $F = \mathbb{C}(x,y)$, the only known lower bound in the period 2 situation is due to Tignol-Chapman ([C-Tig]: $GBrd_2(F) \geq 4$. It is not clear how to improve this, and their methods which use some quadratic form theory, do not seem to obviously generalize to other prime periods.
 - 2. In the mixed, bad characteristic situation, i.e., when the characteristic of the residue field k is ℓ and char(F) = 0, Parimala and Suresh in [Pa-Su3] obtain that $GBrd_{\ell}(F) \leq (\ell-1)\ell^{4d+2}$, where d is a non-negative integer such that $[k:k^{\ell}] = \ell^{d}$. In another paper, in the mixed, bad characteristic situation, they show that $Brd_{\ell}(F) \leq 2d$ (see [Pa-Su2]), i.e., we can split a single Brauer class of period ℓ by

making a field extension of degree at most ℓ^{2d} . This suggests that the bound for the Generalized Brauer dimension, even in the good characteristic case, should be a linear function of the Brauer dimension in the exponent.

5.4 Splitting Index Of Quadratic Forms

The Generalized Brauer dimension is related to other measures of complexity of the field. One of these measures come from quadratic forms, namely the *u*-invariant. The finiteness of Generalized Brauer dimension implies the finiteness of the *u*-invariant. This is not at all obvious to see. One needs the Milnor conjectures and a result of Krashen (see [Kra]) to establish this. We will freely use the Milnor conjectures, and record the observation in Theorem 5.4.16.

The other measure of complexity comes from Galois cohomology classes, namely the symbol length. Again, the finiteness of the Generalized Brauer dimension implies the finiteness of mod ℓ -symbol length. This also needs the norm residue isomorphism theorem, a highly non-trivial theorem and a theorem of Krashen proved in [Kra].

One could define another notion of dimension coming from quadratic forms, inspired by the Brauer dimension.

Definition 5.4.1. Let q/F be a quadratic form of dimension n > 1. We define the splitting index $i_s(q)$ of q to be the minimum of the degrees of field extensions [L:F] such that $q \otimes_F L$ has Witt index $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$.

The splitting dimension of a field F, $i_s(F)$ is the supremum of the i(q) as q ranges over quadratic forms over L and L/F ranges over finite degree field extensions.

Recall that any even dimensional form q/F with trivial discriminant lies in the square of the fundamental ideal I^2F in the Witt ring W(F). Thus one may write $q = \sum_i p_i$ in W(F), where each p_i is a two-fold Pfister form, up to a sign. A naïve way to obtain a bound on the splitting index $i_s(q)$ is to find an extension L/F which splits all the p_i simultaneously. Note that two-fold Pfister forms are norms of Quaternion algebras. Thus splitting all the p_i simultaneously amounts to splitting the corresponding Brauer

classes simultaneously. Therefore the Generalized Brauer 2-dimension is also related to the splitting dimension of the field.

If the u-invariant of a field is finite, there is an obvious, crude upper bound on the splitting dimension:

Proposition 5.4.2. Let F be a field with $char(F) \neq 2$. If the u-invariant of F equals N, then $i_s(F) \leq 2^{\lfloor N/2 \rfloor}$.

Proof. Let q be a non-degenerate quadratic form of dimension m. One may express

$$q = \perp_{i=1}^{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor} \langle a_i, b_i \rangle \perp \epsilon,$$

where ϵ is either the 0 form or a one dimensional form. Observe that the field extension $F(\sqrt{-a_1b_1}, \dots, \sqrt{-a_{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor}b_{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor}})$ splits q. Therefore $i_s(q) \leq 2^{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor}$. Further, since u(F) = N, any quadratic form p of dimension greater than N may be written as $p = p_{an} \perp t \mathbb{H} \perp \epsilon$, where p_{an} is the anisotropic part of p and ϵ is either a 0 form or a one dimensional form. If L/F splits p_{an} , it certainly splits p. One also sees that if L/F splits p, then by the Witt cancellation theorem, L/F splits p. Notice therefore, $i_s(p) = i_s(p_{an})$. Note also that $\dim(p_{an}) \leq N$. Thus, the splitting dimension of F is at most the splitting index of anisotropic forms of dimension N. Thus, $i_s(F) \leq 2^{\lfloor N/2 \rfloor}$

The following question was asked in the conference on Brauer groups and deformation theory in 2011 (see [AimPL]):

Question 3. Does there exist a field F with $char(F) \neq 2$ and u-invariant u(F) such that the splitting dimension

$$i_s(F) \le 2^{(u(F)/2-1)}$$
?

By Proposition 5.4.2, the inequality $i_s(F) \leq 2^{u(F)/2}$ always holds. The inequality in Question 3 is slightly better than this owing to the fact that largest anistropic Pfister forms over a field F are split by any quadratic field extension of F. One sees this being used in Proposition 5.4.9.

As an application of Theorem 5.3.5, we will show that $i_s(F)$ is considerably smaller than $2^{(u(F)-1)/2}$ when F is the function field of a curve over an m-local fields, thereby providing a somewhat non-trivial answer to the question. But before that, we record the following computation of the splitting dimension of global fields:

Proposition 5.4.3. If F is a totally imaginary number field or a global field of characteristic not equal to 2, then

$$i_s(F) = 4.$$

Proof. If F is a totally imaginary number field or a function field of a curve over a finite field, it is well known that u(F) = 4. Writing an anisotropic four dimensional quadratic form as a sum of two binary forms, we see that $i_s(F) \le 4$.

To construct a quadratic form with splitting index at least 4, we use the Albert-Brauer-Hasse-Noether theorem (see Theorem 2.4.35). Let α be a non-trivial element in $_2$ Br(F), and let v be a place where α is ramified. Construct a quadratic field extension L/F where v is totally split using Weak approximation and Krasner's lemma. By the Albert-Brauer-Hasse-Noether theorem, $\alpha \otimes L$ is non-trivial. Let p be the norm form of L/F and p_{α} be the norm form of a quaternion algebra in the class of α . Consider the quadratic form $q = p \perp p_{\alpha}$. If M/F splits q, M contains L. Since M/L splits $q \otimes L$, it splits $\alpha \otimes L$. Therefore, 2 divides [M:L]. Therefore $[M:F] \geq 4$.

We will adopt the same strategy as in the proof of Proposition 5.4.3 to give lower bounds for splitting dimension in Propositions 5.4.11 and 5.4.13.

Proposition 5.4.4. If K be a complete discretely valued field with parameter t and residue field k of characteristic not equal to 2, then $i_s(K) \leq 2i_s(k)$.

Proof. Let q/K be a quadratic form. Then $q = q_1 \perp tq_2$, where the entries of q_1 and q_2 are units in its ring of integers. Consider the ramified extension $L = K(\sqrt{t})$. The residue field of L is also k. Then $q \otimes L \cong q_1 \perp q_2$. Let m/k be a field extension of degree at most $i_s(k)$ splitting the reduction $\overline{q_1 \perp q_2}$. Let M/K be the unramified lift of the

extension m/k. By Hensel's lemma, $(q_1 \perp q_2) \otimes L$ is split by M/L. Therefore, $i_s(K)$ is at most $2i_s(k)$.

Note that the above bound is not tight. When $F = \mathbb{Q}_p$, one can show that $i_s(F) = 2$. This follows from the fact that every quaternion algebra is split by any quadratic extension. Such a phenomena only happens over 1-local fields.

Corollary 5.4.5. Let F be the function field of a curve over an n-local field. Then

$$i_s(F) \le 2^{(n^2+5n)/2}.$$

Proof. Let L/F be a finite field extension and let q/L be a quadratic form. We may assume that it is even dimensional. Let K/L be a quadratic extension splitting its discriminant. One may write $q \otimes K = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \epsilon_i \langle \langle a_i, b_i \rangle \rangle$ in the Witt group W(F) where ϵ_i is in $\{1,-1\}$. Applying Corollary 5.3.5 to the subset $B = \{(a_1,b_1), \dots, (a_n,b_n)\}$ of ${}_2Br(K)$, there exists a field extension of degree $2^{(n^2+5n-2)/2}$ splitting $q \otimes K$. Therefore, q is split by an extension of degree $2^{(n^2+5n)/2}$.

Remark 5.4.6. By Corollary 4.3.3, note that $u(F) \le 2^{n+2}$. Thus by Proposition 5.4.2, we have the following crude bound for the splitting dimension: $i_s(F) \le 2^{2^{(n+1)}}$. The bound in Corollary 5.4.5 is significantly better, and thus answers Question 3.

We will now find upper bounds for the splitting dimension for other "higher dimensional fields", namely those satisfying the hypothesis of Proposition 5.4.9. Examples of such fields include $\mathbb{Q}_p(t)$ and $\mathbb{F}_p(x,y)$. We will start by proving some useful lemmas:

Lemma 5.4.7. Let $\{\phi_1, \phi_2, \dots, \phi_n\}$ be a set of anisotropic Pfister forms over a field F. Let ϕ'_i denote their pure subforms for $i = 1, \dots, n$. For every i, ϕ_i do not share a common quadratic splitting field if and only if $\bigcap_{i=1}^n D_F(\phi'_i) = \emptyset$.

Proof. Suppose all the Pfister forms are split by $F(\sqrt{c})$. In that case (1, -c) is a subform of all the ϕ_i . In which case $-c \in \bigcap_{i=1}^n D_F(\phi_i')$. Conversely, if $c \in \bigcap_{i=1}^n D_F(\phi_i')$, all ϕ_i have (1, c) as a subform. If $c \in F^{\times 2}$, all the Pfister forms are split by $F(\sqrt{-1})$. If $c \notin F^{\times 2}$, then all ϕ_i are split by $F(\sqrt{-c})$.

Corollary 5.4.8. Let ϕ and γ be m and n-fold anisotropic Pfister forms respectively over a field F, and let ϕ' and γ' denote their pure subforms. Then ϕ and γ share a common quadratic splitting field if and only if $\gamma' \perp \langle -1 \rangle \phi'$ is isotropic.

Proof. Note that $\gamma' \perp \langle -1 \rangle \phi'$ is anisotropic if and only if $D(\gamma') \cap D(\phi') = \emptyset$. The rest follows by Lemma 5.4.7.

Proposition 5.4.9. Let F be a field with $char(F) \neq 2$. Suppose that $Brd_2(F) \leq 2$ and for every finite extension L/F, $u(L) \leq 8$. Then

$$i_s(F) \leq 8$$
.

Proof. Let q be a quadratic form over F. We may assume it is even dimensional by replacing the form by a codimension one subform if necessary. Let L/F be a quadratic extension which splits its discriminant. Thus in the Witt ring W(L), $q \otimes L$ lies in $I^2(L)$. Let $\alpha := e_2(q \otimes L)$ be its e_2 invariant. By our assumption on the index of α , it follows by Albert's theorem (see [Lam, Chapter 4, Theorem 4.8]) that $\alpha = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$, where α_i are symbols. We will abuse notation and not distinguish the norm forms of symbols (which are Pfister forms) and the symbols themselves. Suppose that M/L is quadratic extension splitting α_1 . Thus, $q \otimes M - \alpha_2$ lies in $I^3(M)$. Thus $q \otimes M = \alpha_2 + \beta$, where β lies in $I^3(M)$. Because $u(M) \leq 8$, β is similar to a three-fold Pfister form by the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz (see, for example [Lam, Theorem 5.6]). By Corollary 5.4.8, there is a quadratic extension K/M splitting α_2 and β simultaneously. Thus M/F splits q and its degree is 8.

- Remark 5.4.10. 1. In view of results of Saltman [Salt] on period-index bounds for p-adic curves, and of Parimala and Suresh [Pa-Su1] on the u-invariant, the splitting dimension of function fields of curves over p-adic fields is at most 8.
 - 2. The splitting dimension of function fields of surfaces over finite fields such as $\mathbb{F}_p(x,y)$, and that of fraction fields of complete two dimensional regular local rings with finite residue field, for example $\mathbb{F}_p((x,y))$, is also 8. Note that such fields satisfy the C_3 property (see Theorem 2.4.10 and Theorem 2.4.11). Therefore the

u-invariant of these fields is at most 8. The period-index bound for surfaces over finite fields was proved by Lieblich [Lie].

For function fields of varieties over an algebraically closed fields, and function fields of curves over complete discretely valued fields, we record the following lower-bounds in Proposition 5.4.11 and Proposition 5.4.13 respectively.

Proposition 5.4.11. If F is the function field of a smooth d-dimensional variety over an algebraically closed field K of characteristic zero, then $i_s(F) \ge 2^d$.

Proof. We first show that there exists a Brauer class α over F of index 2^{d-1} and a quadratic extension L/F such that $ind(\alpha \otimes L) = 2^{d-1}$. Let p be the norm form of L/F and p_{α} be a form with Clifford invariant α . Then $q = p \perp p_{\alpha}$ has spitting index at least 2^{d} .

We construct the class and the field extension by induction on the dimension. The base case d = 1 follows from the fact that all Brauer classes on function fields of curves over algebraically closed fields are trivial.

Let X/K be a smooth affine variety of dimension k, and let $Y \hookrightarrow X$ be a smooth codimension 1 subvariety given by π , obtained by shrinking X and Y if necessary. By the induction hypothesis, there exists α_0 in ${}_2\mathrm{Br}(K(Y))$ of index 2^{k-2} and an extension $L := K(Y)(\sqrt{u})$ such that $ind(\alpha_0 \otimes L) = 2^{k-2}$. Suppose that Y is given by the function π in K[X], and let F_{π} denote the completion of K(X) at π . The residue field of F_{π} is K(Y). Consider the class $\alpha = \alpha_0 + (u, \pi)$ in $\mathrm{Br}(F_{\pi})$. This class descends to $\mathrm{Br}(F)$. By Proposition 2.4.28, $ind(\alpha \otimes F_{\pi}) = 2ind(\alpha_0 \otimes F_{\pi}(\sqrt{u})) = 2ind(\alpha_0 \otimes L) = 2^{k-1}$. Note also that the extension, $F(\sqrt{\pi+1})/F$ splits in F_{π} . Thus, $ind(\alpha \otimes F(\sqrt{\pi+1})) = 2^{k-1}$.

Remark 5.4.12. As an explicit example, consider the quadratic form over $\mathbb{C}(x,y,z)$:

$$q = \langle x, y, xy, -(y+1), -z, z(y+1) \rangle \perp \langle 1, -(z+1) \rangle.$$

One can check that q cannot be split by an extension of degree less than 8.

Proposition 5.4.13. Let F be the function field of a curve over a complete discretely valued field. If the Brauer 2-dimension of F is n, then

$$i_s(F) \ge 2^{n+1}$$
.

Proof. Let α be in $_2$ Br(F) such that $ind(\alpha) = 2^n$. By Merkurjev's theorem (see 2.5.9), there is a quadratic form p_{α} of trivial discriminant such that $e_2(p_{\alpha}) = \alpha$. By Theorem 4.2.6, there exists a non-trivial discrete valuation v such that $ind(\alpha \otimes F_v) = 2^n$. Let L/F be a quadratic extension which is split over v. Let p be the norm form of L/F. Then $q = p \perp p_{\alpha}$ is our required quadratic form. To split the discriminant of q, we need to make the extension L/F. Since L is split at v, $ind(\alpha \otimes L_v) = 2^n$.

We will now establish a relationship between three arithmetic invariants of fields: the Generalized Brauer 2-dimension, mod-2 symbol length and the *u*-invariant. First, note that if the Generalized Brauer dimension of a field is finite, then using the norm residue isomorphism theorem, it follows that there is a uniform bound on the index of mod-2 Galois cohomology classes. A theorem proved in [Kra] implies that the mod-2 symbol length is finite. As a result, one can show that the *u*-invariant is also finite. Therefore the finiteness of the Generalized Brauer 2-dimension implies the finiteness of symbol length and the finiteness of the *u*-invariant. We will start by recalling the Milnor conjecture, which was proved in 2007 by Orlov-Vishik-Voevodsky in [OVV]. This is an example of one of the many theorems in mathematics, which are easy to state and difficult to prove

Theorem 5.4.14 (Orlov-Vishik-Voevodsky). Let F be a field with $char(F) \neq 2$. Then, we have the following isomorphisms of graded rings which sends the class $\bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} \langle 1, -a_i \rangle \mod I^{n+1} F$ to the cup-product $(a_1) \cup \cdots \cup (a_n)$.

$$\bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{I^n F}{I^{n+1} F} \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}).$$

Therefore, every element ζ in $H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$ can be expressed as

$$\zeta = \sum_{i=1}^{m} (a_{i1}) \cup \dots \cup (a_{in}). \tag{5.1}$$

Definition 5.4.15. An element ζ in $H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$ of the form $\zeta = (a_1) \cup \cdots \cup (a_n)$ is called a *symbol*.

Let ζ be an element in $H^n(F, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$. We define the *symbol length* of ζ , denoted by $\lambda(\zeta)$, to be the minimum positive integer m such that ζ can be expressed as sum of m symbols as in (5.1).

We define the mod-2, n-symbol length of F, denoted by $\lambda_2^n(F)$, to be the supremum of $\lambda(\zeta)$ as ζ varies over $H^n(L, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$, and L/F varies over finite field extensions.

We will end by proving a relationship between Generalized Brauer dimension, u-invariant and symbol length.

Theorem 5.4.16. Let F be a field of characteristic not equal to 2. Suppose that the 2-cohomological dimension $\operatorname{cd}_2(F)$ is finite. Consider the following statements:

- 1. $GBrd_2(F)$ is finite;
- 2. For every $n \ge 1$, $\lambda_2^n(F)$ is finite;
- 3. For every finite degree field extension L/F, u(L) is finite.

Then
$$(1) \Longrightarrow (2) \Longrightarrow (3)$$
.

Proof. For (1) \Longrightarrow (2): Let L/F be a finite field extension. Recall that by Example 2.3.4, we have the isomorphism $H^1(L, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} L^\times/(L^\times)^2$. Thus every element ζ in $H^1(L, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$ is a square class in L. Therefore, $\lambda_2^1(F) = 1$. Now consider the element ζ in $H^n(L, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$ for $n \geq 2$. By Theorem 5.4.14, we may write ζ as $\zeta = \sum_{i=1}^m \beta_i \cup \gamma_i$, where β_i are elements in ${}_2\operatorname{Br}(L)$ and γ_i lie in $H^{n-2}(L, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$. Consider $B = \{\beta_1, \dots, \beta_m\} \subset {}_2\operatorname{Br}(L)$. Since, $\operatorname{GBrd}_2(F)$ is finite, $\operatorname{ind}(B)$ is finite. Therefore, there exists a finite degree field extension M/L such that $\zeta \otimes L = 0$ for every ζ in $H^n(L, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$. Finally, by [Kra, Theorem 4.2], it follows that $\lambda_2^n(F)$ is finite.

For (2) \Longrightarrow (3): Let L/F be a finite field extension. Since $\operatorname{cd}_2(F) < \infty$, there exists some M such that $\operatorname{H}^M(L, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) = 0$. By Theorem 5.4.14, $I^M(L) = I^{M+1}(L)$. By the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz (see [Lam, Corollary 5.2]), it follows that $I^M(L) = 0$. Let N

be the smallest positive integer such that $I^N(L)=0$. Let q/L be an even dimensional, anisotropic form. Recall that q lies in the fundamental ideal I(L). Let d be the discriminant of q. Note that the form $q-\langle 1,-d\rangle$ has trivial discriminant, and hence lies in $I^2(L)$. Since $I^2(L)$ is additively generated by 2-fold Pfister forms, modulo $I^3(L)$, $q-\langle 1,-d\rangle$ is a sum of 2-fold Pfister forms up to signs, i.e., $q-\langle 1,-d\rangle=\sum_{i=1}^{k_2}\epsilon_i\pi_2^{(i)}$ up to $I^3(L)$, where $k_2=\lambda_2^2(F)$, and $\pi_2^{(i)}$ are 2-fold Pfister forms, and ϵ_i is in $\{-1,1\}$. Continuing in this fashion, we have

$$q = \langle 1, -d \rangle + \sum_{i=1}^{k_2} \epsilon_2^{(i)} \pi_2^{(i)} + \dots + \sum_{i=1}^{k_{N-1}} \epsilon_{N-1}^{(i)} \pi_{N-1}^{(i)},$$

where $\pi_i^{(j)}$ are *i*-fold Pfister forms, $k_2 = \lambda_2^i(F)$, and $\epsilon_i^{(j)}$ lies in $\{-1,1\}$. We will denote the quadratic form on the right hand side by p. Since q is anisotropic, we have $q \perp n\mathbb{H} = p$, for some n. Therefore, $\dim(q) \leq \dim(p)$. Since $\dim(p)$ is expressible in terms of the constants k_1, \dots, k_{N-1} and N, we see that the dimension of every even dimensional anisotropic form is bounded. Therefore, u(L) is finite for every finite field extension L/F.

References

- [AAIKL] Asher Auel, Benjamin Antieau, Colin Ingalls, Daniel Krashen, Max Lieblich. Period-index bounds for arithmetic threefolds. Invent. Math. 216 (2019), no. 2, 301-335.
- [AimPL] Deformation theory and the Brauer group. Available at http://aimpl.org/deformationbrauer 2011.
- [A-G] Maurice Auslander, Oscar Goldman. The Brauer group of a commutative ring Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 97 (1960), 367-409.
- [C-Tig] Adam Chapman, Jean-Pierre Tignol. Linkage of Pfister forms over $\mathbb{C}(x_1, \dots, x_n)$. Ann. K-Theory 4 (2019), no. 3, 521-524.
- [Clark] Pete L. Clark. The period-index problem in WC-groups IV: a local transition theorem. J. Théor. Nombres Bordeaux 22 (2010), no. 3, 583-606.
- [CT] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène. Birational invariants, purity and the Gersten conjecture. K-theory and algebraic geometry: connections with quadratic forms and division algebras (Santa Barbara, CA, 1992). 1–64, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 58, Part 1, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1995.
- [CT-Par-Su] Jean-Louis Colliot-Thélène, Raman Parimala, Venapally Suresh. Patching and local-global principles for homogeneous spaces over function fields of *p*-adic curves. Comment. Math. Helv. 87 (2012), no. 4, 1011-1033.
- [dJ] A.J. de Jong The period-index problem for the Brauer group of an algebraic surface. Duke Math. J. 123 (2004), no. 1, 71-94.
- [G-S] Phillipe Gille, Tamás Szamuely. Central simple algebras and Galois cohomology. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 101. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006. xii+343 pp. ISBN: 978-0-521-86103-8; 0-521-86103-9
- [GS-S] R. Gordon-Sarney, V. Suresh. Totaro's question on zero-cycles on torsors. Duke Math. J. 167 (2018), no. 2, 385-395.
- [G] Saurabh Gosavi. Generalized period-index problem with an application to quadratic forms. Preprint available at arXiv:1910.02473 [math.RA] 2019.
- [H] David Harbater Patching in Algebra: Notes from the Luxembourg Winter School. Available at https://www.math.upenn.edu/ harbater/luxtalks.pdf. ,2012
- [HH] David Harbater, Julia Hartmann. *Patching over fields*. Israel J. Math. 176 (2010), 61-107.
- [HHK09] David Harbater, Julia Hartmann, Daniel Krashen. Applications of patching to quadratic forms and central simple algebras. Invent. Math. 178 (2009), no. 2,

- 231-263.
- [HHK15(1)] David Harbater, Julia Hartmann, Daniel Krashen. Refinements to patching and applications to field invariants. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2015), no. 20, 10399-10450.
- [HHK15] David Harbater, Julia Hartmann, Daniel Krashen. Local-Global principles for torsors over arithmetic curves. Amer. J. Math. 137 (2015), no. 6, 1559-1612.
- [HHK15(2)] David Harbater, Julia Hartmann, Daniel Krashen. *Local-global principles* for Galois cohomology. Comment. Math. Helv. 89 (2014), no. 1, 215-253.
- [HHKPS] David Harbater, Julia Hartmann, Daniel Krashen, R. Parimala, V. Suresh. Local-global Galois theory of arithmetic function fields. Israel J. Math. 232 (2019), no. 2, 849-882.
- [Hmr-Wei] Christian Haesemeyer, Charles A. Weibel *The norm residue theorem in motivic cohomology*. Annals of Mathematics Studies, 200. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2019. xiii+299 pp. ISBN: 978-0-691-19104-1; 978-0-691-18182-0
- [JJ] Jörg Jahnel. The Brauer-Severi variety associated with a central simple algebra: A survey. Linear Algebraic Groups and Related Structures Preprint Sever: https://www.math.uni-bielefeld.de/LAG/man/052.pdf
- [Kra] Daniel Krashen. Period and index, symbol lengths, and generic splittings in Galois cohomology. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 48 (2016), no. 6, 985-1000.
- [KMRT] Max-Albert Knus, Alexander Merkurjev, Markus Rost, Jean-Pierre Tignol. The book of involutions. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, 44. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1998. xxii+593 pp. ISBN: 0-8218-0904-0.
- [Lam] T. Y. Lam. Introduction to quadratic forms over fields. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 67. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2005. xxii+550 pp. ISBN: 0-8218-1095-2.
- [Lang] Serge Lang. On quasi algebraic closure. Ann. of Math. (2) 55 (1952), 373?390.
- [Leep] David B. Leep. The u-invariant of p-adic function fields. J. Reine Angew. Math. 679 (2013), 65?73.
- [Lie] Max Lieblich. The period-index problem for fields of transcendence degree 2. Ann. of Math. (2) 182 (2015), no. 2, 391-427.
- [Lie1] Max Lieblich. Period and index in the Brauer group of an arithmetic surface. (English summary) With an appendix by Daniel Krashen. J. Reine Angew. Math. 659 (2011), 1-41.
- [Liu] Qing Liu. Algebraic geometry and arithmetic curves. Translated from the French by Reinie Erne. Oxford Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 6. Oxford Science Publications. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002. xvi+576 pp. ISBN: 0-19-850284-2.

- [Me-Sus] A. S. Merkur'ev and A. A. Suslin *K-cohomology of Severi-Brauer varieties* and the norm residue homomorphism. (Russian) Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 46 (1982), no. 5, 1011-1046, 1135-1136.
- [Milne] James S. Milne. Étale cohomology. Princeton Mathematical Series, 33. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1980. xiii+323 pp. ISBN: 0-691-08238-3.
- [OVV] D. Orlov, A. Vishik and V. Voevodsky. An exact sequence for $K_*^M/2$ with applications to quadratic forms. Ann. of Math. (2) 165 (2007), no. 1, 1-13.
- [Pa-Su1] R. Parimala, V. Suresh. The u-invariant of the function fields of p-adic curves. Ann. of Math. (2) 172 (2010), no. 2, 1391-1405.
- [Pa-Su2] R. Parimala, V. Suresh. Period-index and u-invariant questions for function fields over complete discretely valued fields. Invent. Math. 197 (2014), no. 1, 215-235.
- [Pa-Su3] R. Parimala, V. Suresh. On the u-invariant of function fields of curves over complete discretely valued fields. Adv. Math. 280 (2015), 729-742.
- [Pierce] Richard S. Pierce. Associative algebras.. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 88. Studies in the History of Modern Science, 9. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1982. xii+436 pp. ISBN: 0-387-90693-2.
- [Pir] Alena Pirutka. A bound to kill the ramification over function fields. J. Algebra 377 (2013), 173-178.
- [Re-Su] B. Surendranath Reddy, V. Suresh. Admissibility of groups over function fields of p-adic curves. Adv. Math. 237 (2013), 316-330.
- [Roq] Peter Roquette. The Brauer-Hasse-Noether theorem in historical perspective. Schriften der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Klasse der Heidelberger Akademie der Wissenschaften [Publications of the Mathematics and Natural Sciences Section of Heidelberg Academy of Sciences], 15. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2005. vi+92 pp. ISBN: 3-540-23005-X
- [Salt] David J. Saltman. Division algebras over p-adic curves. J. Ramanujan Math. Soc. 12 (1997), no. 1, 25-47.
- [Salt2] David J. Saltman. Division algebras over surfaces. J. Algebra 320 (2008), no. 4, 1543-1585.
- [Serre1] Jean-Pierre Serre. Local Fields. Translated from the French by Marvin Jay Greenberg. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 67. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1979. viii+241 pp. ISBN: 0-387-90424-7.
- [Serre2] Jean-Pierre Serre. *Galois cohomology*. Translated from the French by Patrick Ion and revised by the author. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997. x+210 pp. ISBN: 3-540-61990-9.
- [Sp] T. A. Springer. Linear algebraic groups. Reprint of the 1998 second edition. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2009. xvi+334 pp. ISBN: 978-0-8176-4839-8

- [Su] V. Suresh. Third Galois cohomology group of function fields of curves over number fields. Preprint available at arXiv:1706.03089 [math.NT], 2017
- [Tot] Burt Totaro. Splitting fields for E_8 -torsors. Duke Math. J. 121 (2004), no. 3, 425-455.